
 

 
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
GWŶS I GYFARFOD O'R CYNGOR 
 
C.Hanagan  
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf  
Y Pafiliynau  
Parc Hen Lofa'r Cambrian  
Cwm Clydach, CF40 2XX 
 
Dolen gyswllt: Hannah Williams - Uned Busnes y Cyngor  (07385401954)  
 
DYMA WŶS I CHI i gyfarfod rhithwir o Is-bwyllgor Y CABINET AR FATERION 
YR HINSAWDD yn cael ei gynnal ar Dydd IAU, 23AIN MAWRTH, 2023 am 
1.00 PM. 

 
Caiff Aelodau nad ydyn nhw'n aelodau o'r pwyllgor  ac aelodau o'r cyhoedd gyfrannu 
yn y cyfarfod ar faterion y cyfarfod er bydd y cais yn ôl doethineb y 
Cadeirydd. Gofynnwn i chi roi gwybod i Wasanaethau Democrataidd erbyn Dydd 
Mawrth, 21 Mawrth 2023 trwy ddefnyddio'r manylion cyswllt uchod, gan gynnwys 
rhoi gwybod a fyddwch chi'n siarad Cymraeg neu Saesneg. 
 

AGENDA  
Tudalennau 

 

1. DATGAN BUDDIANT   

 Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau yn unol â'r 
Cod Ymddygiad. 
 
Nodwch: 

1. Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr eitem mae eu 
buddiant yn ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw; a 

2. Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu 
buddiant sy'n rhagfarnu, rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r 
Cadeirydd pan fyddan nhw'n gadael. 

 

   

2. COFNODION   

 Cadarnhau'r cofnodion o gyfarfod Is-bwyllgor y Cabinet ar Faterion yr 
Hinsawdd a gynhaliwyd ar 6 Rhagfyr 2022 yn rhai cywir. 

 

  5 – 10 
 



3. CYNLLUN YMGYSYLLTU Â NEWID HINSAWDD RHONDDA CYNON 
TAF (2023-2025)  

 

 Derbyn adroddiad y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth, Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu, sy’n amlinellu cynigion i gyfathrebu a 
chynnwys rhanddeiliaid yng ngwaith y Cyngor o ran cydweithio i fwrw ei 
darged o fod yn sefydliad carbon niwtral erbyn 2030. 

 

  11 - 36 

4. Y STRATEGAETH DATGARBONEIDDIO GORFFORAETHOL A'R 
CYNLLUN GWEITHREDU  

 

 Derbyn adroddiad Cyfarwyddwr Eiddo'r Cyngor, sy'n rhoi cyfle i'r 
Aelodau drafod adolygu a chymeradwyo Strategaeth Ddatgarboneiddio 
Gorfforaethol y Cyngor a rhoi'r Cynllun Gweithredu ar waith. Bydd y 
cynllun yn nodi amserlen glir er mwyn helpu'r Cyngor i fwrw'i darged o 
fod yn Garbon Niwtral erbyn 2030. 

 

  37 - 104 

5. CYNHYRCHU TRYDAN DŴR YN RHONDDA CYNON TAF   

 Derbyn adroddiad Cyfarwyddwr Eiddo'r Cyngor, sy'n rhoi trosolwg o 
adroddiad hyfywedd wedi'i ddiweddaru, a gwblhawyd gan gwmni 
arbenigol, ar gyfer datblygu cynlluniau pŵer trydan dŵr ar raddfa fach o 
fewn ffiniau Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf. Mae’r adroddiad 
hanesyddol, eang, wedi bod yn destun adolygiad mewnol yn ddiweddar. 

 

  105 - 132 

6. FFERM SOLAR ARFAETHEDIG   

 Derbyn adroddiad Cyfarwyddwr Eiddo'r Cyngor, sy'n rhoi diweddariad 
pellach i'r Aelodau mewn perthynas â'r gwaith sydd ar y gweill i 
ddatblygu 'Fferm Solar ar y Tir', i'w lleoli ar dir y Cyngor yng Nghoedelái 
(hen safle glofa 'teras' 84-erw, ger Tonyrefail). Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Rhondda Cynon Taf fydd perchennog y cyfleuster yma 

 

  133 - 138 

7. MATERION BRYS   

 Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn faterion 
brys yng ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig. 

 

   
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Cylchreliad:- 
 
 
Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd: 
(Y Cynghorydd C Leyshon ac Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol: 
Y Cynghorydd R Lewis, Y Cynghorydd  M Norris ac Y Cynghorydd J Barton 
 



Tudalen wag



 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CYNGOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 IS-BWYLLGOR Y CABINET AR FATERION YR HINSAWDD 
 

Cofnodion o gyfarfod rhithwir y Is-bwyllgor y Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd a gynhaliwyd Dydd 
Mawrth, 6 Rhagfyr 2022 am 3.00 pm. 

 
Cafodd y cyfarfod yma ei recordio, ac mae modd gweld y manylion yma 

 
Roedd y Aelodau Is-bwyllgor y Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd canlynol yn bresennol yn 

Siambr y Cyngor:- 
 

Y Cynghorydd C Leyshon (Cadeirydd) 
 

Y Cynghorydd A Crimmings Y Cynghorydd R Lewis 
Y Cynghorydd  M Norris  

 

Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol 
 

Mr P Mee, Prif Weithredwr 
Mr S Gale, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu 
Mr D Powell, Cyfarwyddwr Materion Eiddo’r Cyngor 

Lawson, Rheolwr Cyflawniad 
Ms E Dean, Cynlluniwr Amgylchedd 

Mr R Wistow, Ecolegydd 
Mr J Arroyo, Rheolwr Materion Ynni a Lleihau Carbon 
Mr P Dukes, Blaen Swyddog Materion Lleihau Carbon 

 
Ymddiheuriadu am absenoldeb 

 
Y Cynghorydd J Barton  

 
 

11   Croeso ac Ymddiheuriadau  
 

 

 Croesawodd y Cadeirydd bawb i'r cyfarfod a derbyniwyd ymddiheuriad am 
absenoldeb gan Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol J Barton. 
 

 

12   Datgan Buddiant  
 

 

 Yn unol â'r Cod Ymddygiad, doedd dim datganiadau o fuddiant ynglŷn â'r 
agenda. 
 

 

13   Cofnodion  
 

 

 PENDERFYNODD yr Is-bwyllgor gymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a 
gynhaliwyd ar 3 Hydref 2022 yn rhai cywir. 
 
Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd wybod i Aelodau y byddai dyddiad yn cael ei rannu yn 
fuan ar gyfer yr ymweliad â'r mawnogydd lleol. 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 5

Agendwm 2

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=376&Year=0&LLL=1


 

 
14   Cynllun Trydan Dŵr yng Nghored Trefforest  

 
 

 Rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr Eiddo'r Cyngor drosolwg i'r Is-bwyllgor o waith 
dichonoldeb sydd wedi'i gwblhau ar gyfer datblygu Cynllun Trydan Dŵr cwymp 
bychan yng Nghored Trefforest ar yr Afon Taf, Trefforest, Pontypridd. Roedd yr 
adroddiad yn seiliedig ar adroddiad dichonoldeb rhagarweiniol wedi'i lunio gan 
gwmni arbenigol sy'n adolygu'r opsiynau ynni dŵr yng Nghored Trefforest. 
 
Rhoddodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Addysg, Cyfranogiad Pobl Ifainc a'r 
Gymraeg ddiolch i'r Cyfarwyddwr am yr adroddiad gan nodi bod RhCT a'r 
cymoedd ehangach yn ffodus o gael digonedd o ddŵr, a'i bod hi'n gwneud 
synnwyr i edrych ar y dŵr fel ffynhonnell bosibl o gynhyrchu ynni gwyrdd. Roedd 
yr Aelod o'r Cabinet o'r farn bod hyn yn gam cyffrous a chadarnhaol ymlaen ac 
roedd yn edrych ymlaen at gael yr wybodaeth ddiweddaraf yn y dyfodol. 
 
Adleisiodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Ffyniant a Datblygu y sylwadau 
blaenorol a gofynnodd i Aelodau edrych am brosiectau tebyg yn eu hardaloedd 
lleol. Siaradodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet am y cynnydd yng nghostau ynni, sydd 
wedi gwneud prosiectau o'r fath yn fwy dichonadwy, a chytunodd y byddai 
gwerthu'r ynni trwy wifren breifat yn arbed mwy o arian. 
 
Mewn ymateb i sylwadau'r Aelod o'r Cabinet, rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr wybod i 
Aelodau y byddai adroddiad hollgynhwysol sydd â gwybodaeth am tua 30 safle 
posibl yn RhCT yn cael ei gyflwyno i gyfarfod nesaf yr Is-bwyllgor. 
 
Gofynnodd y Cadeirydd am eglurhad o ran y derminoleg 'gwifrau preifat' ac 
esboniwyd bod y term 'gwifren breifat' yn cael ei ddefnyddio er mwyn 
gwahaniaethu rhwng y wifren yn dod o Western Power neu'r Grid Cenedlaethol. 
Roedd y Cyfarwyddwr wedi gobeithio y byddai'r wifren yn mynd i adeilad sy'n 
eiddo i'r Cyngor, a hynny er mwyn gwneud yn fawr o'r ynni sy'n cael ei 
gynhyrchu. Esboniodd na fyddai rhaid i'r Cyngor brynu pob cilowat o ynni wedi'i 
ddefnyddio gan y grid am bris sy'n bedair gwaith yn fwy. 
 

Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd ddiolch i'r Cyfarwyddwr am yr adroddiad llawn 
gwybodaeth a PHENDERFYNODD yr Is-bwyllgor: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad yn rhan o agenda gwaith Is-bwyllgor y 
Cabinet ar faterion yr Hinsawdd; 

2. Ehangu gwariant ymhellach wrth ddatblygu'r cynigion, fel sydd wedi'i nodi 
yn adran 10.3, er mwyn cynnal astudiaethau dylunio pellach i asesu 
potensial llawn a datblygu cynigion prosiect manwl; a 

3. Derbyn adroddiadau cynnydd pellach, ar adegau priodol, wrth ddatblygu'r 
cynigion.  

 
 

 

15   Cynllun Trydan Dŵr ym Mharc Gwledig Cwm Dâr  
 

 

 Rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr Eiddo'r Cyngor drosolwg i'r Is-bwyllgor o waith 
dichonoldeb sydd wedi'i gwblhau ar gyfer datblygu Cynllun Trydan Dŵr cwymp 
mawr ym Mharc Gwledig Cwm Dâr. Roedd yr adroddiad yn seiliedig ar 
astudiaeth ddichonoldeb wedi'i llunio gan gwmni arbenigol a adolygodd 
ddichonoldeb cynllun wedi'i ystyried o'r blaen. 
 

 

Tudalen 6



 

Siaradodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion yr Amgylchedd a Hamdden yn 
gadarnhaol am y prosiect gan nodi'r elw ffafriol a'r cyflenwad parhaus o ddŵr yn 
y safle, hyd yn oed mewn cyfnod o sychder. Siaradodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet am 
yr opsiynau amrywiol ar y safle i gynhyrchu ynni, megis gwesty, caffi a pharc 
carafanau Parc Gwledig Cwm Dâr, ac roedd yn edrych ymlaen at gael yr 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf yn y dyfodol yn dilyn yr astudiaethau dichonoldeb ac 
ymgynghoriad. 
 
Er gwybodaeth i Aelodau, rhoddodd y Rheolwr Ynni a Lleihau Carbon drosolwg 
cryno o'r gwahaniaeth rhwng Cynllun Trydan Dŵr cwymp mawr a chwymp 
bychan. Cafodd Aelodau wybod bod cwymp bychan yn ymwneud â phwysedd 
isel a llif mawr o ddŵr, ond mae cwymp mawr yn ymwneud â llif bach o ddŵr a 
phwysedd uchel. 
 

Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd ddiolch i'r Cyfarwyddwr am yr adroddiad a 
PHENDERFYNODD yr Is-bwyllgor: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad yn rhan o agenda gwaith Is-bwyllgor y 
Cabinet ar faterion yr Hinsawdd; 

2. Ehangu gwariant ymhellach wrth ddatblygu'r cynigion yma, fel sydd wedi'i 
nodi yn adran 10.2 yr adroddiad, er mwyn cynnal astudiaethau dylunio 
pellach sy'n asesu potensial llawn y prosiect ac yn helpu i ddatblygu 
cynigion prosiect manwl; a 

3. Derbyn adroddiadau cynnydd pellach, ar adegau priodol, wrth ddatblygu'r 
cynigion.  

 
 
 

16   Diweddariad mewn perthynas â'r Prosiect Ôl Troed Carbon ac Adroddiad 
Carbon Sero-Net Sector Cyhoeddus Cymru ar gyfer 2021-2022  
 

 

 Rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr Eiddo'r Cyngor yr wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i'r Is-bwyllgor 
am Gynllun Carbon Sero-Net Sector Cyhoeddus Cymru a'r hyn a gyflwynwyd 
gan Gyngor Rhondda Cynon Taf o dan y drefn honno ar gyfer Blwyddyn 
Ariannol 2021/22.  
 
Esboniodd y Blaen Swyddog Lleihau Carbon fod y cynllun yn dal i ddatblygu felly 
roedd Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cyflwyno tri gofyniad adrodd allyriadau carbon 
ychwanegol o 2021/22, sef: 
 

• Teithio staff at ddibenion busnes 

• Teithio staff o'r cartref i'r gwaith ac yn ôl 

• Gweithio gartref 
 
Talodd y swyddog deyrnged i gydweithwyr ar draws yr Awdurdod Lleol gan fod 
angen iddyn nhw gasglu data erbyn hyn, pan nad oes rhaid o'r blaen.  
 
Manteisiodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Ffyniant a Datblygu ar y cyfle i 
ddiolch i'r swyddogion am y gwaith sylweddol wrth gasglu'r wybodaeth a chreu'r 
dangosfwrdd hawdd ei ddefnyddio. 
 
Adleisiodd y Cadeirydd y sylwadau gan ddiolch i swyddogion am gynnal y gwaith 
mewn ffordd mor amserol.  
 

 

Tudalen 7



 

Nododd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Addysg, Cyfranogiad Pobl Ifainc a'r 
Gymraeg ansawdd y data, a fyddai'n rhoi cyfle i Aelodau a Swyddogion olrhain 
cynnydd a gwella ymdrechion i ddatgarboneiddio fel Awdurdod Lleol. Nododd yr 
Aelod o'r Cabinet y newidiadau sydd wedi'u cyflwyno gan Lywodraeth Cymru o 
ran gofynion cofnodi allyriadau ond roedd o'r farn bod allyriadau'n lleihau ar y 
cyfan, er gwaethaf yr allyriadau corfforedig yn y gadwyn gyflenwi. Roedd yr 
Aelod o'r Cabinet yn falch o nodi mentrau megis cynnig y Cyngor i Lywodraeth 
Cymru am adeiladu ysgolion newydd. Roedd gan un o'r rhain opsiwn sero-net 
wedi'i ariannu'n llawn. 
 

Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd ddiolch i'r Cyfarwyddwr am yr adroddiad a 
PHENDERFYNODD yr Is-bwyllgor: 

1. Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad yn rhan o'r gwaith parhaus o dan gylch 
gwaith Is-Bwyllgor y Cabinet ar Faterion yr Hinsawdd; 

2. Cyhoeddi'r data ar Ddangosfwrdd Ôl Troed Carbon y Cyngor; a 
3. Derbyn adroddiadau pellach sy'n rhoi diweddariadau ychwanegol am 

gynnydd pan fydd hi'n addas.  
 
 

17   Strategaeth Cyngor RhCT - Coed, Coetiroedd a Gwrychoedd  
 

 

 Rhoddodd Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu gyfle i'r Is-bwyllgor drafod 
yr ymatebion i'r ymgynghoriad ar Strategaeth Ddrafft Coed, Coetiroedd a 
Gwrychoedd RhCT. 
 
Yn ogystal â hyn, rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr wybod i'r Is-bwyllgor am adborth a 
sylwadau'r Pwyllgor Craffu – Materion yr Hinsawdd, Gwasanaethau Rheng 
Flaen a Ffyniant yn dilyn ei waith cyn y cam craffu ar y Strategaeth Coed, 
Coetiroedd a Gwrychoedd yn y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 15 Tachwedd 2022. 
 
Roedd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion yr Amgylchedd a Hamdden wedi'i siomi 
gyda diffyg ymatebion gan y cyhoedd i'r ymgynghoriad, ond roedd wedi 
gwerthfawrogi sylwadau'r rheiny oedd wedi ymateb ac aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu. 
Pwysleisiodd yr Aelod o'r Cabinet bwysigrwydd plannu coed, a hynny mewn 
ardaloedd trefol ac mewn parciau.  
 
Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd ddiolch i'r Cyfarwyddwr am yr adroddiad a thynnodd sylw 
at bwysigrwydd gofalu am y coed a gwrychoedd presennol, yn ogystal â phlannu 
rhai newydd.  
 
PENDERFYNODD yr Is-bwyllgor: 

1. Nodi sylwadau ac arsylwadau'r Pwyllgor Craffu – Materion yr Hinsawdd, 
Gwasanaethau Rheng Flaen a Ffyniant; a  

2. Cymeradwyo'r Strategaeth Coed, Coetiroedd a Gwrychoedd. 
 
 

 

18   Dyletswydd Bioamrywiaeth A6 y Cyngor: Adroddiad Tair Blynedd ar gyfer 
Llywodraeth Cymru 2020-2022  
 

 

 Rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu y diweddaraf i'r Is-
bwyllgor am y cynnydd o ran datblygu a gweithredu Cynllun Gweithredu 
Dyletswydd Bioamrywiaeth A.6 y Cyngor. Ceisiodd gymeradwyaeth er mwyn 
cyflwyno'r Cynllun Gweithredu i Lywodraeth Cymru a'i gyhoeddi ar wefan y 
Cyngor, fel sy'n ofynnol gan Ddeddf yr Amgylchedd (Cymru) 2016. 

 

Tudalen 8



 

 
Rhoddodd y Cadeirydd ddiolch i'r Cyfarwyddwr am yr adroddiad ac i'r 
swyddogion am y gwaith.  
 
PENDERFYNODD yr Is-bwyllgor:  

1. Ystyried yr wybodaeth yn yr adroddiad a'r cynnydd sydd wedi'i wneud i 
gynnwys bioamrywiaeth ym mhob gwasanaeth y Cyngor, ers yr 
adroddiad ffurfiol diwethaf yn 2019; a 

2. Cymeradwyo'r adroddiad ac Atodiad A i'w cyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru 
a'u cyhoeddi ar wefan y Cyngor. 

 
 
 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 3.35 pm Y Cynghorydd C Leyshon 
Cadeirydd. 

 

Tudalen 9



Tudalen wag



 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET SUB COMMITTEE 
 

23rd March 2023 
 
 

RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023-25) 
 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & COMMUNICATION 
CHRISTIAN HANAGAN IN DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR 
CLIMATE CHANGE & CORPORATE SERVICES COUNCILLOR CHRISTINA 
LEYSHON 
 
Author: Chris Davies (Corporate Policy & Consultation) 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

 
1.1 By 2030, the Council’s targets are to become a carbon neutral organisation, to 

work with residents and businesses within the County Borough to ensure the 
whole County Borough is as close as possible to carbon neutral and to contribute 
to the Welsh Government’s ambition of a Net Zero public sector.  

 
1.2 The Climate Change Engagement Plan plan outlines how we propose to 

communicate and involve stakeholders in developing our approach to working 
together to achieve these targets. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 It is recommended that the Cabinet Sub Committee 
 
2.1 Considers the information contained in the report and the proposed engagement 

approach. 
 
2.2 Subject to any amendments  approves  the approach outlined: 
 
2.3 Agree that to develop the approach going forward and deliver on the 

communications and engagement activity, there is a need for existing staff 
support, initially provided by the named responsible officers, working in 
partnership with key environmental stakeholders . 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

Tudalen 11

Agendwm 3



  

3.1  To assist the Council in its aim to meets its Carbon Neutral targets by 2030. 
 
3.2  To support the implementation and delivery of the Council’s wider Tackling 

Climate Change Strategy – ’Think Climate RCT’  
 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
 

4.1  In March 2021, the Cabinet, and the as then Climate Change Cabinet Steering 
Group, received a report that provided the opportunity for Members to consider 
the Draft Council Tackling Climate Change Strategy and agreed to engage and 
consult with residents and businesses on the Council’s response to Climate 
Change.  

 
4.2 The Draft Tackling Climate Change Strategy was subject to a wide-ranging 

consultation, as part of a new Climate Conversation. Across the Council. The  
Climate Change conversation was branded as ‘“Let’s Talk Climate Change RCT’” 
and used a new online engagement platform as a pilot, to host key climate change 
projects.   The methods of engagement on the site include an online survey, polls, 
the ability to map localised comments, a stories box and a section where users 
are invited to provide their ideas on a certain topic (stories).  

 
4.3 In addition to the ‘Let’s Talk’ online conversations the Council worked with 

services and partners to develop appropriate engagement for individual climate 
change projects based on some of the work underpinning the climate change 
strategy. We have also had conversations and conducted surveys  with our own 
staff.  

 
4.4 In June 2021 Cabinet received feedback from the Climate Change Cabinet 

Steering Group and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, respectively, to 
consider a report on the Draft Climate Change Strategy (2021-2025) Consultation 
Responses.  Members agreed that Officers use the feedback to inform the 
development of the final Climate Change Strategy and agreed to support the 
approach of facilitating an ongoing climate change conversation with residents, 
local businesses and partners, linked to the final Climate Change Strategy 
workplan 

 
4.5 The feedback from the various conversations helped to inform and develop the 

Council’s final draft Climate Change Strategy – ‘Think Climate RCT 2022-25’, 
which was approved at a Cabinet meeting in June 2022.   

 
4.6 In agreeing the Tackling Climate Change Strategy in June 2022, the Cabinet  also 

agreed  that we refresh and continue the programme of engagement and widen 
this activity to continue to involve as wide a range of stakeholders and align with 
relevant associated strategies.  

 
4.7 The Council also committed to continue to work with national and local 

environmental groups to engage with residents, communities and businesses, 
and to maximise community expertise in order  to also support and encourage   
different lifestyle choices.  

Tudalen 12

https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/how-can-we-help-tackle-climate-change
https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s29270/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35286/Climate%20Change%20Report%20-%20Cabinet%2022%20June%202022.pdf?LLL=0


  

5. CURRENT POSITION 
 

 
5.1 The Climate Change Strategy outlines our approach will include ; 
 

“…encouraging and facilitating changes in lifestyle and choices in all staff and 
their representatives, elected Members, residents, local business as well as our 
visitors to Rhondda Cynon Taf. The involvement of younger people will be key to 
creating, developing and delivering this plan over the long term and we will be 
continuing to progress this involvement through school eco councils, our Youth 
Fora and through other community organisations. Plans to progress our work, 
particularly in engaging with people face to face have been affected by restrictions 
arising from the pandemic but we are keen to accelerate our plans safely now that 
restrictions are lifted. As well as listening to what people, communities and 
businesses are telling us, we also need to support and challenge the Welsh 
Government to do better and to break down any national barriers that mitigate 
against local action.” 

 
5.2 Specifically in the  Think Climate PEOPLE section of the Strategy it states; 

 
“…. residents and staff told us they would like to see us increase awareness of 
climate change and provide opportunities for residents and communities to 
become involved in developing solutions that will contribute to the County 
Borough becoming Carbon Neutral” 

  
 We have responded to this feedback and plan to; 
 

1.  Provide clear, simple and practical ways to encourage everyone to play 
their part to reduce carbon at home, in work and getting about. 

2. Listen to and understand what our residents of all ages are telling us.  
3.  Invite and encourage residents, businesses, staff and their 

representatives to discuss what the Council can do to help them to 
reduce their carbon footprint and what they can do for themselves.  

4.  Work with young people, including through schools and their eco 
councils, youth groups and Arts projects in ways they can help shape our 
plans for their future.  

5. Work with Community Groups, including the Older Persons Advisory 
Group and those that are seldom heard so that they can contribute to and 
shape our plans for the future. 19  

6.  Develop intergenerational projects that enhance the skills and lives of 
people in our communities.  

7.  Provide opportunities for communities to become involved in developing 
local solutions through Neighbourhood Networks. 

 
 
5.3 In addition to our own plans, the Welsh Government has developed a draft 

Strategy for Public Engagement & Action (2022-26), the consultation in which 
closed in December 2022, and a Climate Change Engagement Approach (2022–
26).  Within both the framework and the strategy, Welsh Government highlights 
the need for government, public bodies, businesses and communities across 

Tudalen 13

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2022-10/part-a-draft-strategy-for-engaging-the-general-public-in-action-on-climate-change.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/engagement-approach-around-climate-change-2022-26.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/engagement-approach-around-climate-change-2022-26.pdf


  

Wales to work together to tackle the shared challenges of the Climate and Nature 
emergencies in a Team Wales approach.  

 
5.4 Taking account of all of the above and so that we can fully contribute to the ‘Team 

Wales’ approach, The  Council has set out its approach to Climate Change 
engagement in the accompanying Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023-
25). The plan outlines the detail on how we propose to engage with,  involve  and 
communicate with stakeholders in developing and implementing our approach to 
achieving the targets set out in the new Tackling Climate Change Strategy (2022-
25) and is outlined in section 6 below, with the full plan attached to this report as 
an Appendix. The plan is currently a working document and will be updated 
regularly as new information becomes available. 

 
 
 
6 RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023-25). 
 
 
6.1 The aim of the plan is to set out how we will  engage with residents, schools, 

businesses, staff and the third sector on considering greener and more 
sustainable lifestyle choices whilst raising the profile and increasing awareness 
about Climate Change. This will be supported  by identifying best practice and 
sharing information about the good work that is already taking place across the 
Council, in our schools as well as by individuals and groups in the wider 
community.  

 
6.2 The Climate Change Engagement Plan sets the framework that will enable the 

Council to implement new and innovative ways of engagement with our residents 
through events,  campaigns and competitions, whilst encouraging residents to 
consider their current lifestyle choices and behaviours in their homes, at work, 
how they travel etc..  All these steps can contribute to more sustainable living and 
fewer carbon emissions. 

 
6.3 Raising climate awareness with all our stakeholders and encouraging, inviting and 

supporting action is key if the Council is to achieve its climate goals and play our 
part in Tackling Climate Change. The Engagement Plan embeds the key 
engagement/involvement actions from our Tackling Climate Change Strategy 
(2022-25) – ‘Think Climate RCT’. This approach will ensure that the Council 
delivers a strategically aligned approach towards engagement and 
communication  across the Council’s services and the County Borough.  

 
6.4 To ensure that the Council takes a holistic approach to County Borough-wide 

engagement, the plan includes an Engagement Matrix which aligns with the 
Council’s current Involvement and Engagement Framework.  The Matrix identifies  
the key stakeholder groups within the County Borough and associated  
subgroups.  It is vital that those people who are traditionally seldom heard have a 
voice in tackling climate change as well as our key stakeholders and third sector 
community leaders who are well placed to  support societal behaviour change.  

 

Tudalen 14

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19237/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


  

6.5 The full Plan is attached in Appendix 1. Set out below is Matrix of Stakeholders 
and a summary of the engagement plan. The Stakeholder Matrix and 
accompanying engagement plan will be developed and widened to include other 
groups as our community engagement widens.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Residents including our ‘seldom heard’ groups 

 
6.6 As set out in the Council’s Involvement Strategy Involvement and Engagement 

Framework, the Council is committed to involving and engaging with residents, 
communities and other stakeholders as part of our everyday business.  The 
Council has a good track record of engaging with residents and the information 
collected is valuable, as it helps to understand what residents think, where the 
Council needs to act and how to improve Council services.  The subgroups set 
out in the Matrix include the majority of our residents, including those who are 
seldom heard via a range of selected networks and groups. Whilst  this 
categorisation may not account for all stakeholders in the County Borough, we 
will strive to continue to develop our knowledge and understanding of our 
communities. 

 
 
 
 

 

Tudalen 15

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19237/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19237/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


  

 Young People 
 
6.7 The Tackling Climate Change Strategy (2022-25) is clear in that the involvement 

of younger people will be key to creating, developing and delivering our plans over 
the long term and we will be continuing to progress this involvement through 
schools, school eco councils and our Youth Fora. A suite of age-appropriate 
climate related activities will include discussions about how we can implement 
and support sustainable behaviours and how we can help inform and prepare 
young people to about decisions about their futures in the emerging green 
sectors.    

 
Businesses 

 
6.8 If we are to reach the Welsh Government Net Zero ambition  by 2030, we must 

fully engage the many different types of businesses across RCT.  We can achieve 
this by supporting local businesses, particularly small and medium sized 
enterprises, by helping them to develop the skills and knowledge they need to be 
better prepared to tender for suitable opportunities for Council contracts as they 
arise. We must also offer support via distributing information on sourcing more 
sustainable products locally and selling to local markets. Engagement with 
businesses will take place via Town Centre Forums and BIDs along with business 
surveys. We will work with our tourism partners and businesses to engage with 
visitors and tourists. 

 
Inside the Council 

 
6.9 All our Councillors and staff have a role to play in reducing the Council’s Carbon 

Footprint in the decisions they make, the services they deliver and by their 
everyday actions. Many staff will be directly involved in energy saving projects, 
others will have less obvious contributions, but these are as important. As 
Councillors also represent communities and over 80% of our staff live in RCT we 
can all play a key role in supporting and encouraging climate initiatives across the 
County Borough. To achieve this, we have committed to putting in place training 
and awareness raising, providing opportunities for ongoing climate conversations 
with staff, listening to their views and ideas and reinforcing climate messages 
through clear and relevant messaging of the council’s commitments.  The most 
recent staff Net Zero network took place on 6 March and considered how the 
Council services can best prepare to to meet the requirements of the new non 
domestic Waste Regulations which will come into effect on 1 October 2023.   

 
 Third Sector Organisations 
 
6.10 We know there is excellent sustainable and ‘green’ work going on in our 

communities undertaken by volunteers and well-established community groups, 
networks and representative bodies. It is important that we recognise how we can 
best support these community groups and our third sector and community 
partners and learn from them to generate the most value from these 
projects/activities through our services. Our Climate Commitments contained 
within our Think Climate Strategy include a commitment ‘ to working with Third 
Sector organisations, Neighbourhood Networks, the RCT Climate Action 

Tudalen 16

http://inform/en/news/2022/november/changestonondomesticcollectionsregulationscommercialwaste.aspx
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=2WSKWSwW1ss&feature=youtu.be


  

Network, and other partners to maximise our collective resources to achieve a 
Carbon Neutral County Borough’.  Our ongoing climate conversation will seek to 
maximise the information sharing and engagement opportunities already in place 
and learn from community experts.  

 
6.11 Delivering this commitment relies on the Council engaging with community groups 

via our third sector partners, keeping our messaging and purpose open, 
transparent, and consistent in order to work cohesively and constructively across 
the County Borough. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC 
 DUTY 
 
 

7.1 The engagement approaches outlined in the strategy will provide further 
opportunities for more diverse groups of residents and stakeholders to get 
involved in the Climate Conversation and provide  a range of methods including 
online and specific engagement opportunities for targeted groups, such as young 
people and older people and those previously seldom heard or digitally excluded.  

 
 
8. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 The engagement approaches outlined in the strategy will be fully bilingual and will 
be inclusive of Welsh speakers as part of the general public consultation. 

 
 
9. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT 
 

9.1 The engagement and involvement approaches put in place to deliver the Tackling 
Climate Change Strategy to date have enabled the Council to set a strategic 
position without full access to residents as a result of previous  Covid restrictions. 
However,  our aim is to strengthen our approach through the Climate Change 
Engagement Plan.  The plan is a live document that will be updated from 
information arising from feedback from all stakeholders as well as emerging best 
practice and new Welsh Government engagement frameworks.  

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

10.1 There are no financial implications directly aligned to this report.  There are staff 
time implications for those officers nominated as leads in the plan. 

 
10.2  Moving forward, any agreed programme of work to deliver the Council’s Climate 

Change Engagement Plan will be incorporated into Medium Term Financial 
Planning arrangements to ensure resource requirements are reviewed, 
challenged and planned for. 

 
 
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 

11.1 There are no legal implications aligned to this report, at this stage.  

Tudalen 17

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=2WSKWSwW1ss&feature=youtu.be


  

 
 
12. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-

BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 

12.1 The Council has committed to becoming a Carbon Neutral organisation by 2030 
and to work with residents and businesses to ensure the whole County Borough 
is Carbon Neutral as close as possible to 2030 also This contributes to the 
delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan ‘Making a Difference’ – 2020-24 and 
three Priorities set out in the Plan and to meet the carbon reduction targets. The 
Engagement Plan seeks to inform and shape decisions to tackle climate change 
and applies the Sustainable Development (SD) principle i.e. ‘acts in a manner 
which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.’  The 
Engagement Plan applies the five ways of working to achieve the SD principle, 
particularly Involvement, Collaboration and Integration. 

 
 
13. CONCLUSION 
 
 

13.1  This report and associated Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023-25) 
outlines how we propose to communicate with and involve stakeholders in 
developing our approach to achieving the targets set out in the new Tackling 
Climate Change Strategy – ‘Think Climate RCT’ (2022-25)  

 
13.2  The plan sets out how we are going to engage with residents, schools, 

businesses, staff and the third sector on considering greener and more 
sustainable lifestyle choices whilst raising the profile and increasing awareness 
about climate change. Among other things, this can be achieved by identifying 
best practice and providing easy access to information about the good work that 
is already taking place across the Council, in our schools and wider community.  

 
13.3 The plan embeds the key engagement/involvement actions from our Tackling 

Climate Change Strategy (2022-25), aligns with the Welsh Government’s ‘Team 
Wales’ approach and is flexible enough to respond or include any national 
arrangements likely to emerge from consultation on ‘the WG strategy for engaging 
the general public in action on Climate Change’ This will ensure that the Council 
delivers a strategically aligned approach towards Climate Change engagement, 
involvement and communication  across both the Council and the County 
Borough. 

 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 -  RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023-25) 
 
 

Tudalen 18

https://gov.wales/draft-strategy-engaging-general-public-action-climate-change
https://gov.wales/draft-strategy-engaging-general-public-action-climate-change


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 

1 UN, December 2019; Decade of Action, 2 CCC, December 2020; Advice Report: The Path to a Net Zero Wales 

Aims 

The aim of this plan is to set out how we are will engage with residents, schools, businesses, staff and the third sector in considering greener 

and more sustainable lifestyle choices, whilst raising the profile and increasing awareness about climate change. 

This plan will enable the Council to implement new and innovative ways of engagement with our residents, e.g. through events, competitions 

and campaigns, whilst promoting and encouraging residents to consider their current choices and behaviours in their homes, at work, how they 

travel etc. and so reduce their carbon footprints’. The plan also ensures that the Council delivers the communication and engagement actions 

set out in the Tackling Climate Change Strategy (2022-25) – ‘Think Climate RCT’ across the Council and the County Borough, including 

1. Providing clear, simple and practical ways to encourage everyone to play their part to reduce carbon at home, in work and getting 

about. 

2. Listening to and understanding what our residents of all ages are telling us. 

3. Inviting and encouraging residents, businesses, staff and their representatives to discuss what the Council can do to help them to 

reduce their carbon footprint and what they can do for themselves. 

4. Working with young people, including through schools and their eco councils, youth groups and Arts projects in ways they can help 

shape our plans for their future. 

5. Working with Community Groups, including Older Persons Advisory Group and those that are seldom heard so that they can contribute 

to and shape our plans for the future. 

6. Developing intergenerational projects that enhance the skills and lives of people in our communities. 

7. Providing opportunities for communities to become involved in developing local solutions through Neighbourhood Networks. 

In doing so we will increase the number of opportunities for residents and communities to be involved in the ongoing climate change 

conversation. 

 

Introduction 

We are making progress to tackle climate change, but we all need to do more, and faster, if we are to reduce our carbon emissions, help to 

reverse the damage to our planet and adapt to the changes already happening, both within the Council and within the County Borough. The 

United Nations have declared that this must be a decade of action1 if we are to reverse the last thirty years of damage and keep global 

temperatures from reaching the irreversible 1.5oC. Although higher industrial sector reductions and public sector action will both help contribute 

to the achievement of this target, everyone in Wales must also do their part. To play our part in this national climate emergency, Welsh 

Government have developed a Strategy for Public Engagement & Action (2022-26) and a Climate Change Engagement Approach (2022–26). 

T
udalen 19

https://www.undp.org/stories/decade-action?utm_source=EN&utm_medium=GSR&utm_content=US_UNDP_PaidSearch_Brand_English&utm_campaign=CENTRAL&c_src=CENTRAL&c_src2=GSR&gclid=CjwKCAiA9qKbBhAzEiwAS4yeDdz0sU15O0DBUI_hBRUC3uNfSHsBhcvFIvlDny_OH4B8xpprJbZKRxoCcwwQAvD_BwE
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Advice-Report-The-path-to-a-Net-Zero-Wales.pdf
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35287/Climate%20Change%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2022-10/part-a-draft-strategy-for-engaging-the-general-public-in-action-on-climate-change.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-08/engagement-approach-around-climate-change-2022-26.pdf


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 

1 UN, December 2019; Decade of Action, 2 CCC, December 2020; Advice Report: The Path to a Net Zero Wales 

Within both the framework and the strategy Welsh Government highlight the need for government, public bodies, businesses and communities 

across Wales to work together to tackle the shared challenges of the climate and nature emergency in a Team Wales approach. 

To contribute to the ‘Team Wales’ approach, we have  set out how we t plan to involve, engage, and communicate with  our stakeholders within 

a Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023-25). The plan outlines our approach to achieving the targets set out in the Tackling Climate 

Change Strategy (2022-25) – ‘Think Climate RCT’.  All feedback will be used to help the Council understand stakeholder needs and 

behaviours and help target areas  of concern e.g. food scarcity, flood risk  cost of green energy, travel options etc.  In addition , the approach 

outlined in the plans  focuses on awareness raising and communicating key messages. 

During the development if this plan, the country has been faced with an economic crisis, which creates financial challenges for a vast number of 

households including here in Rhondda Cynon Taf. The plan recognises the impact of these challenges and working with stakeholders, strives 

to create a framework that helps our residents and communities to overcome the financial and other barriers that that they tell us are stopping 

them from changing to ‘greener’ habits.  

We plan to combine the need to address action needed to respond to climate change and  concerns about  cost-of-living is through the new 

‘Think Climate RCT’ campaign to be launched in March 2023; spreading climate awareness particularly focusing on using less, wasting less 

and saving more – ‘Use Less. Waste Less. Save More’. As a part of this new campaign the Council will be renewing its climate change web 

presence on the Council's  website and developing a new ‘Let’s Talk Climate Change’ project which are set out in more detail in the plan below.  

Our core messages are  

• adopting greener or more sustainable behaviours which can also help to save money, 

• we don't have to be perfect when it comes to reducing carbon, by changing  one thing it could make a big difference for the planet and 

in our pocket. 

Although progress is being made and there many people implementing more sustainable ways of living, further action is needed across all 

areas of society. Studies suggest that it will not be possible to achieve a Net Zero target by only pursuing an approach that focusses on 

industry and the public sector. 60% of the changes needed to achieve Net Zero will require some element of societal behavioural change2. This 

supports to  the need for  Climate Change Engagement with residents and communities if we are to reach our climate change targets as a 

Council, across the County Borough and Wales. 

To ensure that the Council takes a holistic approach to County Borough-wide engagement, the engagement matrix below  aligns  with the 

Council’s Involvement and Engagement Framework, and identifies  the key stakeholder groups and Sub groups  within the County Borough. It 

is vital that those who are seldom heard have a voice in tackling climate change as well as our key stakeholders who can support societal 

behaviour change.  Whilst some stakeholders may not be accounted for in the matrix at this stage, this will be further developed and the work 

progresses.

T
udalen 20

https://www.undp.org/stories/decade-action?utm_source=EN&utm_medium=GSR&utm_content=US_UNDP_PaidSearch_Brand_English&utm_campaign=CENTRAL&c_src=CENTRAL&c_src2=GSR&gclid=CjwKCAiA9qKbBhAzEiwAS4yeDdz0sU15O0DBUI_hBRUC3uNfSHsBhcvFIvlDny_OH4B8xpprJbZKRxoCcwwQAvD_BwE
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Advice-Report-The-path-to-a-Net-Zero-Wales.pdf
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35287/Climate%20Change%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19237/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 

1 UN, December 2019; Decade of Action, 2 CCC, December 2020; Advice Report: The Path to a Net Zero Wales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 21

https://www.undp.org/stories/decade-action?utm_source=EN&utm_medium=GSR&utm_content=US_UNDP_PaidSearch_Brand_English&utm_campaign=CENTRAL&c_src=CENTRAL&c_src2=GSR&gclid=CjwKCAiA9qKbBhAzEiwAS4yeDdz0sU15O0DBUI_hBRUC3uNfSHsBhcvFIvlDny_OH4B8xpprJbZKRxoCcwwQAvD_BwE
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Advice-Report-The-path-to-a-Net-Zero-Wales.pdf


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

1. Residents including our ‘seldom heard’ groups  

As set out in the Council’s Involvement Strategy Involvement and Engagement Framework, the Council is committed to involving 
and engaging with residents, communities and other stakeholders as part of our everyday business.  The Council has a good 
track record of engaging with residents and the information collected is valuable, as it helps to understand what residents think, 
where the Council needs to act and how to improve Council services. The following subgroups aim to include the majority of our 
residents, including those who are seldom heard via a range of selected networks and groups. The Council recognises that this 
categorisation may not account for all stakeholders in the County Borough. 

Subgroup Method(s) of Engagement  Comms Responsible 
Officer 

General Let’s Talk RCT: 
Range of engagement tools available inc., 
online surveys, maps, ideas, stories etc. ‘Let’s 

Talk Climate Change’ to be updated as a live 
project to inform the Climate Change 
action/plans.  
 
Specific projects as requested by Cabinet and 
Climate Change Cabinet Sub Committee e.g. 
‘Let’s Talk Trees’, ‘Let’s Talk EV’. Must ensure 
feedback and reports are made available, so 
that people can see what was done as a result 
of the engagement. 
 
Face to Face Events: 
Face to face engagement for all strategic/high 
level projects. Aim to include face to face events 
aligned with each ‘Let’s Talk’ projects, where 
resources allow. Utilise existing events such as 
budget consultation to engage. Set 
engagement tools/graphics to be used at these 
events. 

Develop a ‘Calendar of Events’ linking to 
national, global and local climate change 
awareness days and campaigns to 
promote projects/work items for example 
carbon monitoring/ reduction projects, 
‘Let’s Talk’ site launches, events 
occurring across RCT. 
 
Use social media channels i.e. press 
releases, Twitter and Facebook for 
promotion and Call to Action (CTA) 
 
Develop more content via engagement to 
be included on websites i.e. blogs, 
videos, photos, case studies etc. 
 
 

Chris Davies 
working with 
responsible Officers 

T
udalen 22

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19237/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0
https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/how-can-we-help-tackle-climate-change
https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/how-can-we-help-tackle-climate-change
https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/let-s-talk-trees
https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/let-s-talk-electric-vehicle-charging2


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

1. Residents including our ‘seldom heard’ groups  

Older 
Persons  

Meetings of Forums: 

All activity to be promoted across the wider 

Older Person Forums via the Older Persons 

Advisory Groups (OPAG). 

 

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Spread climate awareness by promoting Think 

Climate campaign. OPAG has 5 Fora across 

RCT with up to 500 members who are willing to 

engage and receive guest speakers. 

 

Intergenerational Activities: 

When possible, involve children and young  

people with older persons via OPAG to work 

together on projects utilising the different skills 

between the generations. 

 

All content generated i.e. videos, photos, 
case studies and further information to be 
captured on website. 
 
Communicate/demonstrate how 
feedback is used via social media 
channels, blogs, website info. 
 
Promote all intergenerational activity via 
social media channels. 

Chris Davies 

Disability 
Forum/People 
First 

Meetings of Forums: 
Consider other ways of contacting disabled 

service users for relevant projects, e.g. EV 

rollout and impact on disabled car drivers. 

 
Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Spread climate awareness by promoting Think 
Climate campaign in plain English formats. 
 

Communicate activity with the group in 

accessible formats. 

 
All content generated i.e. videos, photos, 
case studies and further information to be 
captured on website. 
 

Melanie Warburton 

Housing 
Association – 
Trivallis 

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

There are 30,000 people living in 14,000 social 

A similar approach will be taken for what 
we identify as our seldom heard 
residents. 

Daniel Evans/ Keryl 
Lanfear 

T
udalen 23



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

1. Residents including our ‘seldom heard’ groups  

housing homes in RCT. Trivallis manages 70% 

of these homes.  

 
Through using this existing network, we can 
engage with people to better understand our 
residents’ thoughts and attitudes around 
climate change.   
 
Promotion of the ‘Think Climate’ campaign via 
these networks provide access to money and 
carbon saving tips. 
 

 
By taking a consistent and mirrored 
approach via our comms and 
engagement, we can ensure that 
feedback is collated accurately and 
feedback to residents is communicated 
clearly.  
 
All content generated i.e. videos, photos, 
case studies and further information to be 
captured on website. 
 
Communicate/demonstrate how 
feedback is used via social media 
channels, blogs, website info, reports, 
infographics. 
 

Communities 
for Work Plus 

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

‘Communities for Work Plus’ provides a 
working/mentoring programme to get people 
back in the workplace. 
 
This is another network that would enable 
engagement with those who may not be 
engaged with Council/Climate activity. 
 
Promotion of the ‘Think Climate’ campaign via 
these networks will aid in money and carbon 
saving tips. 
 

Andy Phillips 

Women’s 
Minority 
Ethnic Group 

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Primarily a group where Black, Asian & Minority 
ethnic women meet to discuss various issues. 
 
Using this network, we can engage those who 
may feel seldom heard to better understand our 

Ginnie Davies 
/Melanie Warburton 

T
udalen 24



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

1. Residents including our ‘seldom heard’ groups  

residents’ thoughts and attitudes around 
climate change.   
 
Promotion of the ‘Think Climate’ campaign via 
these networks will aid in spreading climate 
awareness. 
 

LGBT+ Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Opportunities through our various staff 
networks as well as ‘Project Unity’ to involve our 
LGBT+ residents directly into the climate 
conversation. 
 
Through using these networks we can engage 
those who may feel seldom heard to better 
understand our residents’ thoughts and 
attitudes around climate change.   
 
Promotion of the ‘Think Climate’ campaign via 
these networks will aid in spreading climate 
awareness. 

Ginnie 
Davies/Melanie 
Warburton 

Digitally 
Excluded 

Standard Materials/Survey: 

The Council provides a number of alternatives 
to online engagement such as written 
communication, telephone/contact centre and 
freepost to ensure that hard to reach people, 
those having reduced or no access to the 
internet and those who prefer to engage 
through traditional methods have opportunities 
to contribute their views and opinions.  

Chris Davies 

 

T
udalen 25



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

2. Young People 

The Tackling Climate Change Strategy (2022-25) – ‘Think Climate RCT’ is clear in that the involvement of younger people will be 
key to creating, developing and delivering our plans over the long term and we will be continuing to progress this involvement 
through schools, school eco councils and our Youth Fora.  A suite of age-appropriate climate related activities will include discussion 
about how we can implement and support sustainable behaviours and how we can help inform and prepare young people to about 
decisions about their futures in the emerging green sectors. 
 

Subgroup Method(s) of Engagement Comms Responsible 
Officer 

Schools Surveys: 
‘Your Voice’ Survey and Good Practice 
Questionnaire to establish baseline across RCT 
schools and further understand the attitudes of 
young people towards climate change as well as 
raising climate awareness. 
 
Corporate Communications: 
Ensure clear messaging on climate issues occurs 
before engagement activities are sent, allowing 
schools to prepare time for the young people to 
engage in materials. 
 
Climate Network: 
Setting up an education climate network of staff 
champions. Scope to involve learner champions as 
a part of this network – would be the duty of the 
staff champion to appoint learner champions and 
could link to climate related competitions. 
 
Climate Events: 
Hosting a pupil climate change event, developing a 
local ‘eco-schools’ award, piloting further 

Share climate related activities achieved 
through schools through social media 
channels 
 
Promote RCT schools-wide competitions 
through social media channels – CTA 
updates 
 
 

Richard 
Bowen/Dan 
Williams 

T
udalen 26

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35287/Climate%20Change%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

biodiversity projects within school grounds and 
carrying out school climate competitions. 

Youth Forums 
inc. Youth 
Parliament, 
Youth Clubs 
and thematic 
subgroups 

Climate Conversations: 
Opportunity to involve engaged young people in 
higher level discussions such as to how will the 
Council reach its 2030 goal of becoming Net Zero. 
 
Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Aim to hold face to face and virtual climate change 
discussions with young people through the existing 
forums and through facilitation from the Youth 
Engagement & Participation Officers (YEPOs). 
 

Utilise YEPS Instagram and website to 
post stories and posts such as polls, 
information, events etc. 
 
All content generated i.e. videos, photos, 
case studies and further information to be 
captured on website. 
 
Updates/posts through ‘WICID’ 
 

Rhys James 

Colleges/ 
Universities 

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Set up specific engagement days/events at 
colleges across RCT and the University of South 
Wales (USW). 

 

Press Release on USW Intranet 
 
Use social media channels i.e. press 
releases, Twitter and Facebook for 
promotion and Call to Action (CTA) 
 

Rhys James 

T
udalen 27



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

3. Businesses 

If we are to reach the Welsh Government’s Net Zero ambition by 2030, we must fully engage the many different types of businesses 
across RCT. We can achieve this by supporting local businesses, particularly small and medium sized enterprises, by helping them 
to develop the skills and knowledge they need to be better prepared to tender for suitable opportunities for Council contracts as 
they arise.  We must also offer support via distributing information on sourcing more sustainable products locally and selling to 
local markets. 

Subgroup Method(s) of Engagement Comms Responsible 
Officer 

General Meetings of Forums: 
Encourage members to include climate change on 

meeting agendas as standard item to stimulate 

discussion via: 

- Town Centre Forums  

- Town Centre Business Improvement 

Districts (BIDs) 

- Chambers of Trade 

- Business Forums 

- Business Improvement Districts 

 

Surveys: 

Raise climate awareness within the business 
community through the distribution of 
information/business surveys as appropriate and 
when available. 
 
Procurement: 
Consistently distribute information on Council 
contracts and sourcing local sustainable 
products. 
  

Communicate/demonstrate how feedback is 
used via social media channels, blogs, 
website info, reports, infographics. 
 
Distribute new information via email when 
available. 

Darren 
Notley/Marc 
Crumbie 

T
udalen 28



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

3. Businesses 

Trading 
Standards 
Networks  

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 

Night-time economy across RCT has a large 
Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic presence e.g. late-
night shops, food business etc.  
 
Trading Standards feed directly into these groups 

so there is opportunity to engage businesses as 

well as our seldom heard residents. 

 

Promotion of the ‘Think Climate’ campaign via 
these networks will aid in spreading climate 
awareness. 
 

Communicate/demonstrate how feedback is 
used via social media channels, blogs, 
website info, reports, infographics. 
 

Judith Parry/ 
Melanie 
Warburton 

Tourism  Climate Events: 
Working with our tourism partners and businesses 
enables us to improve our engagement with 
visitors/tourists in Rhondda Cynon Taf. 
 
For example, being stallholders at Aberdare 
Festival and Big Welsh Bite during the 
summertime. 
 
Procurement: 
Consistently distribute information on Council 
contracts and sourcing local sustainable 
products. 
 

All content generated i.e. videos, photos, 
case studies and further information to be 
captured on tackling climate change and 
tourism website. 
 

Nerys Royal/ 
Scott Treeby 

 

 

T
udalen 29



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

4. Inside the Council 

All our Councillors and staff have a role to play in reducing the Council’s carbon footprint in the decisions they make, the services 
they deliver and by their everyday actions. Many staff will be directly involved in energy saving projects, others will have less 
obvious contributions, but these are as important. As Councillors also represent communities and over 80% of our staff live in RCT 
we can all play a key role in supporting and encouraging climate initiatives across the County Borough. To achieve this we have 
committed to putting in place training and awareness raising, providing opportunities for ongoing climate conversations with staff, 
listening to their views and ideas and reinforcing climate messages through clear and relevant messaging of the Council’s 
commitments.   
 

Subgroup Method(s) of Engagement Comms Responsible 
Officer 

Councillors Climate Conversation: 
It is important for Councillors to continue to champion 
climate related issues in climate related staff events 
and comms, when applicable, to reinforce the 
message that Climate Change is a challenge for all 
levels of staff in Rhondda Cynon Taf. 
 

A similar approach will be taken for staff 
at all levels as it is important that our 
messaging is clear and consistent that 
we must all play our part in tackling 
climate change, leading by example and 
demonstrating to residents that the 
Council is committed to becoming carbon 
neutral by 2030. We can communicate 
this to staff via: 

- RCT Staff Email updates 
- Promote more sustainable 

projects via Council website and 
social media channels  

- Create climate change newsletter 
using information from services. 

- INFORM updates 
(staff/managers) 

- iTrent news updates 
(staff/managers) 

- Manager briefings (managers) 
- Weekly bulletins (councillors) 

Emma Wilkins 

Managers/ 
staff 

Meetings of Forums 
Continue to update and encourage engagement, 
participation and involvement in the Climate 
Conversation via: 

- Staff forums (Green Space) 
- Net Zero events 
 

Training: 
Continue to and improve our current staff training 
opportunities via: 

- Induction training 
- Mandatory e-learning training 
- Climate change bitesize sessions 

 

Lesley 
Lawson/ Dave 
Spencer 

T
udalen 30



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

4. Inside the Council 

Climate Competitions/Events: 
Encourage good practice within teams by 
implementing climate competitions and events i.e. 
active travel to work. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 31



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

5. Third Sector Organisations 

We know there is lots of excellent sustainable and ‘green’ work going on in our communities by volunteers and well-established 
groups, networks and representative bodies. It is important that we recognise how we can best, support these community groups 
and our third sector and community partners to generate the most value from these projects/activities through our services. We 
are committed to working with Third Sector organisations, Neighbourhood Networks and other partners to maximise our collective 
resources to achieve a Carbon Neutral County Borough.  Our ongoing climate conversation will maximise the information sharing 
and engagement opportunities already in place and seek to learn from community experts.  
 
It is essential that the Council engage with community groups via our third sector partners keeping our messaging and purpose 
clear, open, transparent, and consistent in order to work cohesively and constructively across the County Borough. 
 

Subgroup Method(s) of Engagement Comms Responsible 
Officer 

Third sector 
Networks e.g. 
Interlink/ 
Connect RCT 

Promote Ongoing Work:  
‘Connect RCT’ already run climate change 
focussed events/ workshops such as information 
talks, organised litter picks, growing, repair shop 
days, environment walks etc. Interlink has a large 
‘reach’ when promoting wellbeing and 
volunteering and enable the Council to run events 
through RCT Connect where there already 
engaged community members. 
 

Drive engagement via media streams, 
promoting work that is already happening 
with the aim to increase volunteering: 
- include community events on ‘Let’s Talk 

Climate Change’ calendar 
- social media channels include CTA (Call 

To Action) 
- staff email 
- promote Interlink Newsletter that will 

contain information around events 

Simon 
James 

Neighbourhood 
Networks 

Digital/Standard Materials/Survey: 
Neighbourhood Networks are Council ‘managed’ 
networks that have Climate Change as a standing 
item on their meeting agendas.  
 
This access allows us to provide surveys and 
information directly to the groups for their 
consideration.  This consideration will, in turn, 
provide the opportunity for comprehensive 

Communicate/demonstrate how feedback is 
used via social media channels, blogs, 
website info, reports, infographics. 
 

Deb Hanney/ 
Lynne 
Williams  

T
udalen 32



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

5. Third Sector Organisations 

feedback and challenge, and a clear 
understanding of the barriers for residents and 
community groups focused on green activity. 
 
Promotion of the Think Climate campaign via 
these networks will aid in spreading climate 
awareness. 
 

Sustainable 
Food Network 
(SFN) 

Promote Ongoing Work: 
Use digital and face-to-face methods of 
communication to involve residents in the 
various different food networks, projects and 
groups as listed below: 
 
Sustainable Food Network (SFN) 
- ‘Community Growers’ meet quarterly to share 

projects. 
- ‘Food Pantry’ meet quarterly to focus on 

community food support and redistributing 
surplus food 

- ‘Big Bocs Bwyd’ meet quarterly to focus on 
food surplus at schools 

 
Land Management 
- Community Agroforestry Mapping 
- Food Growing Feasibility Mapping 
- Land Transfer Signposting Mapping 
 
Food Hub 
Local procurement project to have one central 

Help boost sales of ‘The Vintage Kitchen’ 
through promotion via media channels as 
well as a press release. 
 
SFN aims to reach gold certification long-
term but must reach bronze in the short 
term. This can be achieved through driving 
engagement for networks within SFN: 
- social media channels 
- staff email 
- press release 
- awareness days (e.g., World Food Day – 

Annual/November) 
 
All mapping work are essentially products 
allowing better access and information for 
residents. This is also the case for the Food 
Hub. Upon competition these products can 
be promoted via: 
- social media channels 
- press release 
- awareness days 

Sam Evans 

T
udalen 33



RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

5. Third Sector Organisations 

hub for storing surplus food in the County 
Borough. 
 

Local Nature 
Partnership 

‘Let’s Talk Trees’ Project: 
Engagement page for residents to find 
information and share experiences with trees, as 
well as access to LNP. 
 
Planting/Growing Events: 
Promote events programmes listed on Local 
Nature Partnership website as well as the 
‘Community Growers’ network within SFN. 
 
  
 

The Local Nature Partnership encourages 
residents to take positive action for nature in 
RCT to protect local habitats and species 
and membership is open to everyone. Drive 
volunteering via: 

- awareness days (e.g., World Soil Day – 
Annual/December) 

- include on Council climate change 
webpage. 

 
 
Use media channels to promote biodiversity 
walk and other climate activities that 
develop 
 

Elizabeth 
Dean 

RCT Climate 
Action Network 

Promote Ongoing Work:  
RCT ‘Climate Action Network’ connects 
community projects focussed on Climate Change  
 
Council needs to be clear on approach to shared 
value with Third Sector; offering our services to 
help community groups grow through the 
networks identified, as well as promoting their 
good work through our media channels. 
 

Use media streams to promote work that is 
already happening, driving engagement and 
more volunteers: 
- include community events on ‘Let’s Talk 

Climate Change’ calendar 
- social media channels include CTA 
- staff email 
- promote information about community 

events across the County Borough by 
distributing the Climate Action Network 
Newsletter  

Dawn Davies 

T
udalen 34

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2WSKWSwW1ss&feature=youtu.be


RCT Climate Change Engagement Plan (2023 – 25) 
 

 

5. Third Sector Organisations 

Promotion of the Think Climate campaign via 
these networks will aid in spreading climate 
awareness. 

 

T
udalen 35



T
udalen w

ag



 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
 

23RD MARCH 2023 
 
 

CORPORATE DECARBONISATION STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE ESTATES IN DISCUSSION WITH 
THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CLIMATE CHANGE AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

 
Author(s):  Anthony Roberts, Head of Energy & Carbon Reduction, and  

Paul Dukes, Principal Carbon Reduction Officer  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to enable Members to consider, review and 
approve the adoption of the draft Corporate ‘Decarbonisation Strategy’ and 
embedded ‘Action Plan’, the aim of which is to provide a clear pathway, with 
defined timescales, to assist the Council in delivering upon its target of 
achieving Carbon Neutral status by 2030.  

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 It is recommended that Members:  
 

2.1  Note and comment upon the contents of this report and the Council’s draft 
Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan (in Appendix 1).  

 

2.2 Consider the draft Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan as providing 
the pathway for the Council to: 

 

a) Meet its stated carbon reduction targets as published in the Council’s 
Climate Change Strategy 2022-2025  
 

b) Contribute in response to the nationally declared climate and nature 
emergencies.  

 

2.3  Agree to maintain and prioritise the Decarbonisation debate, to increase 
and/or vary the speed and scope of the Council’s Decarbonisation work, and 
to recognise the need for all stakeholders to work together to make a positive 
difference.  

 

2.4 Agree to receive regular updates on progress and to amend the action plan 
as appropriate to ensure we remain on target to meet our ambitions.  
  

Tudalen 37

Agendwm 4



  

 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1  To provide a clear pathway and defined timescales to enable the Council to 
become Carbon Neutral by 2030 and to encourage the County Borough to 
move as close as practicable towards the Carbon Neutral ambition, by the 
same date.  

 

3.2  To contribute towards the Welsh Government’s carbon ambitions for a NZ 
public sector by 2030 and the target of a Net Zero Wales by 2050.  

 
 
 
4. BACKGROUND 
 

4.1  In 2017, the Welsh Government set out its own carbon reduction ambitions 
for the public sector by 2030 and this is reflected by RCTCBC’s own carbon 
neutral commitments that are reflected in the Council’s Climate Change 
Strategy 2022-2025 (see 4.5 below).   

 

4.2  The Council has made progress in many aspects of its work, to adapt to and 
mitigate the effects of Climate Change, including a reduction in the Council’s 
Carbon Footprint of around 1,200tCO2e in 2021/22 from the equivalent 
2019/20 baseline (the effects the ‘Covid-19 Pandemic’ mean that the data for 

2020/21 has been set aside for the purposes of this report).  
 

4.3 Over the past three years, the Council have calculated and reported its 
carbon emissions, under the Welsh Government Public Sector Net Zero 
Reporting Scheme. The annual reporting process has provided insight into 
the emissions profile of the Council’s operations and services. The ongoing 
reporting process has developed into a sound basis to inform the 
development of future work to drive the Council’s efforts to become a Carbon 
Neutral Council by 2030.  

 

4.4  In March 2019, the Welsh Government published ‘Prosperity for All: A Low 
Carbon Wales’ which includes Policy 20: To support the public sector to 

baseline, monitor and report progress towards carbon neutrality. Considering 
this, in early 2022, the Council engaged with the Carbon Trust to assist in 
the development of a Corporate Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan 
which are the subject of this report.  

 

4.5 The draft Strategy and Action Plan was developed, with assistance from the 
Carbon Trust, and is designed to deliver results on commitments made 
within the Council’s Climate Change Strategy 2022-2025 (also referred to as 

the ‘CCS’ or ‘Think Climate RCT’). Whilst the CCS is a County Borough-wide 
Strategy, the targets and ambitions identified therein are cross referenced 
within the Action Plan that is included in the Corporate Decarbonisation 
Strategy, and it is intended that the ambitions of Corporate Decarbonisation 
Strategy will help underpin and support the wider ambitions of the CCS.  

 
  

Tudalen 38



  

5. THE DEVELOPMENT PROCESS 
 

5.1 The Council’s Decarbonisation Strategy (as set out in Appendix 1) seeks to 
provide a strategic overview of the key priority areas for action across all 
Council Service Areas. This plan will guide future policy direction and set out 
clear measures to aid the Council in delivering upon its targets and 
ambitions as laid out in the Climate Change Strategy 2022-2025.  

 

          The purpose of the Strategy is to set out specific, high reaching actions to:  
 

• Reduce the Council’s operational emissions, i.e. emissions 
generated from buildings, transport and staff vehicle use. 

• Reduce the Council’s supply chain emissions, i.e. emissions 
generated from the Council procurement of goods and services. 

• Maximise Council land use for its sequestration potential and the self-
generation of renewable electricity.  

 

5.2 The Strategy is built upon the four priority areas for decarbonisation, namely, 
Transport, Buildings, Supply Chain & Land Use, as set out in Welsh 
Government’s ‘Net Zero Carbon Status by 2030: A Public Sector Route 
Map’. Informed by this, the Decarbonisation Strategy has presented key 
headline commitments to drive decarbonisation up to 2030. The 
commitments are Council specific and are aligned with those set out in the 
Climate Change Strategy.  

 

5.3 The Strategy has been developed collaboratively with support across 
multiple service areas. A series of workshops were held with Officers from 
across the Council, focussed around the four stated categories. The 
workshops provided an opportunity for Service Areas to promote their 
current and ongoing carbon reduction measures and identify / assess the 
feasibility of further interventions that could be taken forward in support of 
decarbonising the Council’s services and operations.  

 

5.4 It was clear from the workshop feedback that we need to do more, and at 
pace, to make sure that all our services and all our staff are contributing to 
reducing carbon emissions across all aspects of the Council’s business, so 
that every aspect of our work contributes to the reductions in the Council’s 
Carbon Footprint. 

 

5.5 Utilising 2019/20 as the baseline year, a range of pathway modelling 
scenarios were predicted, using the Science Based Target initiative 
methodology (SBTi), and are presented to highlight the Council’s expected 
emissions trajectory, from 2019 through to 2030.  

 

5.6 The Strategy looks at a range of emissions pathways, that have been 
modelled to represent the range of options considered achievable to meet 
what can be foreseen as ‘a scale for Carbon Neutrality’. 

 

5.7 In consideration of this initial assessment, we will need to closely monitor 
our performance, with the Plan being considered for use as a ‘live 
document’, which will be updated regularly. This will give the opportunity to 
assess the scale of action with each review and allow for the action plan to 
be updated, to take account of improvements in future technologies and 
enhanced methods of delivery.  

  

Tudalen 39



  

 

5.9 The pathway modelling underscores the scale of the challenge ahead. The 
Actions contained within the Strategy’s ‘Action Plan’ are thus of paramount 
importance in driving the Council’s efforts to meet the 2030 targets. 
Likewise, the ‘Action Plan’ covers the overarching strategic aims for each of 
the four themes. The Plan categorises actions into those that should be 
achieved in the near-term (i.e. to the end of calendar year 2025) and further 
ambitions that should be achieved over the longer-term (i.e. out to the target 

of 2030). As with the Strategy’s development, the Actions contained therein 
are cross-service related and will require adoption by each Service Area, as 
required.  

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 

6.1 A Socio-Economic Impact Assessment has been completed and the main 
considerations are listed below. 

 

6.2 Under the Equality Duty (set out in the Equality Act 2010), local authorities 
are required to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, as well as to advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not.  

 

6.3 In line with the Equality Act 2010, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council is committed to working towards achieving the Well-Being goal of a 
more equal Wales, as set out by the Well-Being of Future Generations Act 
(also refer to item 12), and ensuring equal access to its services and 
opportunities, no matter background or circumstance.  

 

6.4 The Decarbonisation Strategy will aim to support the alleviation of poverty 
and deprivation, improve access to employment opportunities, improve 
access to skills and to develop improved infrastructure and healthier 
communities. The Council will ensure that decisions taken in support of the 
Decarbonisation Agenda will advocate for disability and accessibility equality 
in the roll out of related works, in line with the Council’s Equality and Diversity 
Policy.  

 
 
7. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1  A Welsh Language Impact Assessment has been completed and the main 
considerations are listed below. 

 

7.2 Public bodies must work to achieve all seven well-being goals put in place 
by the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (also refer to item 12), with 
achieving a Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language being one of the 
seven goals. The Welsh Government’s ambition is to see the number of 
people able to enjoy speaking and using the Welsh language to reach a 
million by the year 2050, for further information see the Cymraeg 2050 
Welsh Language Strategy. The Council intends to support this ambition by 
providing the conditions to facilitate an increase in the use of the Welsh 
Language. 

  

Tudalen 40



  

 
 
 

7.3 Under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, RCTCBC has a duty to 
comply with specific standards in respect of the delivery of Welsh language 
services. To ensure that we meet the requirements of the Measure, we have 
undertaken a Welsh Language Impact Assessment to assess the likely 
effects of the Decarbonisation Strategy on the Welsh language, both within 
our workforce and in the community, so that we can mitigate any negative 
impacts and enhance the positive impacts.  

 

7.4 The Council will ensure that decisions taken in support of decarbonisation 
will support the aims and ambitions of the Council’s Welsh Language 
Promotional Strategy.  

 

7.5 Due to the high level and diverse nature of the Decarbonisation Strategy & 
Action Plan, assessing the detail of the likely effects of the strategy for staff 
and potentially residents on Welsh Language will be further addressed in 
implementations that are undertaken to deliver the actions required to meet 
the Council’s decarbonisation ambitions.  

 
 
8. CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 The intent of this report is in furthering the ambitions for the Council’s 
Climate Change Agenda, and if the potential as described herein and 
contained in the Appendix is realised, the outcomes could deliver a 
significant contribution towards tackling climate change.  

 
 
9. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT 
 

9.1  Workshops have been held with key officers across the Council to help 
develop and inform the draft Strategy and Action Plan. The draft Strategy 
and Action Plan was also presented to the Senior Leadership Team on 11th 
January 2023 for their comments and endorsement. 

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

10.1  The costs for engaging The Carbon Trust to help develop the 
Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan have been meet from within 
existing budgets. 

 

10.2  It is recommended, that moving forward, an agreed programme of work to 
deliver the Council’s Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan should be 
incorporated into Medium Term Financial Planning arrangements to ensure 
resource requirements are reviewed, challenged, and projected for.  

 
  

Tudalen 41



  

11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 

11.1 There are no legal implications aligned to this report. 
 
 
12. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 

12.1  The purpose of this report is to provide an update relating to the progress of 
the development of the Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan as it 
relates to the work of the Climate Change Cabinet Sub Committee.   

 

12.2  The Council’s commitment to the sustainable development principle of 
taking decisions that meet our current needs, without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs, across the four aspects 
of Well-being of Wales described in the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act, i.e. economic, social, environmental, and cultural well-being. 

 

12.3 This report reflects the Sustainable Development principles of the Well-
being of Future Generations Act. The actions that arise because of the future 
recommendations of the Climate Change Cabinet Sub Committee will be 
considered by the Council’s Cabinet and it will take full regard to the seven 
national Wellbeing Goals.  

 
 
13. CONCLUSION 
 

13.1  In its published Climate Change Strategy, the Council has set the ambitious 
target to become a Carbon Neutral Council by 2030, and for the County 
Borough to be as near to Carbon Neutral as possible by the same date. The 
attached draft Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan provide a clear 
pathway, and defined timescales, to empower the Council to make 
substantial progress towards achieving its own stated 2030 targets as well 
as contributing towards the Welsh Government’s carbon reduction 
ambitions.  

 

13.2  Achieving the 2030 carbon targets will require all stakeholders, and the 
communities of Rhondda Cynon Taf, to work together. The Corporate 
Decarbonisation Strategy and Action Plan encourages collaborative action, 
which will be essential in achieving the targets set out.  

 
 
Contact Officers:    Anthony Roberts  01443 281146     and  
     Paul Dukes  01443 281186 
 
 

 

Appendix ‘1’  
 

The ‘Draft’ Corporate ‘Decarbonisation Strategy’ and accompanying ‘Action Plan’ 
 
…….. follows on the next page. 

Tudalen 42



 

 

 

 

 

 

Decarbonisation Strategy (2023 – 2025) 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

March 2023  

 

 

 

T
udalen 43



 

 

 

 

 

 

Authors:  

Claire Parkinson Manager Claire.Parkinson@carbontrust.com 

Eleanor Grose Senior Analyst Eleanor.Grose@carbontrust.com 

Reviewed by:  

David 

Powlesland 
Associate Director David.Powlesland@carbontrust.com  

Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its agents, 

contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or omissions. Any 

trademarks, service marks or logos used in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust. Nothing in this publication shall be 

construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, service marks, logos, copyright or any proprietary information in any way 

without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual property rights to the full extent permitted by law.  

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under Company number 04190230 with its Registered Office at: 

Level 5, Arbor, 255 Blackfriars Road, London SE1 9AX, UK. 

© The Carbon Trust 2023. All rights reserved.  

Published in the UK: 2023. 

 

The Carbon Trust’s mission is to  
accelerate the move to a decarbonised future. 

T
udalen 44

mailto:Claire.Parkinson@carbontrust.com
mailto:Eleanor.Grose@carbontrust.com
mailto:David.Powlesland@carbontrust.com


 

1 

Contents 

 

1. Executive Summary ........................................................................................................ 2 

2. Introduction and context ................................................................................................. 7 

3. Action Plan .................................................................................................................... 12 

4. Net zero target ............................................................................................................... 31 

5. Enablers and resources ................................................................................................ 38 

6. Governance approach ................................................................................................... 43 

7. Route Map Timeline ....................................................................................................... 45 

Appendices ........................................................................................................................ 46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 45



 

2 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1. Ambition 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (RCTCBC) is committed to 

supporting the Welsh Government’s target of a net zero public sector by 

2030. The Council has now set its target to align with the Science Based 

Target Initiative’s net zero definition to mitigate at least 90% of Council 

emissions by 2030, and balance residual emissions with greenhouse gas 

(GHG) removals.  

By working across the Council’s internal operations, staff in all departments 

can play their part in reducing emissions both in their work and by 

supporting carbon reduction initiatives. Emissions from the supply chain will 

be tackled by continuing the ongoing engagement with suppliers and 

working in partnership to calculate the carbon impact of goods and services 

provided to the Council. 

The Council has a large portfolio of land assets in its ownership and has 

developed plans to increase the amount of carbon dioxide this land 

sequesters. By improving the quality of peatland and quantity of woodland, 

and increasing the amount of renewable energy generated on this land 

through large scale wind and solar farms, the Council aims to balance its 

residual emissions. 

The scale of the challenge to achieve net zero should not be 

underestimated, and even with the carbon reductions the Council has 

already achieved and projects we plan to implement in the next decade, 

more still needs to be done to reach the target. The Council plans to reduce 

emissions through energy efficiency measures, switching to low carbon 

transport and heating, and increasing the amount of energy generated and 

carbon sequestered on its land. The Action Plan within this Strategy states 

clear actions for the next few years and the longer-term ambitions which 

give direction for the longer term. The Action Plan will be used as a live 

document which will be updated regularly, and the scale of action increased 

with each review. 

1.2. Carbon footprint 

The Council’s carbon footprint as reported in the Welsh Government Public 

Sector Net Zero Reporting (Net Zero Reporting) has been used within this 

Strategy. Emissions for the baseline year of 2019/20 were 125,702 tCO2e. 

The Net Zero Reporting approach has evolved over in recent years, with the 

scope increased to include homeworking and staff commuting. Over the 

three years since the baseline, emissions of the Council have dropped, with 

a significant dip in 2020/21 due to the Covid-19 pandemic. In particular, 

2020/21 saw reduced commuting and business travel, and reduced carbon 

intensity of purchased goods & services (e.g. less construction procured 

goods). Emissions for 2021/22 were 120,907 tCO2e, with renewable energy 

use equivalent to 7,439 tCO2e. 

 

RCTCBC 2019/20 

Carbon Footprint 

Baseline 

Operational 

emissions 

Supply chain 

emissions 

34,528 tCO2e 91,174 tCO2e 

T
udalen 46



 

3 

1.3. Pathway scenarios 

To better understand the Council’s emissions pathway, the carbon footprint 

has been separated into Operational emissions, Supply chain impacts, and 

Land Use & Renewables contributions. 

A range of pathways have been modelled from the baseline 2019/20 carbon 

footprint; these consider the future expected carbon intensity of the 

electricity grid. Trajectories to 2030 have been developed for Business As 

Usual, and an expected pathway range (high/low intervention scenarios) is 

based on the initiatives within the Action Plan. Using the Science Based 

Target initiative (SBTi), a net zero target is shown as a 90% reduction on 

the 2019/20 baseline. 

As can be seen in the operational emissions pathway, even after the 

actions planned and the grid decarbonisation have been accounted for, 

there is still a gap to target to achieve net zero emissions in 2030.  

2030 Emissions 

In 2030: 

• The operational emission pathway estimates 11,949 tCO2e residual 

emissions – this does not meet the 90% mitigation target of     

3,453 tCO2e; this demonstrated the challenge to meet net zero and 

the need to do more to bridge the gap 

• The supply chain will be engaged and able to accurately report on 

their emissions contributions – this will allow the supply chain 

emissions pathway and target to be updated 

• Renewable energy generation capacity is targeted to be over 

20MW 

 

Operational emissions 

Operations emissions are attributed to heat and electricity use in buildings 

and streetlighting, fuel use from owned fleet and business travel, and 

commuting and homeworking apportioned emissions. These are all Scope 1 

& 2 emissions, with selected Scope 3 emissions where there is operational 

control (e.g. business travel, upstream energy). 

 

T
udalen 47



 

4 

 

 

Supply Chain 

Supply chain emissions are indirect Scope 3 emissions associated with 

purchasing goods, services and capital assets. 

The supply chain emissions pathway is highly estimated, with the baseline 

footprint data calculated from procurement spend data rather than supplier 

specific emissions. The approach, footprint, and pathway will evolve in the 

coming years as data improves – this is expected to include a baseline 

adjustment and re-targeting for 2030. 

 

Land Use & Renewables 

Through dual reporting, the Council’s wider efforts for decarbonisation can 

be reported alongside the carbon footprint. This includes active GHG 

removals from sequestration (e.g. peatland restoration), and grid-connected 

renewable power generation schemes.  

T
udalen 48



 

5 

1.4. Headline Aims 

There are 46 initiatives within the Action Plan; to summarise these, the 

following headline aims up to 2030 have been drawn out. 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 

Buildings 

• Improve energy efficiency of all buildings 

• Maximise renewable energy generation and low 

carbon heating across the estate 

Transport 

• Increase the number of electric vehicles in the 

Council fleet 

• Ensure that over half of all journeys are taken by 

public transport, bike or walking, or by electric 

vehicles 

 

S
U

P
P

L
Y

 C
H

A
IN

 

Goods & 

Services 

• Improve carbon accounting for all purchased 

goods, services and construction 

• Only procure supplies and services from 

businesses that are striving to reduce their carbon 

emissions and, in doing so, actively support low 

carbon and local suppliers as part of our wider 

transition to net zero 

Capital 

Assets 

• Work with key suppliers to evaluate and reduce 

emissions from building and infrastructure 

projects 

 

 

The emissions pathways set the expected operational, supply chain and 

avoided emissions as follows. Where there is an emissions pathway ‘range’ 

– the higher scale of delivery / intervention has been used. For both 2025 

and 2030, the expected pathway is above the net zero target line.  

 

 
L

A
N

D
 U

S
E

 &
 

R
E

N
E

W
A

B
L

E
S

 

Sequestratio

n 

• Assess the condition of peatlands across the 

county and rewet where required to improve 

quality of land 

• Encourage natural regeneration and increase 

afforestation of woodland and hedgerows 

Renewables 

• Increase renewable energy generated from 

Council land and buildings from the 2021/22 

baseline (2MW) to 20MW by 2025 

RCTCBC emission pathway 2025 2030 

Operational emissions 26,354 tCO2e 11,949 tCO2e 

Supply chain emissions 52,808 tCO2e 39,759 tCO2e 

Total GHG removals and avoided 

emissions 
-1,644 tCO2e -5,220 tCO2e 

T
udalen 49



 

6 

1.5. Next Steps 

A visual timeline of action is shown by the route map below, with an interim date of the end of 2025 set to align with the next Welsh carbon budget. By 2030, 

RCTCBC aims to meet the SBTi’s definition of net zero for their operational emissions. 

This Strategy will undergo a review process in 2025 to re-assess the Action Plan progress and the pathway. This review will enable consideration to be given to 

the technological advancements which will assist decarbonisation progress, and reduce any reliance on offsetting to achieve net zero.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2023 

2024 

2025 2030 

LED lighting  

Remaining 

inefficient lighting 

upgraded 

ULEV vehicles 
 

All new cars and 

LGVs to be ultra-low 

emission 

EV charge points 
 

Charge points installed 

at key premises 

Active travel 
 

50% of all 

journeys are on 

foot, bike or public 

transport 

Supplier Carbon 

Footprints 
 

Tool available for all 

large contracted 

suppliers 

Low Carbon 

Heating 
 

Programme of low 

carbon heating projects 

created 

Rooftop PV 
 

All viable buildings to 

have PV arrays 

installed 

Climate friendly meals 
 

Increase meal options 

offered by Council in 

schools, care homes and 

offices 

Renewable energy 
 

Increase energy 

generated from Council 

land and buildings to 

20MW 

Map land use 
 

Map and review the 

land over 10 ha, 

identifying woodland 

and peatland 

Staff awareness 
 

Develop training for all 

staff to increase 

knowledge of actions 

Footprint contracts 

 

Accurately measure 

carbon footprint of 

purchased goods and 

services 

Net Zero 

buildings 
 

All new and 

refurbished buildings 

are net zero 

Rhondda 

Cynon Taf 

County 

Borough 

Council 

Tree Strategy  
 

Land management 

operations 

informed by the 

strategy 

Local 

Development Plan 
 

Climate change 

mitigation and 

adaptation is central 

T
udalen 50



 

7 

2. Introduction and context 

2.1. Drivers for decarbonisation 

Wales and Welsh Government legislation 

Wales has been at the forefront of environmental, social and governance 

improvements, accounting for the impact climate change will have on future 

generations and enshrining in law mitigation and adaptation measures to 

reduce the worst consequences of global heating.  

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, 2015, requires public 

bodies listed in the Act to work together to improve the “social, economic, 

environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales.” The Act sets out seven 

well-being goals, with the aim of addressing several challenges including 

climate change to ensure that future generations have a good quality of life.  

The Environment (Wales) Act, 2016, promotes the sustainable 

management of natural resources in Wales, balancing the competing 

priorities of building the necessary infrastructure and protecting vital 

ecosystems. The Act requires Welsh Ministers to set decarbonisation 

targets and carbon budgets - an essential first step in reducing greenhouse 

gas emissions. The revision to the Act (Amendment of 2050 Emissions 

Target) Regulations 2021, sets the target for Wales to achieve net zero by 

2050. 

In 2019, Welsh Ministers and the Senedd declared a climate emergency, 

reaffirming Wales’ commitment and determination to tackle the climate 

crisis. Subsequently, the Welsh Government published Prosperity for All: 

A Climate Conscious Wales – a climate change adaptation plan which 

outlines policies and proposals for decarbonisation to meet the goals of the 

first carbon budget. 

To achieve net zero by 2050, a series of 5-year carbon budgets between 

2016 and 2050 have been agreed upon by the Welsh Government in Net 

Zero Wales: Carbon Budget 2, published in 2021. This outlines 123 

policies and proposals to meet the second of these carbon budgets (2021-

2025), by reducing the required 37% of emissions compared to the second 

carbon budget baseline. 

Net Zero Wales also commits the public sector to achieve net zero by 

2030. In line with this commitment, the Welsh Government Net Zero 

Strategic Plan (2022) sets the approach for their own operational and 

supply chain emissions. Welsh Government also have modelled their 

pathway to fall short of a net zero 90% minimum mitigation – this further 

demonstrates the challenge to meet net zero, and the need to maximise 

delivery and further develop the approach to bridge the gap. 

Welsh ministers have the ambition for public bodies and community 

enterprises in Wales to develop over 100MW of new renewable capacity by 

2026. They also have the aim for 1GW of electricity generated in Wales to 

be locally owned by 2030, and for all new energy developments to have an 

element of local ownership.  

Regional and local area energy planning 

Collaboration will form a key part in achieving the Council's and the 

Government’s ambitions for net zero. RCTCBC, along with nine 

neighbouring local authority areas form the Cardiff Capital Region. The 

Cardiff Capital Region Energy Strategy, supported by the Welsh 

T
udalen 51



 

8 

Government Energy Service, sets the strategic approach to deliver on the 

region’s ambitions for decarbonising its energy system. The Council is now 

developing its Local Area Energy Plan to identify projects and target 

development priorities for local net zero energy. 

RCTCBC corporate policies 

RCTCBC have committed to becoming net zero in their Corporate Plan 

2020-24 ‘Making a difference’. The Corporate Plan acknowledges that 

delivering our Climate Change commitment is one of the greatest 

challenges the Council faces. The Corporate Plan commits to delivering 

three main priorities, all of which will contribute to and benefit from tackling 

climate change:  

The Council's asset strategy is set out in the Corporate Asset 

Management Plan for Property Assets for 2018/2023 and incorporates 

initiatives for energy efficiency and estate rationalisation which benefit 

carbon emissions. 

The internal Carbon Reduction Programme for FY2022/23 is part of an 

annual planning cycle that has been in place for over a decade. This yearly 

investment programme ensures sustained momentum and a protected 

budget for energy and carbon reduction. 

The most recent revisions to the Procurement Strategy 2021-24 have 

included a raft of measures around understanding and measuring carbon 

emissions in the supply chain. One of its key projects has been to engage 

with suppliers to improve product and service carbon footprinting. 

The Council have developed an Energy Management Strategy which sets 

out measures staff and Building Managers should follow in Council 

buildings, in relation to heating and cooling temperatures.  

The Council have developed numerous policies and schemes to promote 

the Sustainable Transport Hierarchy including: 

• The Cycle 2 Work scheme  

• Car Salary Sacrifice Scheme including electric vehicle leasing 

• Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy 

• Active Travel scheme 

RCT County Borough-wide policies 

The Council have ambitions for the whole of RCT county borough to 

become net zero soon after 2030 and has recently published their 

overarching Climate Change Strategy ‘Think Climate RCT’ (2022) which 

shows the Council’s position on their own internal and County Borough-

wide carbon emissions. This county borough strategy sets initiatives and 

commitments for RCTCBC as an organisation which have been taken 

forward to align with this Strategy. 

The Climate change engagement plan is the communications strategy for 

the whole county borough. As the majority of RCTCBC staff (79%) also live 

in the county, this strategy will be relevant to them. 

RCTCBC’s priorities for 2020 - 2024 

T
udalen 52

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/TendersandProcurement/RelatedDocuments/ProcurementStrategy20212024.pdf
https://rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf


 

9 

2.2. Carbon neutral and net zero 

Previously, RCTCBC committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2030. 

However, net zero is considered the more ambitious target and is the one 

set by Welsh Government for the public sector. The technical definition of 

net zero is still emerging, however, Welsh Government has utilised the SBTi 

definition within their Net Zero Strategic Plan. 

The main difference between net zero and carbon neutral, based on 

common definitions as set out below, is the approach to residual emissions 

and offsetting.  

Carbon neutral covers Scope 1 and 2 (operational emissions) 

and is covered by the PAS2060 standard. There is no 

requirement for a defined reduction target, with neutrality 

achieved by offsetting greenhouse gas emissions. 

Net zero, as defined by the Science Based Targets initiative 

(SBTi), covers Scopes 1, 2 and 3 and demands emissions 

reductions in line with limiting global heating to 1.5°C. 

Furthermore, 90% of the baseline footprint must be reduced 

with only 10% of the baseline footprint being removed through GHG 

removals. 

 

2.3. Council operations 

The scale of the Council's operations can be defined as follows, with figures 

correct as of August 2022. 

 

2.4. RCTCBC recent progress 

Energy efficiency and renewables 

RCTCBC is strongly committed to understanding and reducing its carbon 

emissions, spending almost £10 million on energy conservation projects 

since 2009. As a result, all streetlights in RCT have been converted to LED 

or equivalent, saving 84% of the reported carbon; energy efficient lighting 

has been installed in over 805 council-owned buildings; 2MW of roof-

mounted solar arrays have been installed on schools and corporate 

buildings; innovative hydrogen fuel cells have been installed in sites 

throughout RCT; and 100% of RCTCBC’s electrical energy supply comes 

from renewable sources.  

T
udalen 53



 

10 

At Taff’s Well Thermal Spring, two heat pumps have been installed to 

provide low carbon heat for the nearby Taff’s Well Park Pavilion and local 

Ffynnon Taf Primary School.  

In addition, so far, two viable hydro schemes have been identified and are 

currently being considered by the Climate Change Cabinet Sub-committee. 

Transport 

This year, the Council published its Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles (ULEV) 

Transition Plan, to outline the Council's plan to transition 293 fleet vehicles 

from Internal Combustion Engine (ICE) to Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles 

(ULEV) over the next six years. This report sits alongside a fleet review, 

grey fleet review, and EV charging infrastructure report, all of which were 

produced for RCTCBC by the Welsh Government Energy Service. 

A pilot has been introduced in the social care sector to transition to a fleet 

of electric vehicles.  

Furthermore, RCTCBC is currently trialling the use of hydrotreated 

vegetable oil (HVO), sometimes known as renewable diesel, for their fleet. 

A report will be developed in due course to summarise the findings. 

Procurement of goods and services 

In order to decarbonise the Council’s supply chain, RCTCBC’s standard 

procurement documents have been updated to reflect the increased interest 

in reporting emissions and standard sustainability questions are now asked 

during all tender exercises.  

The Contract Strategy template document (which gets populated prior to 

any work taking place) has also been updated and will require each service 

area that wishes to procure goods or services to show that the carbon 

impact of their purchase has been considered. 

RCTCBC are developing a first-of-its-kind, simple toolkit for suppliers to 

report the carbon footprint of their goods and services, which has garnered 

much interest from the Welsh Local Government Association, Business 

Wales and the Welsh Government. In the meantime, the Welsh 

Government's Sustainable Risk Assessment Toolkit will be used for 

upcoming Transport and Social Care contracts. 

Land use, tree planting and nature 

The RCT county borough has one of the highest percentages of tree 

coverage in Great Britain. 

RCTCBC are delivering both tree planting in rural and urban areas, and 

natural tree regeneration to increase carbon sequestration, among other 

co-benefits, in the county. In 2022, the Council spent £100,000 on tree 

planting, which is due to increase this year. 

An audit is being undertaken to understand the speed of natural 

regeneration based on a 2009 baseline. It will only include patches of land 

over 10 hectares, in line with the Welsh Government Net Zero Reporting 

requirements. This also sets the threshold to define ‘woodland’ as land with 

over 20% tree coverage. 

A study of peatland conditions is also ongoing, supported by a grant from 

Natural Resource Wales awarded in September 2022, to analyse the 

potential for peatland restoration. This includes a feasibility project at 

Cwmparc, to be complete in 2023.  To raise public awareness of the 

Council’s natural resources, RCTCBC has produced webpages including, 

Let’s Talk Trees, Let’s Talk Nature, and Let’s Talk Wildflowers.

T
udalen 54

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36719/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36719/Report.pdf?LLL=0


 

11 

2.5. Carbon footprint and baseline 

The baseline year for the Council is the financial year 2019/20; this aligns 

with the Welsh Government’s initial commitment to a net zero public sector, 

and the first year of Net Zero Reporting. The carbon footprint has been 

separated into Operational emissions (Scope 1-3 directly controlled), 

Supply Chain impacts (indirectly controlled), and Land Use & Renewables 

contributions (GHG removal and avoided emissions). 

RCTCBC’s baseline carbon footprint for 2019/20 was 125,702 tCO2e. 

Considering REGO certified electricity, exported renewables and land-

based sequestration (9,180 tCO2e), the net emissions were 113,721 tCO2e.  

Operational emissions represent 31% of RCTCBC’s total emissions with 

17% of the footprint arising from emissions from building use (primarily gas 

and electricity) and 10% of the footprint arising from emissions from 

transport. 

Emissions from the supply chain account for 69% of the total footprint. 

Emissions from procured goods and services have been calculated using 

economic proxy factors to calculate emissions based on spend data. This is 

a highly estimated approach and there is a need to engage suppliers and 

increase the accuracy of future supply chain emission accounting. 

Emissions for the previous two reporting years are shown alongside the 

baseline. Retrospective adjustments have been made to the baseline year 

and 2020/21 to account for homeworking and staff commuting which was 

added to the scope of Net Zero Reporting in 2022. 

Further details on the carbon footprints can be found online and in the 

Welsh Government Public Sector Net Zero Reporting. 

 

T
udalen 55

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s31809/Appendix%20A.pdf?LLL=0


 

12 

3. Action Plan 

This section of the Strategy forms the ‘Action Plan’ for RCTCBC. This forms 

the basis of a live document which will be reviewed and updated as actions 

are achieved and stages completed. The Action Plan includes: 

• overarching strategic aims for each theme; 

• near-term actions to the end of 2024/25; and,  

• longer-term ambitions to 2030.  

The carbon impact in 2030 uses the Future Energy Scenario’s Falling Short 

pathway for the carbon intensity of the electricity grid, a conservative 

pathway for emissions modelling.  

An asterisk next to an action indicates that it was inspired by, or drawn 

directly from, RCTCBC’s Think Climate strategy: Making Rhondda Cynon 

Taf Carbon Neutral by 2030. For the exact page reference, see Appendix 4.  

The Action Plan is structured into the three emission pathway areas and 

their main related themes. Initiatives have been codified within the Action 

Plan table, and broadly prioritised over the next three years. The table 

shows the structure of the Action Plan initiatives, and an outline estimate of 

timescales.   

* Note that highlighted initiatives and commitments are linked back to 

Climate Change Strategy ‘Think Climate RCT’ 

 

 

 

 

 

 2023 2024 2025 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 

Buildings B2  B6 B3  B13 

B1  B4  B5  

B7 B8  B9  

B10 B11  B12 

Transport  T6 

T1  T2  T2  

T3  T4  T7  

T8  T9  T10 

S
U

P
P

L
Y

 C
H

A
IN

 

Goods & 

Services 

S1  S2  S3  

S4  S6  S7 
S5  S8 S9  S10 

L
A

N
D

 U
S

E
 &

 

R
E

N
E

W
A

B
L

E
S

 

Sequestration L1  L4  L8 L2  L5 L3  L6  L7  L9 

Renewables   R1  R2  R3  R4 

 

 

T
udalen 56

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf
https://rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf


 

13 

3.1. Operational  

Buildings 

This emissions category includes all buildings owned by RCT Council, whether operated by the Council or leased to a third party. Building emissions arise from 

the use of heating fuels (natural gas and LPG), electricity, and water consumption. In the financial year 2021/22, emissions from buildings account for 18% of 

RCTCBC’s total carbon footprint.  

 

Aims: 

1. Improve energy efficiency of all buildings 

2. Maximise renewable energy generation and low carbon heating across the estate 

Ambitions to 2030 

• By 2030, all buildings will have an energy efficiency equivalent to DEC rating of B. 

• By 2030, rooftop PV will be installed on all viable buildings. 

• Further develop the use of hydrogen for fuel cells in Council buildings (and vehicles), as part of the hydrogen economy development. [* Think Climate, 

page 5] 

• Work with third-sector organisations to ensure the sustainability of community facilities/venues in RCTCBC (EPC B by 2030), reduce the impact of rising 

energy prices and improve energy efficiency. This includes Council buildings leased to third-sector groups. [* Think Climate, page 16] 

• Complete all new builds and refurbishments for the Council's building estate in line with net zero standards by 2030, through the Sustainable 

Communities for Learning programme where applicable, and aim for low carbon heating systems. 

 

T
udalen 57



 

14 

Actions out to March 2025 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date (FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

2030 Carbon 

reduction  

B1 

Where appropriate, upgrade the remaining inefficient lighting to LED 2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates 

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal 405 tCO2e 

B2 

Create a programme for low carbon heat projects, prioritising LPG-fired, 

failing and inefficient boilers, and leased buildings *  

2023 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates 

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

n/a n/a 

B3 

Develop costed proposals for low carbon heat projects to install in 2023/24 

as further funding becomes available. Focus on high carbon emitters and 

sites with existing underfloor heating * 

2024 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates 

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

n/a n/a 

B4 

Install low carbon heat projects developed as a result of actions B2 and B3 2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates 

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal, 

UK 

7,460 tCO2e 

B5 

Write a policy outlining the ‘whole building’ approach to maximise energy 

efficiency – look at insulation improvements when carrying out other 

works, fabric first, following CIBSE AM17 best practice for heat pumps. 

This could form part of the Energy Management Strategy update, with the 

inclusion of a more specific policy to follow. 

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates 

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal n/a 

T
udalen 58



 

15 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date (FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

2030 Carbon 

reduction  

B6 

Carry out rooftop solar PV screening for all viable remaining buildings, 

including leased buildings, and create a programme of works *  

2023 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

n/a n/a 

B7 

Install roof mounted solar on viable buildings, including all schools *  2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal, 

Wales 

funding 

216 tCO2e 

B8 

Re-roofing projects to consider installing solar mounts on appropriately 

orientated roofs, ready for PV install at a later date 

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal n/a 

B9 

Optimise property portfolio by reducing the number of Council-owned or 

leased buildings, as more staff move to hybrid working 

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal 2,128 tCO2e 

B10 

Ensure 80% of the energy used at our Bryn Pica Materials Recycling 

Facility comes from renewable sources by 2025 *  

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services 

Service Area: AMGEN 

Internal 32 tCO2e 

B11 

Work with third-sector organisations to ensure the sustainability of 

community facilities/venues in RCTCBC (EPC C by 2025) reduce the 

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal, 

Wales 

funding 

n/a 

T
udalen 59



 

16 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date (FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

2030 Carbon 

reduction  

impact of rising energy prices and improve energy efficiency. This includes 

Council buildings leased to third-sector groups. *  

B12 

Provide training for Building Managers – following on from the Energy 

Policy and previous guidance given to Building Managers 

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate 

Estates 

Internal 388 tCO2e 

B13 

Provide specific training for staff on how to operate and work in their 

buildings efficiently  

2024 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate 

Estates 

Internal 582 tCO2e 

 

  

T
udalen 60



 

17 

Transport 

As of August 2022, the Council operates over 600 vehicles from cars to refuse collection vehicles. Transport emissions arise from vehicles owned by RCT 

Council (also known as fleet vehicles), emissions arising from hired vehicles and business travel in staff own vehicles (grey fleet), as well as emissions from 

employee commuting. Transport emissions account for 8% of the Council’s 2021/22 footprint. 

Aims: 

1. Increase the number of electric vehicles in the Council fleet 

2. Increase journeys taken by public transport, bike or walking, or by electric vehicles 

Ambitions out to 2030 

• In line with Wales’ target for public sector organisations, aim for all our vehicles to be ultra-low emissions vehicles by 2030. [* Think Climate, page 16] 

• By 2030, we will ensure that over 50% of all journeys are taken by public transport, bike or walking, or, where this is not possible, using electric vehicles. 

[* Think Climate, page 9] 

• Electric pool vehicles and charging points are to be available at all Council locations they are needed e.g. depots and main offices. [* Think Climate, 

page 9] 

• Investigate the potential for incorporating hydrogen and biofuel vehicles into the Council’s fleet as they come onto the market, for example, hydrogen 

Refuse Collection Vehicles. [* Think Climate, page 5] 

• Ensure that the transport services we commission, including Home to School, are zero or low carbon where possible. [* Think Climate, page 10] 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 61



 

18 

Actions (out to March 2025) 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date 

(FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

2030 

Carbon 

reductio

n  

T1 

Implement the Council’s Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy and supporting 

Implementation Plan, which will accommodate the transport needs of existing 

and future electric vehicle users across the county borough *  

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate Estates 

Internal, 

UK 

n/a 

T2 

In line with Wales’ target for public sector organisations, aim for all our new 

cars and light goods vehicles to be ultra-low emissions vehicles by 2025 *  

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: Frontline Services  

Internal, 

Wales 

funding 

1,637 

tCO2e 

T3 

Implement the Council’s Fleet Transition Plan including the promotion and 

prioritisation of electric vehicles, with appropriate training for staff 

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: Frontline Services 

Internal n/a 

T4 

Undertake further ULEV trials for different vehicle types e.g., refuse collection 

vehicles 

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: Frontline Services 

Internal n/a 

T5 

With the aim of achieving 25% of journeys on foot, bike or public transport by 

2025, significantly reduce staff travel by car for commuting and business travel 

by continuing to maximise the use of technology for route planning and 

encouraging active travel and greater use of public transport * 

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: Frontline Services 

Internal 949 

tCO2e 

T
udalen 62



 

19 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date 

(FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

2030 

Carbon 

reductio

n  

T6 

Explore the potential for staff to walk / take public transport to social care visits 

by zoning patches of care, and not only employing those who can drive 

2024 Officer: Director of Social 

Services 

Service Area: Social Care 

Internal n/a 

T7 

Encourage staff to commute by active travel and public transport. This can be 

achieved by opening the Cycle 2 Work scheme year-round and promoting it 

more heavily and installing enabling infrastructure like bike racks, showers and 

lockers.  

2025 Officer: Director of Finance/ 

Director of Corporate Estates 

Service Area: Finance/ 

Corporate Estates 

Internal, 

UK 

n/a 

T8 

Incentivise low carbon transport with cycle/running clubs, friendly competition 

to promote active travel, apps e.g. Strava, on-road cycle training and buddying 

schemes. Use existing platforms like the staff Green Space on Microsoft 

Teams to promote progress and achievements. 

2025 Officer: Director of Democratic 

Services/ Director of Human 

Resources 

Service Area: Democratic 

Services/ Human Resources 

Internal n/a 

T9 

Link the Safe Walking and Cycling Routes established by schools to Council 

staff and the wider community 

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: Frontline Services 

n/a n/a 

T10 

Provide training to educate frequent drivers on how to drive their own and fleet 

ICE (internal combustion engine) cars in a more fuel-efficient way 

2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: Frontline Services 

n/a 296 

tCO2e 

T
udalen 63



 

20 

  

T
udalen 64



 

21 

3.2. Supply Chain 

Goods, Services and Construction of capital assets 

Supply chain emissions arise from all activities associated with the goods and services the Council purchases, and the construction of new capital assets like 

roads and buildings. These purchases contain ‘embedded carbon’ – the greenhouse gas emissions associated with the whole production process and life cycle 

of a product. This includes upstream activities like the extraction of raw materials, manufacturing and distribution of products, as well as downstream activities 

like the emissions associated with the use of a good or service and the end-of-life disposal of that product. When procuring goods and services, many factors, 

including the carbon footprint, price, value for money, social value and the local economy will be considered. At times, these factors conflict or compete with one 

another and need to be prioritised. In the financial year 2021/22, emissions from purchased goods and services account for 67% of RCTCBC’s total carbon 

footprint. 

Aims: 

1. Improve carbon accounting for all purchased goods, services and construction 

2. Seek to only procure supplies and services from businesses that are striving to reduce their carbon emissions and, in doing so, actively support low 

carbon and local suppliers as part of our wider transition to net zero, where the legal framework allows 

3. Work with key suppliers to evaluate and reduce emissions from building and infrastructure projects 

Ambitions out to 2030 

• By 2026, 50% of our suppliers will be net zero certified 

• Understand the carbon impact of all major purchasing decisions 

• Proportion a score for tender responses based on suppliers’ carbon footprints and reduction plans 

• Accurately measure the carbon footprint of all purchased goods and services  

 

 

T
udalen 65



 

22 

Actions (out to March 2025) 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date (FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

S1 
Produce advice for suppliers outlining the options to achieve net zero certification, in 

line with RCTCBC's tender requirements, and distribute it to suppliers *  2023 
Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

n/a 

S2 

All procurement lead contracts have already been revised to include questions about 

suppliers' ability to calculate their carbon emissions. Relevant contract clauses have 

also been added to strengthen the Council’s position. Ensure these are rolled out in 

all upcoming contracts e.g., Supported Living and Home Care contracts, Transport 

contract 

2023 

Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

n/a 

S3 
Identify departments that procure goods and services with the highest carbon impact 

and prioritise supporting the procurement approach in upcoming contracts 2023 
Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

n/a 

S4 
Request all contracted suppliers complete the carbon footprint tool annually, and 

support them to do so by developing training 2023 
Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

n/a 

S5 
Support smaller suppliers to use the carbon footprint tool to assist them in 

decarbonising their activities 2024 
Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

n/a 

T
udalen 66



 

23 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date (FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Funding 

Source 

S6 

Where market conditions allow, specify low carbon travel/ vehicles for those contracts 

where transport is a large contributor e.g., delivery services, transport services 

(Stagecoach etc), social care services, school transport 

2023 

Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

Internal 

S7 

Establish ambitious energy efficiency standards, that go beyond the minimum 

mandatory Government Buying Standards, when purchasing white goods, appliances 

and ICT equipment and share with all staff across the Council 

2023 

Officer: Head of Procurement  

Service Area: Procurement 

n/a 

S8 

Using WRAP guidelines for measuring emissions from food and drink, calculate an 

accurate carbon footprint for food provided by the Council using higher resolution 

specific emissions factors 2024 

Officer: Director of Education/ 

Head of Procurement 

Service Area: Education/ 

Procurement 

Internal 

S9 

Establish priorities for increasing the number of climate friendly meal options offered 

by the Council in our schools, care homes, and offices, as well as our community 

meals service from a baseline that will be established in 2023/24 * 2025 

Officer: Director of Education/ 

Head of Procurement 

Service Area: Education/ 

Procurement  

Internal 

S10 

When demolishing or refurbishing sites, review the options to reuse materials where 

practicable e.g., timber. 
2025 

Officer: Head of Procurement/ 

Director of Corporate Estates 

Service Area: Procurement/ 

Corporate Estates 

Internal 

T
udalen 67



 

24 

  

T
udalen 68



 

25 

3.3. Land use and renewables 

RCTCBC’s use of land can have an impact on climate change mitigation and adaptation in multiple ways, including carbon sequestration, building resilience to 

extreme weather like natural flood defences, and development of renewables.  Fire risk is also projected to increase with climate change, which impacts slope 

stability, loss of stored carbon in soil and plants, biodiversity loss, air quality, water retention, erosion potential, tourism, and regeneration, as well as potential 

loss of life and property. Land management can help to mitigate some of these impacts.  

Land sequestration 

Land can be used to store carbon through rewilding, tree planting or peat bog restoration, for example. Through these activities, carbon dioxide is naturally 

captured from the atmosphere, reducing the rate of global heating. The deep peat in Britain stores approximately 4.5 million tonnes of carbon (compared to 162 

thousand tonnes stored by British forests). Tree planting can also provide natural flood defences which will be essential, especially in Wales where warmer, 

wetter winters are projected to increase the frequency and severity of flooding events as the planet warms. In the financial year 2021/22, net emissions 

sequestered from RCTCBC’s land amounted to the equivalent of 1% of the total carbon footprint. 

Aims: 

1. Assess the condition of peatlands across RCT and rewet where required to improve the quality of land 

2. Encourage natural regeneration and increase afforestation of woodland and hedgerows 

Ambitions out to 2030 

• Maximise carbon sequestration across Council-owned land. 

• Engage with Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales regarding the management of the Welsh Government estate to restore peat, reduce 

carbon emissions and maximise flood and fire risk management. 

• Rewet and appropriately manage peatbogs in Council ownership to restore biodiversity and maximise carbon sequestration. 

• Where appropriate, use planning conditions to deliver habitat protection and restoration as part of new developments. Engage developers through 

Supplementary Planning Guidance for environmentally friendlier design, which incorporates and enhances the natural features existing on greenfield 

sites.  

T
udalen 69



 

26 

• Encourage new and better management of S106 sites with long term management goals in mind, protecting existing trees, hedges and green spaces. 

• Contribute to the Queen’s Green Canopy initiative and the National Forest for Wales through sustainable tree planting by investing £200,000 per annum 

until 2030. 

• Attract private sector investment to increase areas of woodland regeneration and creation, and soil and habitat conservation through restoration and 

management, ensuring that we protect and store carbon and reduce the risk of flooding. 

Actions (out to March 2025) 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date 

(FY) 

Accountable Officer/ 

Service Area (for delivering 

action) 

Funding 

Source 

L1 

Understand the sequestration potential of land in our ownership *  

2023 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

Internal, 

Wales 

L2 

Identify an accurate baseline of RCT woodland cover to inform future management by: 

- Producing a whole RCT woodland cover map by 2024, including identification of all 

Council-owned woodland 

- Identifying the rate of natural woodland regeneration on Council-owned woodland sites 

over 10 hectares in size *  

2024 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

Internal, 

Wales 

L3 
By 2025, set a target for sustainably increasing woodland cover through The Natural Tree 

Regeneration Project *  
2025 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

n/a 

T
udalen 70



 

27 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date 

(FY) 

Accountable Officer/ 

Service Area (for delivering 

action) 

Funding 

Source 

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

L4 

Utilise RCTCBC’s Tree and Woodland Strategy to inform future land management 

operations including tree planning, management and monitoring 
2023 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

n/a 

L5 

Work with partners to map and review Council-owned land to identify categories that align 

with the Net Zero Reporting commitment *  
2024 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

Internal, 

Wales, UK 

L6 

Utilise land category map (L5) to produce a long-term plan to optimise diverse land 

management, including identifying sites for natural woodland regeneration, sites suitable for 

food production, sites for peatland restoration, and sites where tree planting is appropriate 2025 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

Internal, 

Wales, UK 

L7 
Put climate change at the centre of our Local Development Plan, which is currently being 

renewed. This includes protecting RCT uplands, important habitats and peatbogs. *  
2025 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development  

n/a 

T
udalen 71

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s35303/Draft%20Tree%20Strategy%202022%20-%20V5.pdf?LLL=0


 

28 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date 

(FY) 

Accountable Officer/ 

Service Area (for delivering 

action) 

Funding 

Source 

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development 

L8 

Encourage community gardening programmes, growing food locally, and the potential for 

recruiting adults with complex needs to work in the community gardens and paying them a 

fair wage. Explore the suitability of parks and other Council land to support this. 2023 

Officer: Director of Prosperity 

& Development / Director of 

Social Care 

Service Area: Prosperity & 

Development / Social Care  

Internal, 

Wales 

L9 

Introduce land use policies to mitigate fire risk e.g., Health Hillsides Project / conservation 

grazing, joint working with the Fire Service, Natural Resources Wales, and Wildlife Trust. 

Extend lessons from the pilot to other Council-owned/ leased sites, as well as NRW/ Welsh 

Government-owned/ leased sites and private sites in RCT.  
2025 

Officer: Director of 

Prosperity & Development/ 

Director of Social Care 

Service Area: Prosperity and 

Development/ Social Care 

Internal, 

Wales 

  

T
udalen 72



 

29 

Renewables 

Setting land aside for new development of renewable energy sources like solar and wind farms will provide green energy to RCT residents and contribute to the 

Council’s net zero targets. Community ownership of renewables can also provide income or reduced energy rates for local communities and increase local buy-

in for new renewable developments. In the financial year 2021/22, electricity generated from solar PV avoided emissions equivalent to 0.3% of the total carbon 

footprint. 

Aims: 

1. Use public sector land for green energy generation. Progress solar, wind and hydroelectric energy schemes to reduce the cost of meeting our energy 

needs and generate income, whilst reducing our carbon footprint 

Ambitions out to 2030 

• Increase local renewable energy generated from Council land and buildings from the 2021/22 baseline (2MW) to 20MW by 2025 (this also includes roof 

mounted solar PV)  

• By 2027, install two 5MW land based solar farms. 

• By 2028, install a 6MW wind turbine scheme. 

• Work with partners including a local health board, Natural Resources Wales, and neighbouring authorities to maximise the collective resources to 

generate green energy across the region 

 

 

 

 

 

 

T
udalen 73



 

30 

Actions (out to March 2025) 

Actions out to March 2025 

Target 

delivery 

date (FY) 

Accountable Officer/ Service 

Area (for delivering action) 

Fundin

g 

Source 

2030 

Carbon 

reduction  

R1 

Increase renewable energy generated from Council land or buildings from 

2021/22 baseline (2MW) to 20MW by 2025 *  

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate 

Estates 

Internal, 

Wales, 

UK 

3,143 tCO2e 

R2 

Install 200kW solar scheme at Bryn Pica, as per B10 2025 Officer: Director of Frontline 

Services  

Service Area: AMGEN Cymru  

Internal, 

Wales, 

UK 

32 tCO2e 

R3 

Explore community cooperative energy projects to provide inexpensive, green 

energy for residents and businesses to purchase, including energy for electric 

vehicle recharging on publicly owned land *  

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate 

Estates 

Internal, 

Wales, 

UK 

n/a 

R4 

Explore potential options to utilise existing energy sources including: 

- Geothermal energy from abandoned coal mines 

- Hydroelectric projects * 

2025 Officer: Director of Corporate 

Estates  

Service Area: Corporate 

Estates 

Internal, 

Wales, 

UK 

n/a 

 

 

T
udalen 74



 

31 

4. Net zero target 

4.1. Future Energy Scenarios 

The carbon intensity of grid electricity has been falling due to the removal of 

coal-fired power stations, with the ramping up of renewable energy 

generation feeding into the grid further lowering carbon intensity. In the past 

decade, CO2 intensity has dropped by 65% from 529 gCO2/kWh in 2013 to 

188 gCO2/kWh in 2021. 

The National Grid ESO Future Energy Scenarios (FES 2022) outline four 

different forecasts for the future of energy between now and 2050.  

The Falling Short scenario assumes non-compliance with the UK Net Zero 

2050 emissions target, due to low levels of decarbonisation and societal 

change. Whereas the Leading the Way scenario has very high levels of 

decarbonisation and societal change for the “fastest credible” 

decarbonisation pathway for UK net zero to be met by 2047. 

RCTCBC have modelled the carbon impacts of the Action Plan using the 

Falling Short FES 2022 scenario; this provides a conservative assessment 

of future emissions. 

4.2. Pathways 

The Council’s carbon emissions have been split into Operational emissions 

(Scope 1-3 directly controlled), Supply Chain impacts (indirectly controlled), 

and Land Use & Renewables contributions (sequestration and avoidance of 

carbon – dual reporting method). 

Using the baseline 2019/20 carbon footprint, applying the grid 

decarbonisation scenario forms the basis of the ‘Business as Usual’ 

pathway. A likely pathway range has been modelled using high and low 

estimated carbon reductions from the Action Plan initiatives. 

Actual footprint data from 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 has been used to 

show progress since the baseline year. Target pathways have been taken 

from the baseline year and extend to 2030 as stated by Welsh Government. 

Using the Science Based Target initiative methodology, the minimum 

mitigation target for net zero is shown at a 90% reduction on the 2019/20 

baseline. 

 

 

 

T
udalen 75



 

32 

Operational emissions forecast 

 

 

The operational emissions pathway is broken down into three summary 

areas: 

The pathway shows: 

• Business As Usual (BAU) shows a reduction due only to the 

decarbonisation of the electricity grid 

• The impact of Covid shows the assumed emissions level if no 

pandemic 

• The range of emissions in grey gives an indication of the emissions 

reduction due to grid decarbonisation, measures underway in 

2022/23 and actions planned to 2030 

• Expected residual emissions 2030 are estimated as 11,949 tCO2e 

• The net zero target is forecast to not be met with the range of 

actions in the Action Plan at this stage - this demonstrates the need 

to maximise delivery, and develop further opportunities to bridge the 

gap  

  

RCTCBC operational 

emissions 
2025 2030 

Expected pathway 26,354 tCO2e 11,949 tCO2e 

Net zero target pathway 17,578 tCO2e 3,453 tCO2e 

Buildings 

Emissions from electricity, gas, LPG, water use and 
wastewater treatment for all buildings owned and 
leased by RCTCBC. 

Fleet & 

Business travel 

Emissions from the Council’s fleet and equipment (inc. 
light vans and refuse collection vehicles), hired 
vehicles, and staff own vehicles used for business 
travel (grey fleet). 

Commuting & 

Homeworking 

Emissions from staff commuting to their place of work 
and homeworking. 

T
udalen 76



 

33 

Supply Chain emissions forecast 

 

 

 

 

Supply chain emissions are summarised as: 

 

The pathway shows: 

• Business as usual shows a reduction due to the estimated impacts 

of decarbonisation of the supply chain against financial values due 

to financial inflation and global supply chain decarbonisation 

• Emissions can’t be accurately calculated due to the way emissions 

factors are based on spend, which will be influenced by inflation 

and a rise in material costs 

• The plan is to shift to market-based accounting and work with 

suppliers to produce actual carbon emissions for the goods and 

services supplied to the Council 

• Large contracts and areas of spending such as capital 

programmes, infrastructure projects and social care could be split 

out, based on previous supply chain work, to track progress in 

these areas 

• The estimated pathway shows emissions in 2030 as 39,759 tCO2e, 

this is significantly above a 90% reduction target, however, there is 

a need for the baseline and modelling approach to evolve 

 

 

RCTCBC supply chain 

emissions 
2025 2030 

Expected pathway 52,808 tCO2e 39,759 tCO2e 

Net zero target pathway 46,416 tCO2e 9,117 tCO2e 

Supply chain 
Emissions from the supply chain are based on the 
goods/service emissions factor multiplied by the 
value of purchases made. 

T
udalen 77



 

34 

 

Land Use & Renewables forecast 

Land use and renewable emissions are summarised as: 

The pathway shows: 

• The 20MW target for generation capacity is shown as in 2028 

• Renewables are stepped to show the phasing of projects – 5MW 

solar in 2026 and 2027, and 6MW wind in 2028 

• Renewable electricity generation has been calculated at the annual 

grid emissions intensity factor moving forward. Due to the increase 

in renewables on the national grid, this factor will decrease with 

time. 

• Emissions removed through good land management are assumed 

to increase incrementally annually 

• Renewable Energy Generation Obligation credits (REGOs) are 

purchased to offset the electricity used by the Council. Since 

electricity emissions will decrease due to the planned initiatives 

(including renewables) as well as grid decarbonisation, the quantity 

of REGOs required to be purchased will decrease. 

• Annual GHG emissions reduction estimated in 2030 are -

5,220tCO2e 

GHG removals Emissions sequestered through good land 
management e.g., naturally regenerated 
woodland, increased tree coverage, managed 
woodlands, peatland restoration  

Avoided 

emissions from 

renewables 

Emissions avoided by using renewable energy 
from solar, wind and hydroelectric generation 

T
udalen 78



 

35 

  

T
udalen 79



 

36 

4.3. 2025 / 2030 expected pathway 

The emissions pathways set the expected operational, supply chain and 

avoided emissions as follows. Where there is an emissions pathway ‘range’ 

– the higher scale of delivery / intervention has been used. For both 2025 

and 2030, the expected pathway is above the net zero target line.  

 

4.4. Total Emissions in 2030 

In 2030: 

• The operational emission pathway estimates 11,949 tCO2e residual 

emissions – this does not meet the 90% mitigation target of 

3,453tCO2e; this demonstrated the challenge to meet net zero and 

the need to do more to bridge the gap 

• The supply chain will be engaged and able to accurately report on 

their emissions contributions – this will allow the supply chain 

emissions pathway and target to be updated 

• Renewable energy generation capacity is targeted to be over 

20MW 

• GHG removal measures will be reaching maturity to recognise the 

benefit to offset residual emissions 

4.5. Offsetting 

Options for offsetting remaining emissions should only be considered when 

emissions have been reduced as far as possible. The 90% minimum 

mitigation target set by the SBTi means that a maximum of 10% of the 

original baseline emissions may need to be offset. 

The practice of offsetting is commonly considered as purchasing of carbon 

credits in sufficient quantity to offset residual emissions. Accreditation 

bodies and standards exist (such as The Gold Standard organisation) to 

verify carbon credits. Often these are for projects in other countries, 

involving afforestation and social value programmes promoting clean 

cooking fuels etc.  

Increasingly, buying credits from the voluntary offset market is viewed as 

unsuitable, and has been used as a way to ‘pay your way’ towards net zero. 

Welsh Government are yet to set expectations for a suitable offset 

approach for the Welsh public sector net zero ambition. In the meantime, 

the Council will seek to progress local GHG removal projects which will 

have a high level of assurance and can be tracked to maturity. 

4.6. Adaptation to climate change 

Significant decarbonisation efforts are required to avoid the most severe 

effects of climate change. There is already a certain amount of global 

heating that is inevitable due to existing carbon emissions in the 

atmosphere. To date, average global temperatures have increased by over 

RCTCBC emission pathway 2025 2030 

Operational emissions 26,354 tCO2e 11,949 tCO2e 

Supply chain emissions 52,808 tCO2e 39,759 tCO2e 

Total GHG removals and avoided 

emissions 
-1,644 tCO2e -5,220 tCO2e 

T
udalen 80



 

37 

1˚C since pre-industrial levels and will continue to rise in future. 

Decarbonisation will limit the rise in temperatures but not eliminate it.  

Along with rising temperatures, milder, wetter winters in Wales will increase 

the frequency of severe flooding, and hotter summers may affect food 

production, and create health risks from overheating. An increase in 

extreme weather events overseas will also create supply chain disruptions 

for Welsh consumers. A full outline of climate change predictions for the UK 

can be found in the UK Climate Projections.  

To this end, the Council needs to account for the projected changes in 

climate in its future planning and build resilience to the increasing risks. 

Existing plans for decarbonisation may already benefit adaptation. For 

example, RCTCBC’s tree planting commitments are likely to create flood 

defences if the right trees are planted near coastal or fluvial areas.  

In 2019, the Welsh Government published their climate change adaptation 

plan for Wales, Prosperity for All: A Climate Conscious Wales. It sets a 

vision for 2030 where ‘Wales is a country which has the resources and is 

prepared, has the knowledge to understand the risk and challenges ahead 

and has the capacity to adapt to the impact of climate change’. The 

document also highlights areas for action including flood risk and sea level 

rise; risks to business, buildings and infrastructure; agriculture and forestry; 

and health and wellbeing. The government has outlined over 30 

commitments to adapt to the changing climate and achieve its vision for 

Wales. 

When planning for the future, RCTCBC needs to take into consideration 

climate projections for Wales, and similar strategies to those outlined in the 

Welsh Government’s adaptation plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

T
udalen 81



 

38 

5. Enablers and resources 

5.1. Enablers  

RCTCBC are dependent on others such as UK / Welsh Government and 

Distribution Network Operators to support many of the initiatives outlined. 

This reliance may hold up delivery, or present barriers such as access to 

funding or availability of grid connections. The Council must work 

collaboratively to overcome these challenges in order to recognise net zero. 

UK National and Welsh Government policies 

The Future Homes Standard states that no new gas boilers will be allowed 

for new build residential properties from 2025. There is a consultation on 

the date to ban sales of new gas boilers but this could be from 2035. 

The UK Government has put in place legislation banning new non-electric 

car sales from 2030, new hybrid car sales from 2035 and new CO2 emitting 

lorry and bus sales from 2040. 

The Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards currently state that leased 

buildings must be EPC rating E or above. It is expected that the UK 

Government plan to improve this to EPC C by 2027, and EPC B by 2030. 

Electricity network capacity 

The local Distribution Network Operator has confirmed that currently there 

is not the available capacity for the grid to accept large scale renewable 

generation at most primary supply points across RCT County Borough. This 

hinders the development of large-scale wind and solar arrays, as the costs 

to upgrade the network are prohibitive for the scale of the projects the 

Council would like. 

There is available capacity across most of the county to increase demand 

on the network for EV charge points and heat pumps. 

Cabinet members need to escalate grid challenges further to the DNO and 

Welsh Government to lobby for upgrades to support the Council’s projects. 

The request must be for DNOs to work with local authorities to enable large 

scale renewable generation and electrification of vehicles and heating. This 

process is already under way and RCTCBC will keep in contact with the 

DNO to understand when any changes may occur. 

Micro / mini electricity networks 

RCTCBC are investigating the feasibility of micro and mini off-grid electricity 

networks for individual villages, using renewable energy sources and 

battery storage as the basis of the energy generation. Whilst more 

applicable to the county borough, some council buildings may benefit from 

these mini networks. 

Decarbonisation of the gas network 

If we are not able to exchange all gas fired boilers for heat pumps before 

2030, we will be reliant on the emissions factor of the main natural gas 

network. This is not predicted to reduce as the mix of natural gas in the 

network is fixed. Welsh Government are investigating options to change the 

mix of gas in the existing network to include a proportion of hydrogen, which 

would reduce the emissions factor of mains gas. Wales & West Utilities has 

set out how it will meet the Government’s target for gas pipes to be ready to 

deliver up to 20% hydrogen to homes and businesses around the country 

T
udalen 82



 

39 

from 2023, as a replacement for up to a fifth of the natural gas currently 

used. 

Hydrogen 

Because of local scoping work into hydrogen, and the use of hydrogen fuel 

cells to power some council buildings, the Council are keen to investigate 

the potential for hydrogen as a fuel source for buildings and vehicles. The 

UK government has continued to include hydrogen as a potential low 

carbon fuel, and small trials are taking place across the UK. However, clean 

generation of green hydrogen (rather than blue hydrogen produced from 

natural gas) would be required to make this a truly low carbon fuel. The 

wide scale roll out of hydrogen for heating buildings and powering vehicles 

is not expected to be possible before 2030. 

5.2. Resources 

Sources of finance 

Implementing the necessary measures to reach the council’s net zero target 

may be expensive, so it is essential to have a plan in place to finance the 

decarbonisation initiatives.  

The Welsh Government has various funding mechanisms available to help 

support the public sector to decarbonise. For example, the Wales Funding 

Programme (administered by Salix Finance), provides interest-free loans 

for public sector bodies.  

The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) provides loans to local authorities 

for capital projects, often with interest rates below those of other schemes. 

While the members of the PWLB (the Public Works Loans Commissioners) 

were abolished in 2020, the PWLB is still available, and managed through 

the UK Debt Management Office, on behalf of HM Treasury.  

The Council is benefitting from income from the Feed-In Tariffs (FITs), 

selling electricity to the grid that is generated by council-owned renewable 

energy developments, primarily roof mounted solar PV. FITs provide an 

above-market price for electricity delivered to the grid to promote 

investment in renewable electricity. In FY 2021/22, RCTCBC received over 

£122 thousand from FITs payments. The FITs scheme is now closed to new 

entrants, but some newer PV systems are registered for the Smart Export 

Guarantee (SEG) payments, if they produce surplus electricity. 

In 2022, RCTCBC secured funding via the Peatlands Development Grant, 

launched by Natural Resources Wales, to enable the development of 

costed restoration projects of Council-owned peatland. The funding has 

enabled RCTCBC to identify a significant Council-owned peatland as a 

potential site for future restoration works to maximise its environmental 

impact.  

Funding for electric vehicles through the Plug-in grant for cars is nearing 

the end as the Government’s focus moves to improving electric vehicle 

charging by expanding the public chargepoint network. As electric taxis, 

vans, trucks, motorcycles and wheelchair accessible vehicles become 

available, funding may be available for RCT through Welsh Government’s 

EV grants.  

For FY 2022/23, RCTCBC received an EV Infrastructure Grant of £300k 

from the Welsh Local Government Association to facilitate fleet charging. In 

addition to this, RCTCBC have secured both capital and revenue funding as 

part of the ULEV Transformation Fund, to facilitate the development of 

public, staff and visitor electric vehicle charging at key Council sites across 

the County Borough. 

T
udalen 83



 

40 

Alternatively, the Workplace Charging Scheme (WCS), run by the Office 

for Zero Emission Vehicles (OZEV), is available for public sector 

organisations across the UK, providing up to 75% of the cost of purchase 

and installation of electric vehicle chargers.  

The On-Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS) is available to 

UK local authorities and provides funding towards the capital costs of 

installing public charging infrastructure for residents without private parking. 

It supports installations both on-street and in local authority-owned 

residential car parks. 

The Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI), which provided funding for 

renewable heat technologies for homes, businesses, public sector and non-

profit organisations, is no longer available. The non-domestic RHI scheme 

closed to new applicants in 2021, followed by the domestic scheme in 

March 2022. RCTCBC still have one application registered for the RHI 

scheme – Taff’s Well Thermal Spring Project. 

In place of the RHI for smaller schemes the Boiler Upgrade Scheme was 

launched in Spring of 2022 and will run until 2025. The scheme provides 

funding for domestic and small non-domestic properties in England and 

Wales for heat pumps and biomass boilers. The grants are not available for 

social housing but may be applicable to some of the Council’s smaller 

buildings. 

The Welsh Government, through the Energy Service, is aiming to stimulate 

the uptake of heat pumps by providing the Low Carbon Heat 

Development Grant (Sept 2022). RCTCBC successfully secured funding 

from this grant in December 2022 to support the development to RIBA 

Stage 3 for the design of low carbon heat solutions at several Council 

buildings.  

The Sustainable Communities for Learning programme (previously 21st 

Century Schools) is a collaboration between the Welsh Government and 

local councils in Wales. It is a significant, long-term and strategic capital 

investment programme with the aim of creating a generation of 21st Century 

Schools in Wales, improving amongst other goals, the energy efficiency of 

buildings used for schools. 

Existing maintenance budgets could also be used for some of the energy 

efficiency works proposed, bringing forward the timing of spend to allow 

savings to be seen quicker going forwards. RCTCBC has their own Invest 

to Save scheme where money saved through lower running costs is 

reinvested in new energy efficiency schemes, and a budget for Carbon 

Reduction Programme works. Since 2009, RCTCBC have invested almost 

£10.5 million in their Carbon Reduction Programme, equating to emissions 

savings of almost 6,000 tCO2e.  

Local community groups could be another source of funding for projects 

run jointly with the council and local groups. This would also help RCT 

contribute to Welsh Government’s aim for locally owned renewable energy 

schemes. 

Implementation and Routes to market – procurement, 

frameworks 

With many of the specific low carbon technologies, there are particular 

procurement frameworks available to allow the council to find the best 

providers for the projects. 

Energy Services Companies and frameworks such as Re:fit are another 

way to procure a service instead of project managing the purchase and 

installation of several technologies. 

T
udalen 84



 

41 

 

Staff training and engagement 

RCTCBC is working to develop staff awareness, knowledge, skills and 

expertise in climate change and carbon reduction, to enable the Council to 

meet its targets and respond to the Welsh Government’s declared Climate 

and Nature emergencies. The Council is leading by example in encouraging 

staff to develop low carbon behaviours. 

Via its online platforms, the Council already produces regular content to 

engage and inform RCT county borough residents of recent developments 

in the council’s environmental strategy. RCTCBC has effective 

communications platforms like the ‘Let’s Talk’ website which allows 

members of the public to share their thoughts and ideas on RCT’s climate 

change strategies and the online ‘Newsroom’ with recent events in the 

local authority. The dedicated climate change page on its website has a 

countdown to 2030, outlining the innovations taking place in RCT to tackle 

climate change. 

Within the council, many schemes are already in place to engage with staff 

on environmental issues. For instance, the ‘Green Space’ channels on 

Microsoft Teams provide a collaborative platform for a staff forum on a 

variety of sustainability-related topics. RCTCBC has also hosted virtual net 

zero events on subjects including the workplace, lifestyle, and commuting.  

Council staff from all departments and levels of seniority may also be 

members of the Climate Change Working Group (CCWG) and subgroups. 

The aim of these groups is to ensure that the council is meeting its targets 

to reduce its environmental impact. The subgroups, which meet every two 

months, tackle areas such as communications and engagement, youth 

participation, and the food system.  

Training on environmental topics is being developed to engage staff 

throughout their employment. First, new starters will have a presentation as 

part of their induction to provide a general overview and to show the 

council’s commitment to tackling climate and nature emergencies. Following 

the induction video, a climate change e-learning package developed with 

assistance from Cynnal Cymru is due to be piloted in 2023. 

Finally, the climate change engagement plan currently in development 

outlines initiatives to further improve staff engagement and promote 

environmentally responsible behaviour both within the council workforce 

and the wider resident population. This includes regular themed 

newsletters, competitions (e.g., Organic September), promotions on the 

staff intranet, and friendly challenges.  

The Council are continuously developing a Carbon Footprint Dashboard 

to measure council performance against metrics which are aligned to Welsh 

Government Net Zero Reporting. The dashboard visualises the route to net 

zero with a line graph and will be available on the intranet for council 

employees to view. 

The council has also implemented initiatives like the ‘Green Car Scheme’ 

and ‘Cycle 2 Work’ which will help to reduce financial barriers for staff in 

reducing their personal carbon footprints and making more environmental 

choices. These initiatives can be supported by installing enabling 

infrastructure like chargers, bike storage and changing facilities at council 

sites.  

One area identified for improvement is increasing the involvement of 

managers and councillors with staff engagement activities. For council staff, 

having visible senior buy-in adds credibility and momentum to the 

council’s commitments. Highlighting the financial benefits of 

decarbonisation and the political benefits of being seen to take decisive 

T
udalen 85



 

42 

action on climate change could be ways to increase the engagement of 

more senior decision-makers and councillors.   

T
udalen 86



 

43 

6. Governance approach 

6.1. Management and responsibility 

Ongoing delivery of the strategy, management and updating of the Action 

Plan, and monitoring, reporting and evaluation of impacts are key to 

achieving the net zero ambitions for the Council. 

Roles and responsibilities 

As referenced in the Climate Change Strategy and our Business Plan, 

decarbonisation is a hugely important area of focus. As such, the Chief 

Executive will take ultimate responsibility for the organisation’s approach to 

decarbonisation. 

The Chief Executive will be responsible for putting in place suitable roles 

and responsibilities to ensure that decarbonisation is managed and 

considered throughout the organisation, and that suppliers to the Council 

are working towards decarbonising their own operations. 

The Climate Change Cabinet Member will have executive responsibility 

for reporting carbon emissions to Welsh Government. The Climate Change 

Cabinet Sub-Committee will sit under this role and develop actions to 

reduce carbon emissions. 

The Director of Finance and Digital Services will be responsible for 

allocating and managing project finances in relation to low carbon heating, 

energy efficiency, ultra-low emission vehicles, renewables and related 

projects. 

The Procurement team has an essential role in helping the Council 

decarbonise the purchasing of goods and services. Whilst not directly 

involved in all purchases, the Procurement team set the Council policy for 

all departments to follow in dealings with suppliers. 

The Director of Human Resources will take responsibility for actions on 

the cycle to work scheme and its promotion, reducing emissions from 

business travel and commuting and making staff aware of resources 

available to help them lower their carbon emissions whilst at work. 

The Director of Education will be responsible for investigating options for 

carbon friendly meals in schools, and working with the Corporate Estates 

team to improve energy efficiency within school buildings. 

The Director of Frontline Services will have responsibility for 

implementing actions to change the council’s vehicles to low emission 

vehicles. 

The Director of Corporate Estates will be responsible for developing and 

implementing plans to improve the energy efficiency and quantity of low 

carbon heating schemes within the Council’s buildings, including building 

integrated renewables. They will also work to install large scale renewable 

generation schemes such as ground mounted solar and wind farms. 

The Director of Corporate Estates, the Energy & Carbon Reduction 

team, Estates Managers and maintenance teams will ensure carbon 

emissions are considered as a lifecycle approach in all aspects of work 

related to buildings and properties owned and managed by the Council. 

The Director of Prosperity & Development will ensure that the planning 

and development functions within the council prioritise activities that support 

the council’s decarbonisation aims, including land use, management and 

protection of biodiversity. 

T
udalen 87



 

44 

The Director of Democratic Services & Communications will support 

this decarbonisation strategy through their communications strategy, 

working to increase staff engagement. 

The Director of Social Services will work to promote decarbonisation 

activities and ways of working across social services. 

All staff will understand the ambition of RCTCBC to achieve Net Zero 

emissions by 2030 and will understand how they can carry out their role 

with due consideration of their environmental impacts. 

Reporting 

An annual Carbon Report will be in line with the Welsh Government 

guidance for the Net Zero Reporting. This will be reported to the Senior 

Leadership Team / Climate Change Cabinet Sub-Committee as appropriate 

in order to track our performance against the net zero 2030 ambition. 

Stakeholder engagement 

It is important to focus on the actions required by staff across the Council. 

Whilst departments have specific areas of responsibility, it is not solely the 

responsibility of the energy team to reduce energy use or the procurement 

team to purchase low carbon goods and services. 

The Climate Change Engagement Plan demonstrates the overarching 

engagement required by including not just the council leaders and staff but 

the wider public across the county borough. 

Management, reporting and updating of this document 

This Action Plan is intended to be a live document integrated into 

management information to track decarbonisation progress. Revisions to 

finances and project timescales can also be included in the updated plan, 

and improvements made to the dissemination of information, as required. 

This Decarbonisation Strategy will undergo a review process in 2025 to re-

assess our plans and proposed actions. This review will enable 

consideration to be given to the technological advancements which assist 

decarbonisation. 

Climate Change Cabinet Sub-Committee Structure 

There are seven sub-groups each with a particular focus on an element of 

decarbonisation and climate change. The governance structure for climate 

change is already established, and shown as follows: 

 

T
udalen 88



 

45 

7. Route Map Timeline 

A visual route map to communicate a summary of actions to meet net zero is shown as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2023 

2024 

2025 2030 

LED lighting  

Remaining 

inefficient lighting 

upgraded 

ULEV vehicles 
 

All new cars and 

LGVs to be ultra-low 

emission 

EV charge points 
 

Charge points installed 

at key premises 

Active travel 
 

50% of all 

journeys are on 

foot, bike or public 

transport 

Supplier Carbon 

Footprints 
 

Tool available for all 

large contracted 

suppliers 

Low Carbon 

Heating 
 

Programme of low 

carbon heating projects 

created 

Rooftop PV 
 

All viable buildings to 

have PV arrays 

installed 

Climate friendly meals 
 

Increase meal options 

offered by Council in 

schools, care homes and 

offices 

Renewable energy 
 

Increase energy 

generated from Council 

land and buildings to 

20MW 

Map land use 
 

Map and review the 

land over 10 ha, 

identifying woodland 

and peatland 

Staff awareness 
 

Develop training for all 

staff to increase 

knowledge of actions 

Footprint contracts 

 

Accurately measure 

carbon footprint of 

purchased goods and 

services 

Net Zero 

buildings 
 

All new and 

refurbished buildings 

are net zero 

Rhondda 

Cynon Taf 

County 

Borough 

Council 

Tree Strategy  
 

Land management 

operations 

informed by the 

strategy 

Local 

Development Plan 
 

Climate change 

mitigation and 

adaptation is central 

T
udalen 89



 

46 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1: Modelling Assumptions 

Net zero definition 

The approach taken for this report is to use the net zero framework as defined by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) – this aligns with the approach by 

Welsh Government in their Net Zero Strategic Plan. The table below shows the subtle differences between net zero and carbon neutral, which the council has 

been working towards previously. 

 

 

 

Carbon neutral Net zero 

PAS2060 is the internationally recognised specification for carbon 

neutrality, which builds on the existing PAS 2050 environmental standard. 

The Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) has defined net zero targets for 

corporates. 

Carbon neutrality has a minimum requirement of covering Scope 1 & 2 

emissions, with Scope 3 encouraged but not mandatory. 

The boundary of a net zero target includes global scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions 

of the organisation. 

There is no requirement for a company to reduce its emissions on a 

certain trajectory in order to be carbon neutral. 

To be net zero, an organisation must be reducing its emissions along a 

pathway that limits warming to 1.5°C with no or limited overshoot. 

A carbon neutral footprint is one where the sum of the greenhouse gas 

emissions (CO2e) produced is offset by natural carbon sinks and/or 

purchased carbon credits. 

For net zero, the criteria are stricter to offset the remaining emissions; an 

organisation must purchase greenhouse gas removals that result in 

permanent carbon sequestration from the atmosphere. 

 
At least a 90% reduction in emissions, which aligns with the SBTi 

requirements for net zero. 

T
udalen 90



 

47 

Grid electricity 

The carbon intensity of grid electricity has been falling due to the removal of 

coal-fired power stations, with the ramping up of renewable energy 

generation feeding into the grid further lowering carbon intensity. In the past 

decade, CO2 intensity has dropped by 65% from 529 gCO2/kWh in 2013 to 

188 gCO2/kWh in 2021. 

The National Grid ESO Future Energy Scenarios (FES 2022) outline four 

different, credible pathways for the future of energy between now and 2050. 

Based on extensive stakeholder engagement, research and modelling, 

each scenario considers how much energy we might need; where it could 

come from; and how we maintain a system that is reliable. The four 

scenarios are shown in the figure below. Negative emissions from 

bioenergy and carbon capture and storage (BECCS) have been excluded 

as the viability of these technologies on a commercial scale is still uncertain. 

Falling Short, previously named Steady Progression, assumes non-

compliance with the UK Net Zero 2050 emissions target, due to low levels 

of decarbonisation and societal change. Leading the Way has very high 

levels of decarbonisation and societal change. Consumers adopt new 

technologies rapidly, and a mix of solutions is developed. This scenario 

aims for the “fastest credible” decarbonisation pathway. UK Net Zero is met 

by 2047. 

System Transformation and Consumer Transformation both have high 

levels of decarbonisation and UK Net Zero is met by 2050. Larger, more 

centralised solutions are developed and the highest levels of hydrogen 

deployment are modelled in System Transformation. High levels of societal 

change with consumers adopting new technologies rapidly such as 

electrification of domestic heat and more decentralised solutions are 

developed in Consumer Transformation. 

The RCTCBC Action Plan has been modelled against the Falling Short 

scenario – this provides the most conservative pathway the Council 

pathway. 

T
udalen 91



 

48 

Appendix 2: References 

Carbon Brief, 2014, Global carbon intensity is falling - but not quickly enough to avoid worst impacts of climate change.  [online]. Available at: Global carbon 

intensity is falling - but not quickly enough to avoid worst impacts of climate change - Carbon Brief 

Catapult Energy Systems, 2022, Welsh Future Energy Grid for Net Zero. [online]. Available at: https://es.catapult.org.uk/project/welsh-future-energy-grid-for-net-

zero/#:~:text=Wales%20has%20set%20the%20highly,and%20heating%20into%20the%20future 

Met Office, 2022, UK Climate Projections: Headline Findings. Available at: ukcp18_headline_findings_v4_aug22.pdf (metoffice.gov.uk) 

National Grid ESO, 2022, Future Energy Scenarios. [online]. Available at: download (nationalgrideso.com) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2018, Corporate Asset Management Plan 2018/2023. [online]. Available at: 

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/PlanningPropertyandBuildingControl/RelatedDocuments/CorporateAssetmanagementPlan20182023.pdf 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2020, Making a Difference: The Council’s Corporate Plan 2020 – 2024. [online]. Available at: 50000-45 Corporate 

Plan 2020.qxp_Layout 1 (rctcbc.gov.uk) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2022, Let’s Talk RCTCBC. [online]. Available at: Let's Talk RCTCBC 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2022, Recycling Competition Winner Announced. [online]. Available at: Recycling Competition Winner 

Announced (rctcbc.gov.uk) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2022, Tackling Climate Change RCT. [online]. Available at: Tackling Climate Change RCT | Rhondda Cynon Taf 

County Borough Council (rctcbc.gov.uk) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2022, Think Climate Change. [online]. Available at: Think Climate, Climate Change Strategy (rctcbc.gov.uk)  

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2022, The Council’s Corporate Performance Report. [online]. Available at: 

CorporatePerformanceReport202122.pdf (rctcbc.gov.uk) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, 2022, Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles (ULEV) transition plan. Available at: Cabinet Report MTSP One4aLL LG 

(moderngov.co.uk) 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Procurement, 2021, Commissioning, socially responsible procurement and contract management strategy 2021-

2024. Available at: 51528-32 Procurement Strategy 2021-2024 [Eng].qxp_Layout 1 (rctcbc.gov.uk)  

T
udalen 92

https://www.carbonbrief.org/global-carbon-intensity-is-falling-but-not-quickly-enough-to-avoid-worst-impacts-of-climate-change/
https://www.carbonbrief.org/global-carbon-intensity-is-falling-but-not-quickly-enough-to-avoid-worst-impacts-of-climate-change/
https://es.catapult.org.uk/project/welsh-future-energy-grid-for-net-zero/#:~:text=Wales%20has%20set%20the%20highly,and%20heating%20into%20the%20future
https://es.catapult.org.uk/project/welsh-future-energy-grid-for-net-zero/#:~:text=Wales%20has%20set%20the%20highly,and%20heating%20into%20the%20future
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/metofficegovuk/pdf/research/ukcp/ukcp18_headline_findings_v4_aug22.pdf
https://www.nationalgrideso.com/document/263951/download
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/PlanningPropertyandBuildingControl/RelatedDocuments/CorporateAssetmanagementPlan20182023.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/CorporatePlan2020/CorporatePlan2020ENGFINAL.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/CorporatePlan2020/CorporatePlan2020ENGFINAL.pdf
https://lets-talk.rctcbc.gov.uk/
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/RecyclingCompetitionWinnerAnnounced.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Newsroom/PressReleases/2022/August/RecyclingCompetitionWinnerAnnounced.aspx
https://rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/Campaigns/ClimateChangeRCT/TacklingClimateChangeRCT.aspx
https://rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/Campaigns/ClimateChangeRCT/TacklingClimateChangeRCT.aspx
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/ClimateChangeStrategy/FINAL5152541ClimateChangeStrategy2022ENGLISH.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Performancebudgetsandspending/Councilperformance/RelatedDocuments/CPR202122/Final/CorporatePerformanceReport202122.pdf
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36719/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s36719/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Business/TendersandProcurement/RelatedDocuments/ProcurementStrategy20212024.pdf


 

49 

Salix Finance, 2022, The Wales Funding Programme. [online]. Available at: The Wales Funding Programme | Salix Finance 

Science Based Targets, 2021, SBTI Corporate Net Zero Standard. Available at https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Net-Zero-Standard.pdf  

The Carbon Trust, 2022, Decarbonisation Strategy (including pathway models and action plan) 

UK Government Debt Management Office, 2022, about PWLB lending. [online]. Available at: About PWLB lending (dmo.gov.uk) 

UK Government, 2018, Feed-In Tariffs Scheme. [online]. Available at: Feed-In Tariffs Scheme - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

UK Government, 2021, Workplace Charging Scheme: guidance for applicants. [online]. Available at: Workplace Charging Scheme: guidance for applicants - 

GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

UK Government, 2022, On-Street Residential Chargepoint Scheme guidance for local authorities. [online]. Available at: On-Street Residential Chargepoint 

Scheme guidance for local authorities - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

UK Government, 2017, Apply for a plug in vehicle grant. [online]. Available at: Apply for a plug-in vehicle grant - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

UK Government, 2022, Non-domestic Renewable Heat incentive (RHI). [online]. Available at: Non-domestic Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk) 

UK Government, 2022, Boiler Upgrade Scheme. [online]. Available at: Boiler Upgrade Scheme - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Vanguelova, E., 2012, The Research Agency of the Forestry Commission A Strategic Assessment of the Afforested Peat Resource in Wales. Available at: A 

Strategic Assessment of the Afforested Peat Resource in Wales (researchgate.net) 

Welsh Government, 2019, Prosperity for All: Climate Conscious Wales: A climate change adaptation plan for Wales. Available at: prosperity-for-all-a-climate-

conscious-wales-technical-annex.pdf (gov.wales) 

Welsh Government, 2021, Electric vehicle charging strategy for Wales: action plan. [online]. Available at: Electric vehicle charging strategy for Wales: action 

plan [HTML] | GOV.WALES 

Welsh Government, 2022, Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme. [online]. Available at: Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme | 

GOV.WALES 

Legislation: 

T
udalen 93

https://www.salixfinance.co.uk/loans/welsh-loans#:~:text=The%20Welsh%20Government%20has%20recently%20made%20an%20increased,been%20aligned%20and%20use%20one%20single%20application%20form.
https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Net-Zero-Standard.pdf
https://www.dmo.gov.uk/responsibilities/local-authority-lending-pwlb/about-pwlb/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/feed-in-tariffs-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grants-for-local-authorities-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints/grants-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints-for-plug-in-electric-vehicles-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/grants-for-local-authorities-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints/grants-to-provide-residential-on-street-chargepoints-for-plug-in-electric-vehicles-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-a-plug-in-vehicle-grant
https://www.gov.uk/non-domestic-renewable-heat-incentive
https://www.gov.uk/non-domestic-renewable-heat-incentive
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-if-you-may-be-eligible-for-the-boiler-upgrade-scheme-from-april-2022
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Elena-Vanguelova/publication/265718126_The_Research_Agency_of_the_Forestry_Commission_A_Strategic_Assessment_of_the_Afforested_Peat_Resource_in_Wales/links/54198d740cf25ebee9886d56/The-Research-Agency-of-the-Forestry-Commission-A-Strategic-Assessment-of-the-Afforested-Peat-Resource-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Elena-Vanguelova/publication/265718126_The_Research_Agency_of_the_Forestry_Commission_A_Strategic_Assessment_of_the_Afforested_Peat_Resource_in_Wales/links/54198d740cf25ebee9886d56/The-Research-Agency-of-the-Forestry-Commission-A-Strategic-Assessment-of-the-Afforested-Peat-Resource-in-Wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/prosperity-for-all-a-climate-conscious-wales-technical-annex.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/prosperity-for-all-a-climate-conscious-wales-technical-annex.pdf
https://gov.wales/electric-vehicle-charging-strategy-wales-action-plan-html
https://gov.wales/electric-vehicle-charging-strategy-wales-action-plan-html
https://gov.wales/sustainable-communities-for-learning-programme
https://gov.wales/sustainable-communities-for-learning-programme


 

50 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. [online]. Available at: https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-statutory-guidance  

The Climate Change (Wales) Regulations 2021. [online]. Available at: The Climate Change (Wales) Regulations 2021: integrated impact assessment [HTML] | 

GOV.WALES 

Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Amendment of 2050 Emission Target). [online]. Available at: Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Strategy: 

Welsh Government, 2017, Prosperity for all – Economic Action Plan. [online]. Available at: Prosperity for All: economic action plan | GOV.WALES 

Welsh Government, 2021, Net Zero Wales Carbon Budget 2 (2021-2025). [online]. Available at: Net Zero Wales Carbon Budget 2 (2021 to 2025) | GOV.WALES 

Welsh Government, 2019, Prosperity for all – Climate Conscious Wales. [online]. Available at: Prosperity for all: A Climate conscious Wales | GOV.WALES 

Welsh Government, 2021, Programme for Government 2021 – 2026. [online]. Available at: Programme for government | GOV.WALES 

Welsh Government, 2021, Net zero carbon status by 2030: public sector route map. [online]. Available at: Net zero carbon status by 2030: public sector route 

map | GOV.WALES 

Welsh Government, 2022, Welsh Government Net Zero strategic plan. [online]. Available at: Net Zero strategic plan 

Western Power Distribution, 2022, Distribution Future Energy Scenarios Local Authority: Rhondda Cynon Taf . [online]. Available at: Western Power Distribution 

- Distribution Future Energy Scenarios Map 

WRAP, Food and Drink.  [online]. Available at: https://wrap.org.uk/resources/guide/scope-3-ghg-measurement-and-reporting-protocols-food-and-drink  

 

  

T
udalen 94

https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-statutory-guidance
https://gov.wales/climate-change-wales-regulations-2021-integrated-impact-assessment-html
https://gov.wales/climate-change-wales-regulations-2021-integrated-impact-assessment-html
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/3/contents/enacted
https://gov.wales/prosperity-all-economic-action-plan
https://gov.wales/net-zero-wales-carbon-budget-2-2021-2025
https://gov.wales/prosperity-all-climate-conscious-wales
https://gov.wales/programme-government
https://gov.wales/net-zero-carbon-status-2030-public-sector-route-map
https://gov.wales/net-zero-carbon-status-2030-public-sector-route-map
https://www.gov.wales/welsh-government-net-zero-strategic-plan
https://www.westernpower.co.uk/distribution-future-energy-scenarios-map
https://www.westernpower.co.uk/distribution-future-energy-scenarios-map
https://wrap.org.uk/resources/guide/scope-3-ghg-measurement-and-reporting-protocols-food-and-drink


 

51 

Appendix 3: Carbon Reduction Initiatives carbon saving assumptions 

Buildings 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

B01 
Upgrade the remaining 20% of lighting to LED 189,023m2 shown as no LED in data request. 

Savings of 5.5W/m2, and assuming 2250hrs pa. By 
floor area 36% of LED is required. 

  

B02 
Create a pipeline for low carbon heat projects, prioritising 
LPG-fired, failing and inefficient boilers, and leased buildings 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B03 
Work up proposals for low carbon heat projects to install in 
2023/24 as further funding becomes available. Focus on high 
carbon emitters and sites with existing underfloor heating. 

Phase 1 LCH - 3x primary, 1 high, pool. Primary 
100,000kWh, Secondary 1m kWh, Pool 1.2m kWh 
gas. 80% boiler eff, COP 3. 

£2000/kW installed, kWh / 
2500hrs to estimate kW 

B04 
Install low carbon heat projects Phase 3 LCH - LPG sites to heat pumps, and 75% of 

remaining gas sites, at 80% heat pump 
£2000/kW installed, kWh / 
2500hrs to estimate kW 

B05 

Write a policy outlining the ‘whole building’ approach – look at 
insulation improvements when carrying out other works, 
fabric first, following CIBSE AM17 best practice for heat 
pumps 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B06 
Carry out rooftop solar PV screening for all viable remaining 
buildings, including leased buildings, and create a pipeline of 
works 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B07 
Install roof mounted solar on all viable buildings, including all 
schools 

1245kW to be installed, based on 15kW at primary, 
30kW secondary. 1000kWh/kW installed 

1200£/kW 

B08 
Re-roofing projects to consider installing solar mounts on 
appropriately orientated roofs, ready for PV install at a later 
date 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B09 
Optimise property portfolio by reducing the number of 
Council-owned or leased buildings, as more staff move to 
hybrid working 

10% of floor area to be closed. Increase home 
working by 10%, reduce commuting by 10%. 

  

B10 
80% of the energy used at our Bryn Pica Materials Recycling 
Facility will come from renewable sources by 2025 

200kW, 186,337kWh generation from WGES report 1200£/kW 

T
udalen 95



 

52 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

B11 

Work with third sector organisations to ensure the 
sustainability of community facilities/venues in RCTCBC 
(EPC C by 2025), reduce the impact of rising energy prices 
and improve energy efficiency. This includes Council 
buildings leased to third sector groups.  

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B12 
Provide training for Building Managers - building on the 
Energy Policy and previous guidance given to Building 
Managers 

2% saving from better control of energy use   

B13 

Specific training for staff on how to operate and work in their 
buildings efficiently e.g. how to request temperature changes, 
policy of no additional fans / heaters etc 

3% saving from better building control and spotting 
faults/maintenance issues 

  

B14 
By 2030, all buildings will have an energy efficiency 
equivalent to DEC rating of C 

    

B15 
By 2030, rooftop PV will be installed on all suitable buildings 1080kW to be installed, based on 30kW leisure 

centres, 15kW other. 1000kWh/kW installed 
  

B16 
Further develop the use of hydrogen for fuel cells in Council 
buildings. 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B17 

Work with third sector organisations to ensure the 
sustainability of community facilities/venues in RCTCBC 
(EPC B by 2028), reduce the impact of rising energy prices 
and improve energy efficiency. This includes Council 
buildings leased to third sector groups.  

No associated/quantifiable saving   

B18 

Complete all new builds and refurbishments for the Council's 
building estate in line with net zero standards by 2030, 
through the Sustainable Communities for Learning 
programme, to target low carbon heating systems 

    

 

Transport 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

T01 
Implement our Electric Vehicle Charging (EVC) Strategy and 
supporting Implementation Plan, that will accommodate the 
transport needs of existing and future electric vehicle users. 

Increase electricity consumption due to charging? Are 
there any figures in these documents? 

 

T
udalen 96



 

53 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

T02 
In line with Wales’ target for public sector organisations, we 
will aim for all our new cars and Light Goods Vehicles to be 
ultra-low emissions vehicles by 2025 

3% diesel is for equipment, 100% gas oil is for 
equipment 

 

T03 
Implement the Council's Fleet Transition Plan including the 
promotion and prioritisation of electric vehicles, with 
appropriate training for staff. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T04 Trial further electric vehicles for different vehicle types. No associated/quantifiable saving  

T05 
Improve data collection for non-expensed forms of travel like 
walking or cycling 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T06 

With the aim of achieving 25% of journeys on foot, bike or 
public transport by 2025, significantly reduce staff travel by 
car for commuting and business travel by continuing to 
maximise the use of technology for route planning and 
encouraging active travel and greater use of public transport. 

Reduce all business travel by a quarter. Assume half 
of the reduced miles will be moved to active travel 
(walking and cycling), half on public transport so 
increase bus and rail travel proportionately 

 

T07 
Develop potential for staff to walk / cycle to visits (social care) 
by zoning patches of care, and not only employing those who 
can drive 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T08 

Encourage staff to commute by active travel and public 
transport. Cycle 2 Work scheme to be open year-round and 
more heavily promoted. Install enabling infrastructure (bike 
racks, showers, lockers). Continue to provide train/bus ticket 
loan scheme. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T09 

Incentivise low carbon transport with cycle/running clubs, 
friendly competition to promote active travel and apps like 
Strava. Use existing platforms like the staff Green Space on 
Microsoft Teams to promote progress and achievements. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T10 
Link the Safe Walking and Cycling Routes established by 
schools to Council staff and the wider community 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T11 
Ensure that the transport services we commission, including 
Home to School, are zero or low carbon where possible 

In S06 
 

 

T12 
Provide training to educate frequent drivers on how to drive 
their own and fleet ICE (internal combustion engine) cars in a 
more fuel-efficient way 

3% reduction in fleet and business travel in petrol and 
diesel vehicles 

 

T13 
Investigate the potential for incorporating hydrogen vehicles 
into the Council fleet as they come onto the market, for 
example hydrogen Refuse Collection Vehicles 

Remove 4% of diesel used for RCVs  

T
udalen 97



 

54 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

T14 
In line with Wales’ target for public sector organisations, we 
will aim for all our Heavy Goods Vehicles to be ultra-low 
emissions vehicles by 2030 

Remove all diesel used for HGVs (936,990 litres for 
HGV fleet (60%)) 

 

T15 
By 2030, we will ensure that over 50% of all journeys are 
taken by public transport, bike or walking, or, where this is 
not possible, using electric vehicles. 

Reduce all business travel by another quarter. 
Assume half of the reduced miles will be moved to 
active travel (walking and cycling), half on public 
transport so increase bus and rail travel 
proportionately 

 

T16 
Over the next 5 years, make electric pool vehicles, and 
corresponding charging points, available at different 
appropriate Council locations e.g. depots and main offices 

3% diesel is for equipment, 100% gas oil is for 
equipment 

 

 

Supply Chain 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

S01 

Produce a paper outlining the options for suppliers to achieve 
net zero certification, in line with RCTCBC's tender 
requirements, and distribute it to suppliers 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S02 

All procurement lead contracts have already been revised to 
include questions about suppliers' ability to calculate their 
carbon emissions. Relevant contract clauses have also been 
added to strengthen the Council’s position. Work to roll these 
out in all upcoming contracts e.g., Supported Living and 
Home Care contracts, Transport contract 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S03 

Identify departments who procure goods and services with 
the highest carbon impact and prioritise supporting the 
procurement approach in upcoming contracts 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S04 

Request all contracted suppliers complete carbon footprint 
tool annually, and support them to do so by developing 
training 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S05 

Support smaller suppliers to use the carbon footprint tool to 
take them along with RCTCBC on the decarbonisation 
journey 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

T
udalen 98



 

55 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

S06 

Specify low carbon travel/vehicles for those contracts where 
transport is a large contributor e.g., delivery services, 
transport services (Stagecoach etc), social care services, 
school transport 

25% of transport services will be net zero by 2030. 
Reduce spend on Postal Services (£88k), Waste 
collection (£593k), Food and Beverage Serving 
(£4.2m), Motor Vehicles (£10.6m), Road Transport 
(£21.2m), Social Care (£76.3m) by 25% to show a 
decrease 

May cost an additional 10% 
in spend to procure EV 
services etc. if premium 
applied 

S07 

Establish ambitious energy efficiency standards, that go 
beyond the minimum mandatory Government Buying 
Standards, when purchasing white goods, appliances and 
ICT equipment and share with all staff across the council 

Reduced operating emissions from products, leading 
to reduced footprint of 3%. Reduce spend by 3% 

May cost an additional 3% in 
spend to procure more 
energy efficient products if 
premium applied 

S08 

Increase the number of climate friendly meal options offered 
by the Council in our schools, care homes, offices and 
offered by our community meals service from a baseline that 
will be established in 2022/23. 

Reduced emissions from food by 2025, (shown in the 
model by a 25% reduction in food cost £4.2m) 

May reduce costs by 5% if 
purchasing less meat, dairy 
etc. 

S09 

Using WRAP guidelines for measuring emissions from food 
and drink, calculate an accurate carbon footprint for food 
provided by the Council using higher resolution specific 
emissions factors. Establish priorities for reducing the carbon 
footprint and environmental impact of food options. 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S10 

When demolishing or refurbishing sites, look to establish a 
holding centre to store reusable materials. Use repurposed 
building materials from major projects e.g. timber. 

Reducing emissions from construction by 2025 
(shown in the model by reducing spend £66.6m by 
5%) 

Reduce spend on 
construction by 5% as 
reusing existing materials 

S11 By 2026, 50% of our suppliers will be net zero certified 

Reducing emissions by 2026 from all spend not 
included in travel-related spend (£102,915k) by 50% 

Could increase costs by 10% 

S12 
Understand the carbon impact of all major purchasing 
decisions 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S13 
Score tender responses based on suppliers’ carbon footprints 
and reduction plans 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

S14 
Accurately measure the carbon footprint of all purchased 
goods and services 

No associated/quantifiable saving   

  

T
udalen 99



 

56 

Land Use 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

L01 
Understand the sequestration potential of land in our 
ownership 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L02 

Identify an accurate baseline of RCT woodland cover to 
inform future management by 
- Producing a whole RCT woodland cover map by 2024, 
including identification of all Council-owned woodland 
- Identifying the rate of natural woodland regeneration on 
Council-owned woodland sites over 10 hectares in size  

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L03 
By 2025, set a target for sustainably increasing woodland 
cover through The Natural Tree Regeneration Project  

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L04 
Draft Tree Strategy and Policy consultation to be reviewed, 
improved, approved, and then implemented into a working 
document  

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L05 

Work with partners to map and review Council-owned land to 
produce a long-term plan to optimise diverse land 
management, including identifying sites for natural woodland 
regeneration, sites suitable for food production, sites for 
peatland restoration, and sites where tree planting is 
appropriate. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L06 
Put climate change at the centre of our Local Development 
Plan, which is currently being renewed. This includes 
protecting RCT uplands, important habitats and peatbogs. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L07 

Encourage community gardening programmes, growing food 
locally and the potential for recruiting adults with complex 
needs to work in the community gardens and paying them a 
fair wage. Explore the suitability of parks and other Council 
land to support this. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L08 Maximise carbon sequestration across Council-owned land No associated/quantifiable saving  

L09 
Rewet and appropriately manage peatbogs in Council 
ownership to restore biodiversity and maximise carbon 
sequestration. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T
udalen 100



 

57 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

L10 

Where appropriate, use planning conditions to deliver habitat 
protection and restoration as part of new developments. 
Engage developers through Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for environmentally friendlier design, which 
incorporates and enhances the natural features existing on 
greenfield sites.  

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L11 
Encourage new and better management of S106 sites with 
long term management goals in mind, protecting existing 
trees, hedges and green spaces 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L12 
Contribute to the Queen's Green Canopy initiative and the 
National Forest for Wales through sustainable tree planting 
by investing £200,000 per annum until 2029 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

L13 
Attract private sector investment to increase areas of 
woodland regeneration and creation, ensuring that we protect 
and store carbon and reduce the risk of flooding 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

 

Renewables 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

R01 
Increase local renewable energy generated from Council land 
or buildings from 2021/22 baseline (2MW) to 20MW by 2025. 

Includes totals from building integrated (roof mounted 
PV in B7) 

 

R02 
Install solar schemes: 
- 200kw solar scheme at Bryn Pica 
- Land-based solar array 

200kWp solar for Bryn Pica (covered in B10)  
Land based solar (in progress) 5MW  
Another land based Solar 5MW 

 

R03 
Install wind schemes: 
- wind turbines 

Potential for: 
Wind farm 6MW 

  

R04 

Explore community cooperative energy projects to provide 
inexpensive, green energy for residents and businesses to 
purchase, including energy for electric vehicle recharging on 
publicly owned land. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

R05 

Explore potential options to utilise existing energy sources 
including: 
- Geothermal energy from abandoned coal mines 
- Hydro electric projects 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

T
udalen 101



 

58 

Ref Action Carbon saving assumptions Cost assumptions 

R06 

Use public sector land for green energy generation (solar, 
wind and hydro). Progress wind, hydro and solar energy 
schemes to reduce the cost of meeting our energy needs and 
generate income, whilst reducing our carbon footprint. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

R07 

Work with partners including a local health board, Natural 
Resources Wales, and neighbouring authorities to maximise 
the collective resources to generate green energy across the 
region. 

No associated/quantifiable saving  

 

 

 

T
udalen 102



 

59 

Appendix 4: Alignment with Think Climate strategy 

The table below indicates how this report aligns with, and builds on, RCTCBC’s Think Climate Strategy: Making Rhondda Cynon Taf Carbon Neutral by 2030. 

The actions in the table below have been inspired by, or drawn directly from, the Climate Strategy. These actions are highlighted in this report with an asterisk. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Buildings Transport Supply chain Land use Renewables 

Action 

Page in 

Climate 

Strategy 

Action 

Page in 

Climate 

Strategy 

Action 

Page in 

Climate 

Strategy 

Action 

Page in 

Climate 

Strategy 

Actio

n 

Page in Climate 

Strategy 

B2 page 5 T1 page 9 S1 page 5 L1 page 5 R1 page 7 

B3 page 5 T2 page 5 S9 page 17 L2 page 10 R3 page 7 

B6 page 5 T5 page 9   L3 page 10 R4 page 7 

B7 page 5     L5 page 10   

B10 page 8     L7 page 11   

B11 page 16         

T
udalen 103



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

carbontrust.com 

+44 (0) 20 7170 7000 

 

Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its agents, 

contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or omissions. Any 

trademarks, service marks or logos used in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust. Nothing in this publication shall be 

construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, service marks, logos, copyright or any proprietary information in any way 

without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual property rights to the full extent permitted by law.  

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under Company number 04190230 with its Registered Office at: 

Level 5, Arbor, 255 Blackfriars Road, London SE1 9AX, UK. 

© The Carbon Trust 2023. All rights reserved.  

Published in the UK: 2023. 

T
udalen 104



 
 

  

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE 

23rd MARCH 2023 

HYDRO ELECTRIC GENERATION IN RCT 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE ESTATES IN DISCUSSION 

WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CLIMATE CHANGE & CORPORATE 

SERVICES 

 
Author(s):  Anthony Roberts, Head of Energy & Carbon Reduction, and  

Jon Arroyo, Energy & Carbon Reduction Manager.  

 

 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1. The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of an updated viability 
report, completed by a specialist company, for the development of small-scale 
hydroelectric power schemes within the boundaries of the County Borough of 
Rhondda Cynon Taff. The historical, wide-ranging, report has recently been 
the subject of an internal review.  

 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

                         It is recommended that Members:  
 

2.1. Note the contents of this report as part of the works agenda of the Climate 
Change Cabinet Sub-Committee.  
 

2.2. Agree further expenditure in the development of the proposals, as detailed in 
sections 6 and 11, to undertake further survey works and feasibility studies, to 
assess full potential and develop further project proposals.  
 

2.3. Receive further periodic updates on the progress of the proposals, either 
collectively, or on a ‘case by case’ basis.  

  

Tudalen 105

Agendwm 5



 

 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 To advance proposals for the development of potential small-scale 
hydroelectric schemes across 30 selected sites in Rhondda Cynon Taff, as 
instigated at a previous CCC Steering Group meeting.  

 

3.2 Agreeing to advance with a selection of the most beneficial schemes and 
progress to the next stage, involving more ‘in-depth’ feasibility studies.  

 

3.3 The schemes, if deemed viable, will have the potential to make a positive 
contribution towards the Council’s efforts to increase its renewable energy 
generation and in contribution towards achieving our carbon reduction targets. 

 
 
 

4. BACKGROUND 
 

4.1 In RCT’s Corporate Plan 2020-24, ‘Making A Difference’, the Council 
acknowledged that delivering on our Climate Change commitment is our 
greatest challenge. In our plan we committed to delivering priorities, all of 
which will contribute to and benefit from tackling climate change. 

 

4.2 Officers have previously reported on the ongoing work to investigate the 
potential for the development of renewable energy utilising hydroelectric 
power. These are projects which would be developed by the Council and as 
such would both contribute to the increase in the renewable energy provision 
and carbon reduction in the area, thus contributing positively to the Climate 
Change Agenda. 

 

4.3 To achieve the target of net zero, the Council must invest in the development 
of clean energy generation projects that enable the Council to decarbonize 
its assets across the estate. In the development of carbon neutral building 
energy models, solutions may be duplicated across the estate, to form part 
of the Net Zero strategy. With grid constraints becoming an issue across the 
region, the generation of renewable energy such as hydro will assist, 
introducing potential innovation opportunities across the County Borough.  

 

4.4 The reliable availability of water and the 24 hour a day generation of a 
hydroelectric generator means that the energy output, and therefore financial 
return of a hydroelectric system, can prove higher than other technologies. 
However, it should be noted that such schemes present a significant 
challenge in development, and this is the first step on that journey.  

 

4.5 In 2012, the Council engaged with TGV Hydro, a specialist company 
recommended by the Welsh Government Energy Service (WGES), to 
identify and assess potential sites across Rhondda Cynon Taf for the 
development of small-scale hydroelectric power schemes. In total, the 
feasibility study assessed 67 potential locations, proposing 30 of these sites 
be taken forward for further consideration and assessment. However, an 
executive decision was taken not to proceed any further, at that time.  

 

 

Tudalen 106



 
5. CURRENT SITUATION 

 

5.1 The above mentioned historical study consisted of an overview and viability 
report which was an initial appraisal of the hydropower potential at each of the 
30 recommended sites. The report consists of an estimate of the probable 
flow and head for the potential schemes, the likely energy generation 
capacity, and an estimate of construction costs based on experience of similar 
sites.  

 

5.2 The 30 potentially viable hydroelectric scheme sites are put forward in the 
updated report, accompanied by site description, power analysis and high 
level indicative costs.  Each of these 30 schemes had been previously 
recommended for further detailed study, in which more accurate data can be 
gathered, on site, and from other necessary data sources (e.g. NRW).  

 

5.3 Officers have updated the format of the original report (as included in Appendix 

‘A’) and the updated report outlines a first indication of each site’s potential 
viability, albeit as part of a desktop survey, using historic data only. 

 

5.4 Officers are in the process of engaging with specialist companies and the 
Welsh Government Energy Service (WGES) to further assess sites that are 
considered ‘best placed’ to take forward to the next stage.  

 

5.5 The assessment criteria for selection of suitable sites are varied, including 
consideration of adjacent land ownership issues, etc., plus the essential ability 
to match potential generating capacity, with local private wire opportunities, 
that can feed into compatible Council owned buildings or sites. 

 
 
6. LOOKING FORWARD 

 

6.1 The internal, updated viability report (Appendix ‘A’) outlines first indications of 
each site’s potential, however, the next step is to select the sites considered 
to look most beneficial and then to take these proposals forward for further 
full feasibility studies. This would include a site visit and further research into 
factors which may affect the ecological impact, geology, construction 
methodology and costs which are not apparent from the initial desk-based 
viability report.  

 

6.2 Further investigation and appraisal will be needed to determine the best 
option for use of the energy generated, including an assessment into the 
viability of possible private wire arrangements within the vicinity of the 
proposed sites. Alternatively, an export arrangement to the National Grid, or 
a combination of both, will also be considered. The potential for private wire 
agreements, to help in decarbonising the Council’s estate, will be a major 
consideration when selecting which schemes to take forward to the next stage 
for further feasibility studies. 

 

6.3 At this stage, Officers have been successful in identifying three sites that this 
report can recommend taking forward into a full feasibility study. From the 
information currently available, these are sites considered to offer the best 
investment opportunities and potential carbon savings to the estate, however 
a full technical evaluation will need to be determined, as part of this further 
assessment process. The selected sites are located at Rhydyfelin, Cwm Parc 
and Nant Cae-dudwg, and have the potential to decarbonise several buildings 
within the estate, including several schools and a theatre (refer to Appendix ‘B’ 

for further information).  
 

Tudalen 107



 

6.4 With regard to the remaining 27 sites, further work will be required to confirm 
and update the original conclusions put forward in the previous viability report, 
which will be reassessed in the context of the revised criteria referred to 
above. It is proposed that the Council engage the services of a specialist 
company to further assess the updated internal report, for all remaining sites, 
and then advise on the ‘most beneficial’ schemes, to take forward for more 
detailed feasibility and outline design studies.  

 

6.5 Upon completion the Council would then retain an essential ‘priority list’ of 
potential hydro-electricity projects, across the County Borough. Information 
on associated ‘viable’ opportunities having the potential to help decarbonise 
the RCT Estate, would also be included in the wider study.  

 

6.6 Following completion of 6.4 & 6.5 above, it is proposed that the next step 
would be to select a small percentage of sites to be taken to the next feasibility 
stage, however this decision will largely depend on the findings of the wider 
study, when known, and will be the subject of a later update report.  

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC 

DUTY 

This supporting report is for the purpose of update and consequently and an 
Equality Impact Assessment is not required in regard to this report. 

 
 
8. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 

This supporting report is for the purpose of update and consequently a Welsh 
Language Impact Assessment is not required with regard to this report, 
however a copy can be made available in Welsh if requested. 

 
 
9. CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

This supporting report is for the purpose of update only, however if the potential 
as described herein is realised, the outcomes will make a positive contribution 
towards tackling climate change, in helping to decarbonise the Council’s 
Estate. 

 
 
10. CONSULTATION 

There are no consultation requirements at present with regards to this 
supporting report. However, should any proposals proceed forward, 
appropriate consultations will take place as part of the necessary planning 
approval process, at the appropriate time.  

 
 
11. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 

11.1. It is estimated that the cost of taking the three selected sites, to the next stage 
of assessment (as referred to in item 6.3 above), will be in the region of £15,000, 
and this can be funded from existing budgets, under the dedicated cost centre 
set aside for the development of Carbon Reduction Projects.  

 

11.2. A wider feasibility study (as referred to in item 6.4 above), covering the 27 
remaining sites, it is estimated will cost in the region of £25,000, and it is 
anticipated that this can also be funded from within existing budgets.  

Tudalen 108



 
 

12. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) regulates many aspects of environmental 
protection and is particularly involved in the protection of inland waters, 
however contact will only be made to obtaining further data, at this stage of 
the process. 

 
 

13. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 
WELL- BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 

 

All actions that may arise resulting from the recommendations of the Climate 
Change Cabinet Steering Group report, will take full regard to the seven 
National Wellbeing Goals.  

 

 
14. CONCLUSION 

 

This report provides an overview of potential small-scale hydropower schemes 
across Rhondda Cynon Taff. It is recommended that the Climate Change 
Cabinet Sub-Committee approve the necessary funding to enable the Council 
to appoint industry specialists, to assist Officers in moving forward with 
additional investigations required to develop proposals towards future viable 
projects.  

 
 
 
 

Contact Officers:    Anthony Roberts  01443 281146    

     Jon Arroyo  01443 281186 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A  
 
 

Hydro Electric Viability Overview Report.   

 
 
 
 

Appendix B  
 
 

Summary of Suggested Micro Hydro Electric Schemes to Take Forward for 
Feasibility Studies   
 
 
Both to follow on the next page. 
 

Tudalen 109



Tudalen wag



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CORPORATE ESTATES 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX ‘A’ 

Hydro Electric Viability  
‘Overview Report’  

 
Author:  Jon Arroyo 

Energy & Carbon Reduction Manager 

 

1 

Tudalen 111



Executive Summary  
In 2017, the Welsh Government set a target to all Public Bodies across Wales to achieve carbon 

neutral status by 2030. In contribution to this aim, the Welsh Government has committed a target 

to generate 1 Gigawatt of locally owned renewable electricity and heat capacity in Wales by 2030.  

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council recognises that it has an important role to play in 

supporting the increased scale up on renewable energy generation across the County Borough. 

As such, the Council are making every effort to increase its portfolio of renewable energy 

generation in contribution towards reduced energy consumption, carbon emissions, and the 

Welsh Government’s 2030 Net Zero target. 

In 2012, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council engaged with The Green Valleys Hydro 

(TGV) to identify and assess potential sites across Rhondda Cynon Taf for the development of 

small-scale hydroelectric power schemes. In total, the feasibility study assessed 67 potentially 

viable hydro scheme opportunities, proposing 30 of these sites for consideration and further 

assessment.  

The 30 viable hydroelectric scheme sites are presented in depth throughout this report, 

accompanied by site description, power analysis and indicative costs.  Each of these 30 schemes 

have been recommended for a detailed feasibility study in which more accurate data can be 

gathered on site.  All the sites that have been recommended for more detailed feasibility have 

payback periods of less than 9 years. The hydropower resource generated across these schemes 

would support a range of project sizes, with private wire potential to Council buildings, providing 

community and Council benefit.  

With the declaration of a Climate Emergency by the Welsh Government and the target to 

decarbonise the Council’s estate to Net Zero by 2030, there is now an increased need to revisit 

the assessment of the proposed schemes and conduct further feasibility, on the schemes most 

favourable, in aim of increasing the Council’s renewable energy generation.   

It is the Council’s ambition to maximise the roll out of renewable generation across the County 

Borough, bringing benefit to community groups and residents. Following assessment of the sites 

set out within this report and the progression of the most feasible sites to in depth feasibility, the 

remainder of the schemes can be adopted by the community for their assessment and 

implementation where suitable.  

 

Methodology 
The topographic and flow characteristics of all major streams within the area of interest have 

been analyse against their payback periods. For planning purposes, it is considered that where 

required, three phase supply is available reasonably close to the required connection point. The 

Tudalen 112



costs of bringing a three-phase supply over a large distance into rural areas can often be 

prohibitive. In urban areas a three-phase supply is more readily available. 

 

A Viability Report has been created for the sites with most potential which includes an estimate 

of the probable flow and head for the scheme, the likely energy generation capacity, and an 

estimate of construction costs based on our experience of similar sites.  

 

The construction cost of each site detailed in this report has been estimated by TGV Hydro based 

on similar schemes. It includes all equipment and construction costs, the grid connection, and 

the commissioning of the schemes. The price also includes estimated external costs of ecological 

surveys that may be necessary for obtaining the permissions and licences and the cost of 

transformer upgrades that Western Power may require. The costs detailed in the appendices 

have VAT included at a rate of 20%. Should a project go ahead at a domestic scale then VAT would 

be charged at 5%. 

 

This report outlines a first indication of each site’s potential. To better determine a sites potential 

a full Feasibility would be required. This would include a site visit and research into factors which 

may affect the ecological impact, geology, construction methodology and costs which were not 

apparent from our initial desk-based exercise.  

 

The next process is for the Client to review the information to identify those sites which they may 

consider taking forward for further investigation. 

 

Areas Covered 

The study focusses on the area of the Rhondda Cynon Taff with the reports presented in localised 

geographic areas. These are: 

 

• North West Area: Hirwaun and surrounding area 

• North East Area: Foothills of the Brecon Beacons and surrounding area 

• Central West Area: Treherbert, Treorcy , Tonypandy and surrounding area 

• Central East Area: St Gwynno Forest, Abercynon and surrounding area 

• South West Area: Tonyrefail and surrounding area 

• South East Area: Pontypridd and surrounding area 

 

The sites examined from each search area are set out below.  

 

Key for All Maps:  

• Viable hydro sites catchments are coloured blue. 

• Each schemes pipeline is coloured green. 

• Pink line denotes the RCT area boundary 

Tudalen 113



Each of the 30 most promising schemes have a site map included in the viability report summary found in 

the appendices.  

Summary of Findings 
Models have been used to predict the flow and power production potential at each site to estimate 

payback intervals. The longest expected payback interval for each system is presented below. Similarly, 

the construction cost estimations presented are for the greatest expected construction cost at the time 

of the report in 2012 which includes a 10% contingency but does not include VAT. Full details of the range 

of expected costs and benefits for the most promising 30 sites are outlined in each individual report in the 

appendix.   

 

Table 1 summarises the findings from the 30 most viable hydro sites in the area. The smallest viable site 

identified in this exercise has the potential to generate in the region of £12,000 p.a. whilst the largest 

could potentially generate in excess of £103,000 p.a. Construction costs for developing each site range 

from £66,000 to £622,000.  The estimated ‘gross payback’ of each site varies from less than 4 years to 

slightly over 9 years.  
Table 1 The most viable hydroelectric schemes in RCT area. 

SITE NAME TGV Ref 
PEAK 
POWER 
(kW) 

ANNUAL kWh 
REVENUE 
P.A. (£)* 

APPROX 
CONSTRUCTION 
COST (£)**  

APPROX PAYBACK 
YRS*** 

Afon Rhondda 
Fach 

TGV12/003AA 83.2 502,061 81,117 622,221 6.9 

Cwmaman TGV12/003AC 26.3 99,435 20,128 120,018 5.4 

Coed Cae  TGV12/003AE 22.9 90,011 18,211 98,432 4.9 

Cwmpennar TGV12/003AI 14.0 54,170 12,072 66,261 4.11 

Ton Pentre TGV12/0063AJ 30.9 121,606 24,616 123,777 4.6 

Pistyll-goleu TGV12/003AL 48.4 198,150 40,111 349,508 7.7 

Ynysybwl 1 TGV12/003AP 30.0 139,112 28,160 162,710 5.2 

Nant Cae-dudwg TGV12/003AT 47.6 190,398 38,542 236,212 5.5 

Clydach Vale TGV12/003AU 26.7 103,793 21,011 105,760 4.6 

Trehafod TGV12/003BC 16.4 70,462 15,361 69,170 4.2 

Rhiw-yr-uchain TGV12/003BD 13.9 56,327 12,553 79,230 5.7 

Thomastown TGV12/003BG 22.4 88,794 17,974 116,330 5.9 

Ty-draw TGV12/003BH 13.4 54,213 12,082 112,639 8.1 

Graig TGV12/003BI 30.0 132,637 26,849 231,452 7.6 

Rhydyfelin TGV12/003BJ 24.3 95,818 19,396 105,424 4.10 

Ty Rhiw TGV12/003BQ 14.0 58,422 13,020 102,364 6.11 

Nant-moel 
Reservoir 

TGV12/003F 23.6 83,199 16,842 145,195 7.6 

Llwydcoed TGV12/003G 20.6 74,279 15,036 130,327 7.6 

Pont Walby TGV12/003I 50.5 174,778 35,380 243,776 6.1 

Rhigos TGV12/003J 13.7 55,805 12,437 133,165 9.2 

Tudalen 114



SITE NAME TGV Ref 
PEAK 
POWER 
(kW) 

ANNUAL kWh 
REVENUE 
P.A. (£)* 

APPROX 
CONSTRUCTION 
COST (£)**  

APPROX PAYBACK 
YRS*** 

Mynydd Cefn y 
Gyngon 

TGV12/003K 25.5 100,381 20,320 100,685 4.5 

Llwyn-helyg TGV12/003L 14.8 56,859 12,672 79,111 5.6 

Blaenrhondda 1 TGV12/003Q 99.4 513,409 103,929 382,119 3.4 

Blaenrhondda 2 TGV12/003R 55.2 215,887 43,702 183,170 3.9 

Bleanrhondda 3 TGV12/003S 25.8 100,203 20,284 92,605 4.1 

Bleanrhondda 4 TGV12/003T 29.7 123,510 25,002 102,786 3.9 

Cwm Selsig TGV12/003U 56.0 217,760 44,081 214,626 4.4 

Tynewydd TGV12/003W 29.8 121,401 24,575 128,018 4.8 

Cwm Saerbren TGV12/003X 24.5 96,627 19,560 100,805 4.7 

Cwmparc TGV12/003Z 54.4 257,170 52,059 348,977 5.11 

*Before tax and other deductions  
**Costs do not include VAT 
*** Payback calculation includes an annual incremental increase in the price for electricity export, the FIT rate and domestic bill savings. 

 

Revenue Rates and Technology Comparisons  
The estimated annual revenue for a scheme will not be the same as the estimated profit. The following 

are typical considerations that may have an impact on profit margins, and these have not been included 

in table 1 above: 

• General expenses such as maintenance, equipment replacement and insurance. 

• Tax liabilities, interest payments on loans. 

• Some of these sites may involve using multiple landowners to enable grid connection. These 
subsidiary landowners may require a payment before granting the required Deed of Easement.  

• Potential planning obligations through a Section 106 agreement to ensure that some of the 
scheme revenue is diverted into ecological improvements.  

 

The income calculations assume that the schemes will be eligible for the Feed-in Tariff from the UK 

Government. This support is paid to renewable energy producers in various amounts according to type of 

technology and the power produced. The core FITS tariff is based on the total number of kWh’s that are 

generated.  In addition, all exported electricity will benefit from an addition export fee.  Many renewable 

energy producers look to maximise the use of their generated electricity on site to offset electricity that 

they use to buy in. Any excess electricity is then exported to the national grid.  

 

The FITS generation tariff varies for each technology and with the size of scheme. The rates are index 

linked against the retail price index (increase applied each April).  The unit rate that excess electricity is 

sold can be negotiated with the electricity companies.  FITS guarantees a minimum rate (£0.031 per kWh 

at the time of reporting) the electricity companies must pay.  This again is index linked rising every April. 

 

Tudalen 115



Currently from the moment of commissioning FITS payments are guaranteed for 20 years for Hydropower 

generation. The overall FITS mechanism is regularly reviewed and the terms and conditions for new 

schemes could change.  

 

The reliable availability of water and the 24 hour a day generation of a hydroelectric generator means 

that the energy output and therefore financial return of the hydroelectric system are higher than other 

technologies. Table 3 compares 11kw installations for different technologies. These figures reflect the fact 

that hydro power can be generated 24 hours a day (unlike PV) and that although there are seasonal 

fluctuations in flow there is a more consistent generating output than from wind. 
 

Table 2 FITS rates for different technologies. 

Technology Scale FIT Rate/KWH 

Hydro < 15kW 20.9p* 

Hydro 15-100kW 18.7p* 

Hydro 100KW-2 MW 11.0p* 

Wind 1.5-15kW 28.0p* 

Wind 15-100kW 25.3p* 

Solar PV 4-10 kW 37.8p** 

Solar PV 10-100 kW 32.9p** 

 

*Rates to be reviewed in April 2012 for all new schemes 

**For schemes commissioned before 12th December 2011. 

Table 3 Comparison of returns for 11kW systems of different technologies taking into account seasonal variations and daily 
fluctuations. 

Technology  
System 

size 
FIT Rate/KWH Annual Return 

Wind (Avg. 7m/s)  11kW 28.0p  £6,995  

Hydro  11kW  20.9p  £12,055  

Solar PV  11kW  32.9p  £2,895  

 

  

Tudalen 116



 

IMPORTANT NOTE:   

The FiT rates referred to herein, and which 

were in force at the time of the original 

report, are no longer applicable.  

The FiT scheme, as referred to in the original 

report, was discontinued by the UK 

Government since 2019.   

A replacement scheme has now been 

introduced in 2022. 

The new scheme goes under the title of 

‘SMART Export Guarantee’. 

It should also be noted that the rates in the 

new scheme will vary considerably from 

those used to assess finances in the original 

study, and this will be fully considered in any 

subsequent feasibility studies. 

  

Tudalen 117



Sites Recommended for Full Feasibility Study 
There is significant potential for the development of micro hydro installations across the RCT area with 30 

sites recommended for further investigations. In order for the 30 recommended schemes to be accurately 

costed and assessed a further detailed onsite feasibility study is essential. 

Taking the Projects Forward  
A typical hydro project should take about 12 -18 months from conception to implementation. The main 

stages will be the Feasibility Study, Design and Permission, and Construction. 

(1) Feasibility Report  
Any feasibility study commissioned for a prospective installation would include details of:  

 

• Geographical analysis – discussing the catchment area of the proposed installation as well as the 

particulars of the local geography and topography on site. This analysis should enable the 

description of the Abstraction regime required for the proposed system design.  

• Civil works – A description of any required preparation of site, the intake structure, the forebay 

tank, turbine house and any discharge infrastructure needed.  

• Turbine and generating equipment – A description of the generating equipment explaining its 

suitability to the proposed installation  

• Grid connection - details of the proposed grid connection location and technique demonstrating 

that the connection will be sufficient to deal with the generation capabilities of the proposed 

system.  

• Energy resource and projected income - Although it is unrealistic to expect the feasibility study to 

accurately predict rainfall levels in the coming years, an educated estimate of annual income 

based on catchment area analysis and system design.  

• Full detailed costing of the proposed installation - This should include parts and labour as well as 

the costs of any permission required for installation.  

• Other features – the feasibility study should highlight any anomalous features such as listed 

buildings, Nature reserves or SSSi’s including preserved trees that may possibly be affected by any 

installation. The Feasibility Study should also highlight any potential planning or environmental 

issues that may stand in the way of a proposed installation.  

 

(2) Design and Permissions 
Assuming that the feasibility study has highlighted no barriers standing in the way of the proposed 

installation it will be necessary to approach the local planning authority and the Natural Resources 

Wales for formal permissions for the installation.  

 

i. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
An abstraction licence is needed for permission to remove the water from the river or stream. Although 

with hydroelectric the water is going to be returned to the same stream a little further down, it will still 

leave a section of river or stream with less water than it had before, known as the depleted reach. The 

reduced amount of water in the depleted reach can affect organisms including migratory fish, endangered 

Tudalen 118



indigenous crayfish, and mammals such as otters as well a range of lower plant species (mosses and 

bryophytes) that depend on the increased relative humidity of the habitat to survive and thrive.  

 

The abstraction licence gives permission to abstract water, to create a weir or dam and to discharge the 

water back into the waterway. The basic cost of the application is around £200 but there may be other 

associated costs including the advertising of the application and surveys as required by NRW . It is 

important to call NRW and discuss the proposal even before the feasibility study takes place in order to 

highlight any potential pitfalls or barriers in the way of development as soon as possible. The abstraction 

licence application is a complicated process with many required fields of data.  

 

ii. Local Planning Authority  
The local planning authority will have several key purposes in mind when considering any application, 

namely: 

• The appearance of the scheme, they will consider whether it is sympathetic to the local vernacular 

and landscape  

• Pollution with hydro electrics, any noise pollution resulting from an installation.  

• Disturbance to the local area during the construction of the installation, to residents and 

disruption to the local traffic  

• Preservation of any structures of historical importance in the area such as listed buildings or other 

archaeological features.  

 

 

Conclusion 
As an area of significant hydro potential, RCT has a unique opportunity to develop a substantial number 

of micro-hydro generation schemes. The initial studies have indicated that are over 30 viable schemes 

that could be developed to both reduce carbon emissions and earn a worthwhile return on investment by 

utilising the 20-year guaranteed and index linked Feed-in Tariffs. Any of the 30 recommended sites will 

require full feasibility reports completed to be considered for progressing to the next stage of the project.  

Tudalen 119



Appendix 

Site Identification Overview  
Table 4 North West: Hirwaun and surrounding area 

SITE NAME 
Map 
Ref. 

Peak 
Power 
(kW) 

Intake Grid 
Reference 

Site Description 

Pontneddfechan  H 7.2 SN 9101 0744 Pipe is trenched through open fields and includes one major road 
crossing although through an existing culvert. Turbine house is outside 

of the client’s identified area. Grid connection is assumed to be available 
in Pontneddfechan at an approximate distance of 50m from the turbine 

house.   

Pont Walby I 50.5 SN 9041 0552 Pipe is trenched adjacent to wooded corridor. Site is based on the 
border of the client’s identified area. 

Rhigos J 13.7 SN 9254 0410 Pipe follows contour before dropping to turbine house, potential flow 
anomalies surrounding local disused mines. 

Mynydd Cefn y 
Gyngon 

K 25.5 SN 9631 0290 Pipe is trenched across open fields, Grid connection is available within 
30m at a local property 

Llwyn-helyg L 14.8 SN 9778 0203 Pipeline is trenched alongside existing forestry track., Grid connect is 
available at local farm and camping 

Llwyn-helyg 2 M 1.8 SN 9862 0210 Pipeline is trenched alongside existing forestry track., Grid connect is 
available at local farm  

Llywn-helyg 3 N 10.3 SN 9934 0207 Pipeline is trenched through agricultural land, Grid connect is available 
at , or near, local school. 

Blaenrhondda 1 Q 99.4 SN 9197 0170 Difficult terrain including rocky outcrops and coniferous plantation. 
Lower stages could utilise forestry tracks. Significant export potential. 

Blaenrhondda 2 
R 55.2 SS 9180 9970 

Difficult penstock route through coniferous plantation. Local domestic 
connections available.   

Bleanrhondda 3 S 25.8 SS 9154 9924 Difficult penstock route through coniferous plantation. Local domestic 
connections available.   

Bleanrhondda 4 T 29.7 SS 9084 9879 Penstock route through coniferous plantation and agricultural land. 
Local domestic connections available.   

Tynewydd 
W 29.8 SS 9366 9990 Penstock through agricultural fields. Utilise existing culvert for export in 

Tynewydd. 

Cwmaman AC 26.3 SS 98331 
9956 

Pipe trenched in steep sided valley following forestry tracks, export at 
local property. 

Rhos-gwawr AD 6.9 SO 0061 0032 Small catchment and only medium head, export available at multiple 
local properties. 

Afon Rhondda 
Fach 

AA 83.2 SN 9505 0158 
Pipeline starts at outflow from existing reservoir, detailed reservoir flow 
data required and status of use. Pipe runs trackside through coniferous 

plantation. Maximum power will likely be limited to compensation flows 
of reservoir. 

Tudalen 120



 

 
Figure 1 Location of potential micro hydro sites in North West RCT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 121



Table 5 North East: Foothills of the Brecon Beacons and surrounding area 

SITE NAME 
Map 
Ref. 

Peak 
Power 
(kW) 

Intake Grid 
Reference 

Site Description 

Garwnant A 

 

30.0 
SN 9951 1327 

Pipe trenched along forestry track. This site has already been 
progressed by the landowner to seek an abstraction licence and 

planning permission. 

Penderyn C 

 

5.5 
SN 9585 0859 

Pipe trenched through open fields.  

Grid connection assumed to be available at Penderyn distillery 
adjacent to the turbine house. 

Gelli-ben-uchel D 
 

12.9 SN 9589 0752 
Pipe is trenched through open fields and deciduous woodland; grid 

connect available approximately 80m away at local property.  

Nant Hir 
Tributary 

E 

 

4.7 

 

SN 9739 0900 

Pipe is trenched through open fields of a moderate slope and some 
deciduous woodland. Export is available through a property 

approximately 50m away 

Nant-moel 
Reservoir 

F 

 

23.6 
SN 9797 0705 

Proposal to use excess water from reservoir. Utilise existing culvert 
with penstock through agricultural land. (NEW IMAGE NEEDED) 

Llwydcoed 
G 

 
20.6 

SN 9941 0629 
Small catchment, pipe trenched across pasture on moderate slope 

to export at a local property. 

Ffrwd Uchaf  IB 

 

9.6 
SO 0140 0883 

Pipe surface laid through coniferous plantation and trenched in 
open field. Grid connection is available approximately 60m away 

 

  

Figure 2 Location of potential micro hydro sites in North East RCT 

Tudalen 122



Table 6 Central West: Treherbert, Treochy, Tonypandy and surrounding area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SITE NAME 
Map 
Ref. 

Peak 
Power 
(kW) 

Intake Grid 
Reference 

Site Description 

Cwm Selsig U 56.0 SS 9132 9774 
Mixture of plantation and agricultural fields for penstock. Multiple 

export options in Blaen cwm. 3-phase connection would be 
preferable. 

Blaen cwm V 8.2 
 

SS 9198 9815 
Steep penstock laid through agricultural fields. Multiple export 

possibilities available through single phase connection. 

Cwm Saerbren X 
 

24.5 
 

SS 9325 9784 
Pipe surface through coniferous plantation exclusively. Multiple Grid 

connections available in Treherbert. 

Tyle Coch Y 8.0 SS 9448 9668 
Small catchment, high head. Pipe trenched in and alongside 

coniferous plantation with grid connection available at the local 
school. 

Cwmparc Z 54.4 SS 9382 9576 
Pipe laid through agricultural fields with multiple connection options 

throughout Cwmparc. 

Ton Pentre AJ 30.9 SS 9543 9500 
Entire pipe run trenched in open fields, follows contour before 

dropping to turbine house. Multiple export options. 

Ystrad AK 12.7 SS 9860 9611 
Small catchment high head. Pipe run is trenched alongside deciduous 

woodland corridor. Multiple export options. 

Clydach Vale AU 26.7 SS 9601 9307 
Medium catchment with high head, steep sided valley poses access 

issues for excavation machinery. Would be sited upstream of existing 
hydro scheme. 

Penrhys Isaf AV 7.2 ST 0115 9333 
Small catchment and high head allows for small diameter pipe 

available in rolls. Trenched through agricultural fields and multiple 
export options. 

Penygraig 1 AY 12.8 SS 9880 9163 
Small catchment on moderate slope, trenched through agricultural 

land. Export available through local school. 

Penygraig 2 AZ 4.3 SS 9935 9086 
Small catchment with pipe trenched on moderate slope through 

agricultural land. Multiple export options. 

Penrhiwfer BA 10.4 SS 9976 9018 
Moderate catchment and head. Penstock through agricultural fields. 

Export at local property 

Trehafod BB 9.1 ST 0339 9056 
Small catchment high head, pipe trenched in open field on moderate 

slope, export option available at local heritage centre. 

Tudalen 123



 

Figure 3 Location of potential micro hydro sites in Central West RCT 

 

Table 7 Central East: St Gwynno Forest, Abercynon and surrounding area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 124



SITE NAME Map 
Ref. 

Peak 
Power 
(kW) 

Intake Grid 
Reference 

Site Description 

Ffynnon-y-Gog O 8.3 SO 0357 0220 
Small catchment high head, pipe trenched across open field on 

moderate slope. Grid connection through adjacent property within 
50m. 

Coed Cae AE 22.9 ST 0113 9841 
Steep sided valley with a mix of coniferous plantation and agricultural 

land. Multiple export connection options.   

Abercwmboi 1 AF 3.0 ST 0249 9938 
Small and narrow catchment. Penstock through coniferous plantation. 

Multiple export options in Abercwmboi. 

Abercwmboi 2 AG 3.3  
ST 0263 9931 Small and narrow catchment. Penstock through coniferous plantation. 

Multiple export options in Abercwmboi. 

Abercwmboi 3 AH 8.6 ST 0287 9902 
Small catchment high head, pipe trenched in open field on moderate 

slope.  

Cwmpennar AI 14.0 SO 0541 0020 Pipe trenched through open field and surface laid through deciduous 
woodland. Will need to avoid cemetery. Export at local property. 

Pistyll-goleu AL 48.4 ST 0299 9663 Pipe trenched through coniferous forestry with potential to utilise 
existing reservoir structures. Flow data verification needed if reservoir 

is still active.  

Gelli Wrgan AM 12.5 ST 0348 9759 
Pipe surface laid through forestry and trenched across pasture. Export 

at nearby property approximately 80m.  

Gelli Wrgan 2 AN 11.2 ST 0414 9723 
Pipe length trenched across pasture, export at adjacent property 

approximately 50m. 

Ysysboeth AO 10.9 ST 0695 9581 
Small catchment high head. Pipe surface laid through forestry, export 

at local property.  

Ynysybwl 1 AP 30.0 ST 0450 9440 
Possibilities for penstock either through fields or woodland corridor.  

Multiple connection options. 

Ynsysbwl 2 AQ 5.1 ST 0514 9387 
Small catchment and high head allows for small diameter pipe 

available in rolls. Trenched penstock through fields. 

Carnetown AR 1.8 ST 0740 9415 
Small catchment with a surface laid penstock through coniferous 

plantation.  

 
Llys Nant 

 

 
AS 

 

14.0  
ST 0568 9310 

 

Medium catchment and moderate head.  Pipe trenched across 
pasture. Export at adjacent property. 

Nant Cae-dudwg 
 

AT 
 

47.6 ST 1088 9336 
Moderate catchment and head. Pipe trenched along contour of valley 

before rapid fall through pasture. Export at local property 
 

Wattstown AW 8.6 ST 0181 9454 
Medium catchment with a short pipe run trenched across pasture. 

Multiple options for connection to the grid.  

Ynyshir AX 2.5 ST 0289 9317 
A small scheme with penstock trenched through pasture. Multiple 

export options. 

Tudalen 125



 

 

Figure 4 Location of potential micro hydro sites in Central East RCT 

 

Trehafod BC 16.4 ST 0421 9201 
Small catchment with high head. A mixture of over-ground through 

woodland and trenched through pasture for the penstock route. Grid 
connection at local property. 

Rhiw-yr-uchain BD 13.9 ST 0553 9180 Small catchment with high head. A mixture of over-ground through 
woodland and trenched through pasture for the penstock route. Grid 

connection at local property. 

Tudalen 126



Table 8 South West: Tonyrefail and surrounding area 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SITE NAME 
Map 
Ref. 

Peak 
Power 
(kW) 

Intake Grid 
Reference 

Site Description 

Tynewydd BE 2.4 SS 9781 8712 
Small catchment with a long penstock. All works through pasture land 

with assumed export 100m from turbine location. 

 
Pen-yr-heol 

BF  
2.3 

ST 9771 8664 
Small catchment with a long penstock. All works through pasture land 
with assumed export 100m from turbine location. (Export could be the 

same property as scheme BE). 

Thomastown BG  
22.4 

SS 9936 8654 
Medium catchment with high head. Penstock trenched across pasture 

with multiple export options through adjacent properties. 

Llantrisant Forest BL 2.6 ST 0175 8475 
Small catchment and high head but limited availability for export to 

the Grid. Penstock would be surface laid in forestry. 

Mynydd 
Garthmaetwg 

BM 1.5 ST 0232 8441 Small catchment and high head but no suitable export point, pipe 
would be surface laid in forestry.  

Craig-melyn BN 3.3 ST 0186 8338 
Small catchment and high head, pipe surface laid in forestry although 

possibility of part trenching through pasture is available. Export 
through local property. 

Garth BO 3.6 ST 0237 8305 Small catchment with high head. Penstock trenched through 
agricultural fields. Export at local property. 

Figure 5 Location of potential micro hydro sites in South West RCT 

Tudalen 127



Table 9 South East: Pontypridd and surrounding area 

 

 

Figure 6 Location of potential micro hydro sites in South East RCT 

SITE NAME 
Map 
Ref. 

Peak 
Power 
(kW) 

Intake Grid 
Reference 

Site Description 

Ty-draw BH  
13.4 

ST 0465 8925 
Medium catchment and high head. One unclassified road crossing with 

penstock trenched through pasture. 1 of 2 potential systems on the same 
waterway.  

Graig BI 30.0 ST 0582 8864 
Large catchment with medium head. 2nd potential system on watercourse 

(BH). Most works assumed within wooded corridor.  

Rhydyfelin BJ 24.3 ST 1032 8906 
Medium catchment with high head. Penstock would be trenched in open 

field adjacent to wooded corridor. Multiple export options exist.   

Gelynog BK 8.3 ST 0524 8731 
Small catchment with a long pipe trenched across pasture and adjacent to 

wooded corridor. Export through adjacent property. 

Hendrescythan BP  
5.4 

ST 0905 8327 
Small catchment with moderate head. Penstock would be through a mix of 

coniferous and deciduous woodland. The proposed intake location is 
outside of RCT area.  

Ty Rhiw BQ 14.0 ST 1368 8472 Moderate catchment with high head. The penstock would be a mixture of 
trenching through pasture and laid through deciduous woodland.   

Tudalen 128



Hydro Electric Technology 

Hydroelectric plants work by converting the potential energy from water at height into electrical energy. 

This is achieved through water powering a turbine - using the rotational movement to transfer energy 

through a shaft to an electric generator.  

 

The two basic classifications of hydro electric generators are ‘High head’ and ‘Low head’. Head refers to 

the height from which the eater drops before reaching the turbine. Therefore ‘low head’ refers to mills 

and generators in large rivers with great volumes of water that meander through the lowland valleys. 

‘High head’ is used to describe those systems that use only a small amount of water but can use the water 

once it has dropped from a great height.  

 

To capture this potential energy in a controlled form, some or all of the water in a natural waterway can 

be diverted from a watercourse through an intake and into a pipe which will transport the water downhill. 

The pipe is smooth bored compared to the rough stream bed.  There is far less friction loss in the pipe and 

this saved friction is the energy that is used to drive the turbine.  In the turbine house at the bottom of 

the system the water can be directed in a focussed jet under pressure onto a turbine wheel. The rotation 

of the turbine and the generator, to which it is attached, convert the energy into electricity that can be 

exported to the national grid.  

Micro hydro is typically defined as the generation of electricity from a few hundred watts up to 100kW. 

 

Generation Calculation 
Hydro power is a mature and well-understood technology that offers many advantages over other 

renewable energy:  

 

• High efficiency and high power density  

• Long system lifetime (up to 50 years)  

• Predictable energy outputs  

• Excellent load factor characteristics  

 

The technologies required for generation differ from site to site according to various site characteristics 

and these are outlined below. The fundamental elements which make up the basic power generation 

equation are explained in below. However, there are several other factors which will reduce the actual 

power that can be generated at any site. There are multiple factors that reduce your potential energy 

during conversion. These include head loss in pipes, efficiency of turbines, loss in cables, and loss in 

inverters.  

 

In order to simplify the calculation at the planning stage of a hydroelectric installation, these efficiency 

losses are assumed to amount to 50% of the ideal calculation. 

 

Simple power calculations can then be calculated from the flowing variables: 

Tudalen 129



• Q (flow): this is the amount of water that can be abstracted from a given point in a stated period 
of time. It is usually measured in m³/s or l/s.  The abstraction limit if often limited to the annual 
mean flow of the river (see below for additional note on abstraction limits). 

• H (head): This is the vertical distanced that water drops from the source to the turbine. It is 
measured in meters, m.  

• Gravity constant: Also known as acceleration due to gravity, it is represented by the letter ‘g’ and 
for the purposes of this calculation can be regarded as a constant of  9.8m/s/s.  

• System efficiency:  Overall system efficiency. 

• Potential energy: The potential output of any site is usually expressed in Kilowatts (kW)  
 

The basic power of a system can be expressed by the equation:  

• Power (in kW) = Q (in m³/s) x H (in m) x g (in m/s/s) x Efficiency (as a fraction) 
 

Example: At the abstraction point a watercourse has an annual mean flow of 0.03m3/s.  The vertical 

height difference from the intake point to the turbine house is 100m.  Assume a 50% system efficiency.   

Hydro system potential in this case would be about 0.030 x 100 X 9.8 x 0.5 = 14.7 kW.  

In determining the limits of abstraction from a water course the Natural Resources Waleswill not allow 

any installation to abstract all of the water in a river or stream. The Natural Resources Waleshave 

regulations and standards to protect both the local flora and will place a restriction on the water that can 

be abstracted.  

 

Stream flows are usually measured in terms of Q% values.  A Q rate of Q75 represents the stream flow 

that is in the steam for at least 75% of the year.  In most cases the Natural Resources Waleswill set an 

initial amount of water that must remain in the water course at all times; this is known as the Hands-off 

Flow (HOF).  No abstraction can take place while the stream flow is less than the HOF.  The HOF is usually 

set between Q85 and Q95.   

 

The EA will then set the abstraction regime above the HOF.  Current guidance is that abstraction can be 

100% of flow above the HOF but only up to a limit equivalent to Qmean. 

 

Hydro scheme’s intake dam/weir designs and automatic flow regulators ensure that the agreed 

abstraction regime is maintained. 

 

Due to the seasonal variations in flow maximum abstraction will often only be achievable for 25% of any 

year. High head turbines maintain good efficiencies down to about 10% of their maximum design flow, 

because of this the seasonal flows mean that typical high head hydro scheme will not produce significant 

levels of power for about 20% of any year. 

 

Types of hydro technology 
There are several types of turbines that are used or have been used for hydroelectric generation each is 

adapted for conditions of flow or generation requirements. These are broadly split into two groups: 

Impulse turbines and Reaction turbines.  

 

Tudalen 130



Impulse turbines rely on the speed of the water, generated by the hydraulic head - to move the wheel 

and are commonly used for high head hydroelectric systems.  

 

Reaction turbines on the other hand rely on the weight of the water to move the wheel and are generally 

used for low head systems.  

 

This diagram can be used to choose the appropriate turbine type once the basic flow and head data is 

available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The most common turbine type used in high head hydropower installations is a Turgo or Pelton wheel. 

These maximise the kinetic energy transfer from the water to the wheel leaving the water drained of the 

kinetic energy, exiting the system very slowly. For full information and descriptions of these different 

turbine types please visit the British Hydro association website. The British hydro association has also 

published a useful guide to micro hydro.  

 

Tudalen 131



Tudalen wag



 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
 

23rd March 2023 
 
 

PROPOSED SOLAR FARM 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE ESTATES IN DISCUSSION 
WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CLIMATE CHANGE & CORPORATE 
SERVICES 
 
Author(s):  David Powell, Director of Corporate Estates,  and  

Anthony Roberts, Head of Energy & Carbon Reduction.  
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide a further update to Members with 
regards to the work underway in the development of a ‘Land Based 
Solar Farm’, to be located on Council owned land located at Coed Ely, 
on an 84-acre 'terraced' former colliery site, near Tonyrefail. The facility 
will, when constructed, be an asset owned by Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council.  

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 It is recommended that Members: 
 

2.1 Note the contents of this report as part of the ongoing work in response 
to our climate change ambitions and agree to the further progress of the 
project proposals, in line with the contents of this report.  
 

2.2 Receive further report(s) to provide updates on progress as/when 
deemed appropriate.  

 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 The contents of this report provide key information updates on the 
proposal where the Council has plans to build and finance a credible 
solar farm, that will make a vastly significant contribution to the Council’s 

Tudalen 133

Agendwm 6



  

ability to offset its Carbon Footprint, and towards achieving its Net Zero 
Carbon target.  

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 

4.1  Previous reports have described the ongoing work to investigate the 
potential of using RCT owned land for the development of major 
renewable energy projects for both wind and solar generation, including 
proposals developed with the assistance of the Welsh Government 
Energy Service (WGES). This project will be primarily developed by the 
Council and as such would both contribute to the increase in the 
renewable energy provision and carbon reduction/offsetting in the area, 
whilst also making a positive, long term, economic contribution to the 
financial situation of the Council, for the benefit of citizens.  

 

4.2 The project is described as a 6MW Solar Farm, comprising a 5MW array 
(at 33kV) connected to the National Grid, and also a 1MW array (at 
11kV) to be connected to a ‘public sector’ partner, via a private wire 
arrangement.  

 

4.3 The project has the potential to generate a long-term income for the 
Council, over and above the term cost of financing and/or operating the 
scheme and can provide a substantial financial benefit once the said 
term has passed. The project will also ‘offset’ around 55,000 tonnes of 
Carbon over the expected 35yr ‘minimum’ lifecycle of the project, as 
explained in more detail in section 8. 

 

4.4 Consent was granted by Cabinet, following the presentation of the 
previous reports in March and October 2022, to proceed with the 
proposals and permission was given to move plans forward, as 
described therein.  

 

4.5 In September 2022 the Council appointed a Project Manager to take the 
project through to the Planning, Detailed Design and Construction 
Stages, a process that also involved updating the project timeline and a 
review of the budget. These activities all took place during the third 
quarter of fy’2022/23, together with some other key project milestones, 
and we are now able to provide further details on, as described below. 

 
 
5. UPDATED PROJECT INFORMATION  
 

5.1 A specialist company were commissioned to produce an outline design 
of the solar farm, using innovative solar design techniques. The purpose 
of the exercise was to assess the extent of the available land that would 
be needed to achieve the stated output targets (referred to above) whilst 
considering the geography of the proposed site. The specialist company 
were also asked to produce a high-level cost profile of their proposals 
and to provide a detailed prediction of energy ‘yield’, both of which could 
then be used to inform future expenditure and income predictions.  

 

5.2 Following the receipt of this information, Officers were able to revise 
both the initial budget needed and programme/timeline for the project 

Tudalen 134



  

proposals. The information also enabled discussions to take place with 
specialist consultants to assess the requirements for taking the project 
to the next stage of development, and through the planning process.  

 

5.3 Following a brief consultation period, a tender process was undertaken, 
in conjunction with our Procurement colleagues, and a consultant was 
selected to help take the project forward through the Planning process. 
At the time of writing, the ‘Activity Schedule’ for the Project is currently 
in the process of being formulated, which will then allow Officers to 
update the project timeline.  

 

5.4 The project team is also currently collating information with a view to 
submitting a Pre-planning Application Consultation (PAC) in early 
summer of 2023. Following this it is anticipated that a planning 
application will be submitted, and if successful, it is expected that 
construction will be able to start during 2024.  

 

5.5 Officers and our lawyers are working on the conclusion to the Heads of 
Terms for the private wire connection arrangement and Power Purchase 
Agreement (or Offtake Contract) with a potential ‘public sector’ partner. 
The Council has signed a Non-Disclosure Agreement regarding this 
sensitive matter and so no further details regarding this aspect of the 
project can be made public. However, it is anticipated that the related 
‘private wire’ element of the Project will need to be completed during the 
Summer of 2024, to coincide with completion of the A4119 road scheme. 

 

5.6 Negotiations are ongoing with the local Farmer, who is a Tenant and 
has access to/over the land with grazing rights, regarding the future 
management of the land on which the solar farm is to be built. It is hoped 
that the Tenant will be able to make a positive contribution to the future 
running of the Council’s proposed asset.  

 

5.7 Both the development costs and the headline estimated figures for the 
capital cost of the project have now been updated (refer to section 10 
below) to take account of the latest project information and inflation 
since the previous initial budget proposals were compiled. However, it 
should also be noted that the current economic situation with the 
unstable economy, high inflation and volatile energy costs means that it 
is likely that regular updates and re-assessments will be needed.  

 

5.8 Periodic updates will be provided to Members during the progress of the 
project and further approval will be sought at each notable stage of 
development (also refer to 10.4 below). 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC 
 DUTY 
 

6.1 This supporting report is for the purpose of an update and consequently 
an Equality Impact Assessment is not required in regard to this report.  

 
 
7. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

Tudalen 135



  

7.1 This supporting report is for the purpose of an update and consequently 
Welsh Language Impact Assessment is not required with regard to this 
report, however a copy can be made available in Welsh if requested.  

 
8. CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 The intent of this report is in furthering the ambitions for the Council’s 
Climate Change Agenda. 

 

8.2 As previously reported, the project has the potential to ‘offset’ over 1,500 
tonnes of carbon per-annum and around 55,000 tonnes over the 
expected 35yr ‘minimum’ lifecycle of the project (figures calculated using 

currently published carbon conversion factors).  
 
 
9. CONSULTATION  / INVOLVEMENT 
 

9.1 There are no consultation requirements at present with regard to this 
supporting report.  

 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

10.1 Development costs for the project for the current financial year 2022/23 
are estimated to be within the region of £145k and these costs have 
been met from within existing budgets. 

 

10.2 There will be a need to allow for further development costs in fy’2023/24 
which are estimated to be in the region of £400k, also met from existing 
budgets. This figure also includes for planning application charges and 
SAB fees that will be payable to service areas within the Council. 

 

10.3  As mentioned in 5.7, the initial budget estimate for the full development 
and construction costs for the entire project have been reassessed, in 
the light of all the additional information we now have available and 
considering current market conditions, etc., the estimated budget now 
stands in the in the region of £8.5million, a figure that includes all 
identified development costs and allowance for the provision of the 
private wire installation.  

 

10.4 As stated in item 5.7 all costs will be subject to periodic review, and then 
reported on at each notable stage of development. It is anticipated that 
the project will be mainly funded by use of Prudential Borrowing, with 
the annual income from the energy generation being sufficient to cover 
the annual borrowing repayments and the ongoing annual costs and 
maintenance commitments of the asset. This is subject to a full project 
report and business case being presented to Cabinet and, if approval is 
then given, a further report to Council to obtain the Prudential Borrowing 
approval.  

 

10.5 It should be noted that despite the recent rises in the cost of borrowing, 
Officers are continuing to monitor the availability of grant funding to help 
with the cost of developing the Solar Farm. In support of this an 
application has recently been submitted for £75k worth of grant 

Tudalen 136



  

development funding towards the expenditure in the financial year 
2022/23 and if this endeavour is successful, it will result in covering over 
50% of the development costs for this financial year. 

 
10.6 It is hoped that the availability of grant funding in assisting the 

development of the project, together with the increased wholesale 
market prices in energy costs, will mean that the project model can show 
an increasingly favourable payback period. However, this situation will 
be fully advised when the final budget/income review is assessed, prior 
to submitting the business and funding case report.  

 
 
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 

11.1 There are no legal implications aligned to this report, at this stage.  
 
 
12. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 

12.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an interim update report relating 
to the work of the Climate Change Cabinet Sub Committee with regards 
to the work underway on the development of key renewable energy 
projects and certain other related issues. Any future actions that arise 
because of the recommendations of the Climate Change Cabinet Sub 
Committee report will be considered by the Council’s Cabinet and it will 
take full regard to the seven national wellbeing goals. 

 
 
13. CONCLUSION 
 

13.1 This report provides a key update on the proposals for a Solar Farm, 
which is one of the areas of work covered by the Climate Change 
Cabinet Sub-Committee. It provides an update on the proposal where 
the Council has plans to build and finance a credible land based solar 
farm, as previously reported in October 2022.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact Officers:    David Powell  01443 424144   and  
 

Anthony Roberts  01443 281146 

Tudalen 137



Tudalen wag


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion
	3 Cynllun Ymgysylltu â Newid Hinsawdd Rhondda Cynon Taf (2023-2025)
	3 Cynllun Ymgysylltu â Newid Hinsawdd Rhondda Cynon Taf (2023-2025)
	Atodiad 1

	4 Y Strategaeth Datgarboneiddio Gorfforaethol a'r Cynllun Gweithredu
	4 Y Strategaeth Datgarboneiddio Gorfforaethol a'r Cynllun Gweithredu
	Atodiad 1

	5 Cynhyrchu Trydan Dŵr yn Rhondda Cynon Taf
	5 Cynhyrchu Trydan Dŵr yn Rhondda Cynon Taf
	Atodiad a

	6 Fferm Solar Arfaethedig

